Economic Models and Mean-field Games Theory

Publicações Matemáticas

Economic Models and Mean-field Games Theory

Diogo A. Gomes KAUST

Levon Nurbekyan KAUST

Edgard A. Pimentel UFC

impa

30º Colóquio Brasileiro de Matemática

Copyright © 2015 by Diogo A. Gomes, Levon Nurbekyan e Edgard A. Pimentel

Impresso no Brasil / Printed in Brazil Capa: Noni Geiger / Sérgio R. Vaz

30º Colóquio Brasileiro de Matemática

- Aplicações Matemáticas em Engenharia de Produção Leonardo J. Lustosa e Fernanda M. P. Raupp
- Boltzmann-type Equations and their Applications Ricardo Alonso
- Dissipative Forces in Celestial Mechanics Sylvio Ferraz-Mello, Clodoaldo Grotta-Ragazzo e Lucas Ruiz dos Santos
- Economic Models and Mean-Field Games Theory Diogo A. Gomes, Levon Nurbekyan and Edgard A. Pimentel
- Generic Linear Recurrent Sequences and Related Topics Letterio Gatto
- Geração de Malhas por Refinamento de Delaunay Marcelo Siqueira, Afonso Paiva e Paulo Pagliosa
- Global and Local Aspects of Levi-flat Hypersurfaces Arturo Fernández Pérez e Jiří Lebl
- Introdução às Curvas Elípticas e Aplicações Parham Salehyan
- Métodos de Descida em Otimização Multiobjetivo B. F. Svaiter e L. M. Graña Drummond
- Modern Theory of Nonlinear Elliptic PDE Boyan Slavchev Sirakov
- Novel Regularization Methods for Ill-posed Problems in Hilbert and Banach Spaces Ismael R. Bleyer e Antonio Leitão
- Probabilistic and Statistical Tools for Modeling Time Series Paul Doukhan
- Tópicos da Teoria dos Jogos em Computação O. Lee, F. K. Miyazawa, R. C. S. Schouery e E. C. Xavier
- Topics in Spectral Theory Carlos Tomei

Distribuição: IMPA Estrada Dona Castorina, 110 22460-320 Rio de Janeiro, RJ E-mail: ddic@impa.br http://www.impa.br

ISBN: 978-85-244-0404-7

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	Mean-field games	3
	1.2	Mean-field games and economic theory	5
	1.3	Outline of the book	7
Ι	De	eterministic models	11
2	Firs	st-order mean-field games	13
	2.1	Deterministic optimal control problems	13
	2.2	Transport equation	20
	2.3	Reduced mean-field games	23
3	Son	ne simple economic models	27
	3.1	Economic models	27
		3.1.1 Agents and their states	27
		3.1.2 Dynamics and controls	28
		3.1.3 Preferences	29
		3.1.4 Equilibrium conditions	29
	3.2	Solow model with heterogeneous agents	30
		3.2.1 Free-market economy	31
		3.2.2 Planned economy	32
	3.3	The Aiyagari-Bewley-Huggett model: deterministic case	33
4	Eco	nomic growth and MFG - deterministic models	38
	4.1	A growth model with heterogeneous agents	39

	4.2	A growth model with a macroeconomic agent	42
	4.3	Economic growth in the presence of trade imbalances .	46
		4.3.1 Single economy with a trade imbalance and reg-	
		ulated prices	46
		4.3.2 Two countries economy with a trade imbalance	48
	4.4	Price impact in regulated markets	49
5	Mat	thematical analysis I - deterministic models	52
	5.1	A Verification Theorem	52
	5.2	Monotonicity and concavity	54
	5.3	Existence of optimal trajectories	58
	5.4	Optimal trajectories	63
	5.5	The Hamiltonian system and optimal trajectories	66
	5.6	N-agent approximation	72
II	\mathbf{S}^{\dagger}	tochastic models	75
6	Sec	ond order MFG	77
6	Sec 6.1	ond order MFG Hamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plank	77
6	Sec 6.1	ond order MFG Hamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plank equations	77 77
6	Sec 6.1	ond order MFG Hamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plank equations 6.1.1 Hamilton-Jacobi equation	77 77 77
6	Sec 6.1	ond order MFGHamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plankequations6.1.1Hamilton-Jacobi equation6.1.2Fokker-Planck equation	77 77 77 80
6	Sec 6.1 6.2	ond order MFG Hamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plank equations	77 77 77 80 81
6	Sec 6.1 6.2 6.3	ond order MFG Hamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plank equations	77 77 77 80 81 82
6	Sec 6.1 6.2 6.3	And order MFGHamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plankequations6.1.1Hamilton-Jacobi equation6.1.2Fokker-Planck equationSecond-order mean-field gamesThe non-linear adjoint method6.3.1The adjoint structure of the MFG systems	77 77 77 80 81 82 86
6 7	 Secc 6.1 6.2 6.3 Eco 	and order MFG Hamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plank equations	77 77 80 81 82 86 87
6	 Secc 6.1 6.2 6.3 Eco 7.1 	and order MFG Hamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plank equations	77 77 80 81 82 86 87 87
6	 Seco 6.1 6.2 6.3 Eco 7.1 7.2 	and order MFG Hamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plank equations	 77 77 77 80 81 82 86 87 87
6	 Seco 6.1 6.2 6.3 Eco 7.1 7.2 	and order MFG Hamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plank equations	 77 77 77 80 81 82 86 87 87 91
6 7 8	 Seco 6.1 6.2 6.3 Eco 7.1 7.2 Mat 	and order MFG Hamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plank equations 6.1.1 Hamilton-Jacobi equation 6.1.2 Fokker-Planck equation 6.1.2 Fokker-Planck equation Second-order mean-field games The non-linear adjoint method 6.3.1 The adjoint structure of the MFG systems 6.3.1 The adjoint structure of the MFG systems A stochastic growth and MFG - stochastic setting A stochastic growth model with heterogeneous agents A stochastic growth model with a macroeconomic agent macroeconomic agent	77 77 80 81 82 86 87 87 91 96
6 7 8	 Seco 6.1 6.2 6.3 Eco 7.1 7.2 Mat 8.1 	and order MFG Hamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plank equations	 77 77 77 80 81 82 86 87 87 91 96 97
6 7 8	 Seco 6.1 6.2 6.3 Eco 7.1 7.2 Mat 8.1 8.2 	and order MFG Hamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plank equations	77 77 80 81 82 86 87 87 91 91 96 97 98

9	Mea	an-field games with correlations	105
	9.1	Mean-field games with correlated noise	106
		9.1.1 General setup	106
		9.1.2 The master equation $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	107
	9.2	A growth model with systemic shocks $\hfill \ldots \hfill \ldots$.	108

1 Introduction

Mathematical methods are central in modern economic theory as they allow for testable models in a wide range of complex problems. A further advantage of the mathematical formalism is that it enables authors to formulate and solve models in a unified language. While not all economists agree that the behavior of agents can be reduced to a precise mathematical formulation, utility maximization principles and game-theoretical equilibria explain, at least partially, many economic phenomena.

The concept of competing agents is illustrated in the works of A. Cournot and L. Walras. Indeed, Walras, also known as the founder of the *École de Lausanne*, refers to Cournot in 1873, as the first author to seriously recur to the mathematical formalism in investigating economic problems. Cournot duopoly model is one of the earliest formulations of a non-cooperative game. This pioneering work sets up the foundation of contemporary game theory. Walras developed a first theory of a competitive market (general) equilibrium. W. S. Jevons and C. Menger are also well known for their influence on the presence of mathematical formalism in economics.

The mathematical formulation of economic problems has attracted the attention of notable mathematicians, including E. Borel and J. von Neumann. In the mid-20th century, in the paper [131], J. Nash developed a concept of equilibrium that is fundamental in modern game theory. The arguments in that paper rely on a fixed-point theorem, due to S, Kakutani. For his "contributions to the analysis of equilibria in the theory of non-cooperative games", J. Nash (together with C. Harsanyi and R. Selten) was awarded the Nobel Prize in Economics in 1994.

Another Nobel Prize Laureate, R. Aumann, introduced in 1964 the idea of an economy with a continuum of players, which are atomized in nature [14]. In that paper, Aumann argues that only for an economy with infinitely many participants it is reasonable to assume that the actions of individual agents are negligible in determining the overall outcome.

In 1995, the Nobel Prize was awarded to R. Lucas, for the development and applications of the hypothesis of rational expectations, in the early 70's, [144]. This hypothesis states that economic agents' predictions of economically relevant quantities are not systematically wrong. More precisely, the subjective probabilities as perceived by the agents agree with the empirical probabilities. After the introduction of this framework, an important paradigm in economic theory is based on three hypotheses: efficient markets, rational expectations, and representative agent.

It is only around the 90's that alternatives to the representative agent model begin to be considered in mainstream economics. The idea of heterogeneous agents, as suggested in the works of S. Aiyagari [10], T. Bewley [27], M. Huggett [107] and P. Krussel and A. Smith [115], points out in an alternative direction. In this formulation, agents in the economy are characterized by different levels of the model's variables. For example, individuals can have distinct income or wealth levels.

In the theory of mean-field games (MFG), the concept of Nash equilibrium and the rational expectation hypothesis are combined to produce mathematical models for large systems, with infinitely many indistinguishable rational players. The term *indistinguishable* refers to a setting where agents share common structures of the model, though they are allowed to have heterogeneous states. In other terms, the MFG theory enables us to investigate the solution concept of Nash equilibrium, for a large population of heterogeneous agents, under the hypothesis of rational expectations.

1.1 Mean-field games

The mean-field game formalism was developed in a series of seminal papers by J.-M. Lasry and P.-L. Lions [118, 119, 120] and M. Huang, R. Malhamé and P. Caines [103, 106]. It comprises methods and techniques to study differential games with a large population of rational players. These agents have preferences not only about their state (e.g., wealth, capital) but also on the distribution of the remaining individuals in the population. Mean-field games theory studies generalized Nash equilibria for these systems. Typically, these models are formulated in terms of partial differential equations, namely a transport or Fokker-Plank equation for the distribution of the agents coupled with a Hamilton-Jacobi equation.

From the beginning, applications of MFG ideas and methods to problems arising in Economics and sustainable development were investigated by various authors; see, for instance, the work of O. Guéant [93], A. Lachapelle, J. Solomon and J. Turinici [116] and J.-M. Lasry, P.-L. Lions and O. Guéant [121, 122]. Regarding the Economics community, some of the ideas in the paper by P. Krussel and A. Smith [115] closely resemble the intuition made rigorous by some classes of mean-field game models. From a purely game-theoretical perspective, similar ideas were considered in [109]. The importance of MFG models stems from the fact that it allows a systematic formalization of two workhorses of the modern economic theory, namely, the framework of rational expectations and heterogeneous agent models. In several instances of economic interest, ideas and methods resembling those formalized by the MFG theory have been addressed. This is the case of [108], [152], [129], [99], [12] and [2], to name just a few.

Recently, substantial progress has been achieved in the study of the connection between MFG models and problems in Economics and Finance. See, for instance, the work of R. Lucas and B. Moll [145] and the developments in the work of Y. Achdou, F. Buera, J.-M. Lasry, P.-L. Lions and B. Moll [4] and Y. Achdou, J. Han, J.-M. Lasry, P.-L. Lions and B. Moll [7]. This approach has been fruitful in the study of economic models, while pointing out original directions of research in Mathematics. The potential applications of these techniques are various; these include new technology adoption, economic policies regarding income and wealth inequalities and the sustainable management of non-renewable resources.

In addition to applications in mathematical economics, mean-field game models arise in diverse areas ranging form crowd and population dynamics [32] to nonlinear estimation [136], and machine learning [137].

An important research direction in the theory of MFG concerns the study of the existence and regularity of solutions. Well-posedness in the class of smooth solutions was investigated, both in the stationary and in the time-dependent setting. Time-dependent, secondorder problems, are considered in [45], for purely quadratic Hamiltonians, as in [46]. The general case was systematically investigated in [139, 82, 81], for sub and superquadratic Hamiltonians. The case of logarithmic nonlinearities was addressed in [78]. Additional results on the regularity of solutions are reported in [79, 80]. The stationary problem was considered in [85, 83, 77, 140] (see also [71]). Obstacle type problems and weakly coupled systems were examined in [76] and [75]. Congestion problems were considered in [72], in the stationary case, and [90] for time-dependent problems. In [92], the existence of weak solutions for the congestion problem was proved (see also the approach with density constraints in [147] and [128]). Finally, logistic-type dynamics was investigated in [84]. Weak solutions were addressed originally in [118] (stationary case) and [119, 120] (time dependent problems). Then, they were systematically investigated in [141, 142, 44, 43]. Many of these results concern simplified problems (e.g., periodic setting) and do not extend to the models we discuss here. A novel approach to construct weak solutions for MFG using monotonicity methods is presented in [63] (see [11] and [86] for applications to numerical methods using mononocity techniques).

A notable effort was made to study these problems numerically. Computational methods are particularly relevant in economic models as they rarely admit explicit solutions. Recent advances in this field are reviewed in [3], in the papers [5, 6, 8, 47, 41, 9, 20], and in [98, 97]. Monotonicity techniques are used to develop numerical methods for MFG in [11] and [86]. See [4, 7, 116] for economically motivated problems. More recently, numerical results for mean-field games on networks are reported in [40].

Finite state mean-field games have also been considered in the literature but will not be discussed here. Instead, we refer the reader

to [73, 74, 70, 95, 94, 64] for the general theory, the reference [26] for applications to socio-economic sciences (also see [157]), as well as to [88, 89, 86] for numerical methods.

Applications with mixed populations or with a major player were examined in [101, 102, 133]. Linear quadratic problems have been considered from diverse perspectives, see [103], [104], [16], [105], [96], [132], [19], [24], [23], [123], [54], [155], and [62]. In the context of MFG, crowd and population dynamics were investigated in [56, 31, 32, 33]. The consensus problem was studied in [134].

The rigorous derivation of mean-field models was considered in particular cases in the original papers by Lions and Lasry. Further developments, using the theory of nonlinear Markov processes were obtained in [114], [111], and [112] (see also the monograph [113]), and using PDE methods in [18, 62]. For finite state problems, the N-player problem was studied in [74] where a convergence result was established. For earlier works in the context of statistical physics and interacting particle systems, see [150]. Recent results in this field include [65] and [117].

A related problem is mean-field control. For that, we refer the reader to the monograph [21], as well as the papers [50, 134], comparing these different approaches.

1.2 Mean-field games and economic theory

In traditional economic models, the simplifying assumption that all agents are identical (representative agent assumption) is often adopted. In contrast, heterogeneous agent problems allow the study of questions in which the differences among agents are of primary relevance. Matters such as income inequality or wealth distribution are inherently associated with differences among agents. In other problems, the effect of heterogeneity may not be adequately captured by the representative agent assumption.

Mean-field games model large populations of rational, heterogeneous agents. The analytical spectrum of the MFG framework accommodates preference structures and effects that depend on the whole distribution of the population. A rational agent is an agent with defined preferences that he or she seeks to optimize. In the vast majority of cases, these preferences can be modeled through a utility functional. Rationality means that the agent always acts optimally seeking to maximize its utility. Finally, MFG are closely linked to the assumption of rational expectations. The forecast of future quantities by the agents is an essential part of any economic model. The rational expectation hypothesis states that predictions by the agents of the value of relevant variables do not differ systematically from equilibrium conditions. This hypothesis has several advantages: firstly, it can be a good approximation to reality, as agents who act in a non-rational way will be driven out in a competitive market; secondly, it produces well-defined and relatively tractable mathematical problems; finally, because of this, it is possible to make quantitative and qualitative predictions that can be compared to real data. In mean-field game models, the actions of the agents are determined by looking at objective functionals involving expectated values with respect to probability measures that are consistent with the equilibrium behavior of the model. This contrasts with the adaptive expectations approach, where the model for future behavior of the agents is built on their past actions.

Agent-based computational methods are very popular tools to study heterogeneous agent economic problems. Unfortunately, numerical methods do not provide analytical models from which qualitative properties can be derived. In modern macroeconomics, an important role is played by dynamic stochastic general equilibrium models. These aim to understand the microfoundations of macroeconomics. MFG methods are equilibrium models where all agents are rational. In simple problems, fundamental questions such as uniqueness, existence or stability were investigated extensively. However, many MFG problems arising in mathematical economics raise issues that cannot be dealt with the current results.

The reader interested in the connection between mean-field games and economics is referred to the work of J.-M. Lasry, P.-L. Lions and O. Guéant [121, 122]. Developments in the computation of MFG equilibrium arising in economic problems are reported by A. Lachapelle, J. Salomon and G. Turinici in [116]. Liquidity issues were investigated in [148]. Energy markets and power grid management were considered in [15, 127]. Systemic risk was examined in [143]. Price formation was considered in [120, 30, 29, 35, 34, 25]. In [4], the authors develop MFG methods for a wide range of economic problems modeled by partial differential equations. In particular, the material on that paper was the inspiration for part of our discussion in Chapter 3. Further results are reported in [7], [135] and [145].

1.3 Outline of the book

In this book, we have attempted to illustrate the main techniques and methods in mean-field games theory, in several simplified models motivated by economic considerations. We do not claim that any of them reflects the reality accurately. In fact, we secretly hope and encourage our readers to criticize our models and to attempt to improve and develop them. However, we expect the methods and principles put forth here to be useful in the description of heterogeneous agent problems.

The structure of this book reflects these guiding principles. We have divided the book into two parts. In the first one, we develop deterministic models. Little background is necessary beyond calculus and differential equations, although a certain level of mathematical maturity may be required. In the second part, we present supplementary material on stochastic models. Here, a reasonable familiarity with Itô calculus is a prerequisite.

We begin the first part, in Chapter 2, with a brief discussion of deterministic mean-field games. Then, in Chapter 3, we consider simplified problems with heterogeneous agents. In Chapter 4, we propose various models to study economic growth. We address the price formation in an economy with consumer and capital goods, the role of central banks in determining interest rates, international trade and trade imbalances and price impact. We end this first part of the book, in Chapter 5, with an outline of mathematical methods and some theoretical results.

The second part of the book comprises three main chapters, together with a last chapter discussing mean-field games with correlations. In Chapter 6, we present preliminary material on second-order mean-field games. These include elementary notions in stochastic optimal control theory and Hamilton-Jacobi equations, along with topics on the Fokker-Planck equation. Chapter 7 examines growth models in the presence of stochastic shocks. The mathematical analysis of a growth model with noise is reported in Chapter 8. We prove a Verification Theorem and establish monotonicity and concavity properties for the value function. A comparison principle in regulated markets closes the chapter. In Chapter 9 we discuss meanfield games with correlated noise terms. Following some introductory material, we consider a growth model and derive the associated master equation.

Acknowledgments We are grateful to the Organizing Committee of the 30°Colóquio Brasileiro de Matemática, for the opportunity to give this course and to produce this set of notes. For their various comments and suggestions on the material in this book, we thank Benjamin Moll, David Evangelista da Silveira Jr., Fabio Camilli, Francisco Silva, Hamidou Tembine, Hung Tran, Italo Capuzzo-Dolcetta, Laurent Lafleche, Marco Cirant, Martino Bardi, Pierre Cardaliaguet, and Wei Yang.

D. Gomes and L. Nubekyan were partially supported by KAUST baseline and start-up funds and KAUST SRI, Center for Uncertainty Quantification in Computational Science and Engineering.

E. Pimentel thanks Eduardo Teixeira for his kind support. This author is also grateful to the CEMSE Division of the King Abdullah University of Science and Technology (KAUST), for the hospitality and support during the preparation of this material. E. Pimentel was supported by CNPq-Brazil.

Further bibliographical notes For the reader interested in the history of economic ideas, we suggest the books by Blaug [28] and Heilbroner [100]. An account of the Marginal Revolution can be found in [110]. For a discussion of the contribution of L. Walras and A. Cournot, we refer the reader to [28, Chapter 13], [67] and [146]. Readers interested in a comprehensive account of the contribution of W. S. Jevons and C. Menger, are referred to [28, Chapter 8] and [110, Chapters VI-VIII].

For the first work of J. von Neumann on game theory, we refer the reader to [153]. The book by the author, in collaboration with O. Morgenstern, [154], is a classical reference in the field. For the breakthrough contribution of J. Nash to the theory of bargaining, see [130].

For mean-field games theory, we suggest the video lectures by P.-L. Lions at the Collège de France [124]. For the first ideas and results in MFG, the references are the seminal papers by J.-M. Lasry and P.-L. Lions [118, 119, 120] and M. Huang, P. Caines and R. Malhamé [103, 106]. The survey [42], [87] and the monograph [21] synthesize recent advances in the field.

Part I Deterministic models

$\mathbf{2}$

First-order mean-field games

Here, we put forward an outline of the theory of deterministic meanfield games. We begin with a brief review of the deterministic optimal control theory. Next, we proceed with a discussion of the essential properties of the transport equation. Then, we present a typical formulation of first-order mean-field game problems.

2.1 Deterministic optimal control problems

The standard setting of deterministic optimal control problems is the following: consider a single-agent whose state is denoted by $\mathbf{x}_t \in \mathbb{R}^d$, for $t_0 \leq t \leq T$, where T > 0 is arbitrarily fixed; the case $T < \infty$ is referred to as the finite horizon optimal control problem.

The state \mathbf{x}_t is governed by the ordinary differential equation

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}}_t = f(\mathbf{v}_t, \mathbf{x}_t),\tag{2.1}$$

where $f : \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ is a given function and $\mathbf{v}_t \in \mathbb{R}^m$ is a control. At each instant, the agent controls her state \mathbf{x}_t through f, by choosing different values of \mathbf{v}_t . To be rigorous, we set $\mathcal{W} \doteq$

 $\{\mathbf{v}: [t_0, T] \to W, \mathbf{v} \in X\}$, where $W \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$ and X is a suitable function space (e.g., $L^{\infty}([t_0, T], W))$.

The agent has certain preferences, expressed through a utility functional $J(\mathbf{v}_t, \mathbf{x}_t; t)$; for $t \in [t_0, T)$, this functional is given by:

$$J(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{x}; t) = \int_{t}^{T} u(\mathbf{v}_{s}, \mathbf{x}_{s}) ds + \Psi(\mathbf{x}_{T}),$$

where $u: \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is called the instantaneous utility function of the agent and $\Psi: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is the terminal payoff. The instantaneous utility is also referred to as the running cost. If $T = \infty$, we introduce a discount rate $\beta > 0$ and consider

$$J_{\beta}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{x}; t) = \int_{t}^{+\infty} e^{-\beta(s-t)} u(\mathbf{v}_{s}, \mathbf{x}_{s}) ds.$$
(2.2)

Throughout this chapter, we focus on a variant of the problem (2.2), where

$$J_{\alpha}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{x}; t) = \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\mathbf{v}_{s}, \mathbf{x}_{s}) ds + e^{-\alpha(T-t)} \Psi(\mathbf{x}_{T}).$$
(2.3)

The single-agent seeks to maximize J_{α} among all possible controls; the supremum over all controls:

$$V(x,t) = \sup_{\mathbf{v} \in \mathcal{W}} J_{\alpha}(\mathbf{v}, x; t), \qquad (2.4)$$

is called the value function associated with the deterministic optimal control problem (2.1)-(2.3).

For technical reasons, we make certain assumptions on f, to ensure that the problem can be addressed rigorously. In the remainder of this chapter, we suppose $f \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and

$$|f(v, x_1) - f(v, x_2)| \le C_{\theta} |x_1 - x_2|,$$

for every $x_1, x_2 \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $v \in \mathbb{R}^m$, with $|v| \leq \theta$. Finally, we require f to be linear with respect to v.

If V(x,t) is of class $\mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}^d \times [t_0,T])$, it solves a nonlinear partial differential equation known as the Hamilton-Jacobi equation (HJ). It is given by

$$V_t(x,t) - \alpha V(x,t) + H(x, D_x V(x,t)) = 0, \qquad (2.5)$$

where the Hamiltonian H = H(x, p) is defined by

$$H(x,p) \doteq \sup_{v \in W} [p \cdot f(v,x) + u(v,x)].$$
 (2.6)

In the usual language of the optimal control theory, (2.6) is called the Legendre transform of the running cost u. Moreover, as we will prove later, the optimal control \mathbf{v}_t^* is determined by

$$H_p(\mathbf{x}^*, D_x V(\mathbf{x}^*, t)) = f(\mathbf{v}^*, \mathbf{x}^*).$$

$$(2.7)$$

By solving (2.7) with respect to \mathbf{v}^* , we obtain an optimal control in feedback form.

The previous discussion can be made rigorous by means of a Verification Theorem that we present in this chapter.

Dynamic programming principle We begin by discussing a preliminary result, namely, the Dynamic Programming Principle (DPP).

Proposition 2.1.1 (Dynamic Programming Principle). Let $r \in (t_0, T)$ be fixed and assume that V is defined as in (2.4). Then, we have

$$V(x,t) = \sup_{\mathbf{v}\in\mathcal{W}} \left(\int_t^r e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\mathbf{v}_s, \mathbf{x}_s) ds + e^{-\alpha(r-t)} V(\mathbf{x}_r, r) \right).$$

Proof. The proof has two steps.

Step 1 - For $t \leq s \leq r$, choose a trajectory $\tilde{\mathbf{x}}$ and let $\tilde{\mathbf{v}}$ be the associated control. Set $y \doteq \tilde{\mathbf{x}}_r$. Then,

$$V(y,r) = \sup_{\mathbf{v}\in\mathcal{W}} \left(\int_{r}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-r)} u(\mathbf{v}_{s},\mathbf{x}_{s}) ds + e^{-\alpha(T-r)} \Psi(\mathbf{x}_{T}) \right).$$
(2.8)

Fix $\epsilon > 0$ and choose an ϵ -optimal control \mathbf{v}^{ϵ} for (2.8); as usual, denote by \mathbf{x}^{ϵ} the associated trajectory. Then,

$$V(y,r) - \epsilon \leq \int_{r}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-r)} u(\mathbf{v}_{s}^{\epsilon}, \mathbf{x}_{s}^{\epsilon}) ds + e^{-\alpha(T-r)} \Psi(\mathbf{x}_{T}^{\epsilon}).$$

Define the control

$$\bar{\mathbf{v}}_s \doteq \begin{cases} \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_s & \text{if } s \in [t, r], \\ \mathbf{v}_s^\epsilon & \text{if } s \in (r, T]. \end{cases}$$

Then,

$$\begin{split} V(x,t) &\geq \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\bar{\mathbf{v}}_{s}, \bar{\mathbf{x}}_{s}) ds + e^{-\alpha(T-t)} \Psi(\bar{\mathbf{x}}_{T}) \\ &= \int_{t}^{r} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{s}, \tilde{\mathbf{x}}_{s}) ds + \int_{r}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\mathbf{v}_{s}^{\epsilon}, \mathbf{x}_{s}^{\epsilon}) ds \\ &+ e^{-\alpha(T-t)} \Psi(\mathbf{x}_{T}^{\epsilon}) \\ &\geq \int_{t}^{r} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{s}, \tilde{\mathbf{x}}_{s}) ds + e^{-\alpha(r-t)} \left(V(y, r) - \epsilon \right). \end{split}$$

Because $\epsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have

$$V(x,t) \ge \int_{t}^{r} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{s}, \tilde{\mathbf{x}}_{s}) ds + e^{-\alpha(r-t)} V(y,r).$$
(2.9)

Taking the supremum with respect to $\tilde{\mathbf{v}}$ in the right-hand side of (2.9), one obtains

$$V(x,t) \ge \sup_{\mathbf{v}\in\mathcal{W}} \left(\int_t^r e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\mathbf{v}_s, \mathbf{x}_s) ds + e^{-\alpha(r-t)} V(y,r) \right).$$
(2.10)

To conclude the proof, we verify the reverse inequality.

Step 2 - We consider the same trajectory $\tilde{\mathbf{x}}$ and fix $\rho > 0$. By choosing a ρ -optimal control \mathbf{v}^{ρ} , we notice that

$$\begin{split} V(x,t) - \rho &\leq \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\mathbf{v}_{s}^{\rho}, \mathbf{x}_{s}^{\rho}) ds + e^{-\alpha(T-t)} \Psi(\mathbf{x}_{T}^{\rho}) \\ &= \int_{t}^{r} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\mathbf{v}_{s}^{\rho}, \mathbf{x}_{s}^{\rho}) ds + \int_{r}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\mathbf{v}_{s}^{\rho}, \mathbf{x}_{s}^{\rho}) ds \\ &+ e^{-\alpha(T-t)} \Psi(\mathbf{x}_{T}^{\rho}) \\ &\leq \int_{t}^{r} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\mathbf{v}_{s}^{\rho}, \mathbf{x}_{s}^{\rho}) ds + e^{-\alpha(r-t)} V(y, r), \end{split}$$

where \mathbf{x}_{s}^{ρ} is the trajectory associated with \mathbf{v}_{s}^{ρ} . Again, because ρ is arbitrary, by taking the maximum, we obtain

$$V(x,t) \leq \sup_{\mathbf{v}\in\mathcal{W}} \left(\int_t^r e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\mathbf{v}_s, \mathbf{x}_s) ds + e^{-\alpha(r-t)} V(y,r) \right).$$
(2.11)

By gathering (2.10) and (2.11), one concludes the proof.

A Verification Theorem The DPP is instrumental in the analysis of optimal control problems. By recurring to the DPP, one can rigorously verify that the value function V associated with (2.1)-(2.3) satisfies the Hamilton-Jacobi equation in (2.5), provided V has enough regularity.

In general, the value function is not differentiable. Nevertheless, using the theory of viscosity solutions, it is possible to obtain weaker versions of Theorem 2.1.1, see [66].

Next, we show the converse of that statement, namely: if a function V has enough regularity and it solves the Hamilton-Jacobi equation, then V is the value function of the optimal control problem (2.4).

In our setting, the first step towards a Verification Theorem is to equip (2.5) with a *terminal condition*:

$$V(x,T) = \Psi(x), \qquad (2.12)$$

where Ψ accounts for the terminal cost in (2.3).

Theorem 2.1.1 (Verification Theorem). Let $U \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^d \times [t_0, T])$ be a solution of (2.5) equipped with the terminal condition (2.12). Then,

$$U(x,t) \ge V(x,t), \quad \text{for every } (x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times [t_0,T].$$

Moreover, if there exists \mathbf{v}^* such that

$$H(\mathbf{x}_t^*, DU(\mathbf{x}_t^*, t)) = DU(\mathbf{x}_t^*, t) \cdot f(\mathbf{v}_t^*, \mathbf{x}_t^*) + u(\mathbf{v}_t^*, \mathbf{x}_t^*), \quad (2.13)$$

where \mathbf{x}_s^* is the trajectory associated with the control \mathbf{v}^* , then \mathbf{v}^* is an optimal control for (2.1)-(2.3) and U(x,t) = V(x,t).

Proof. We start by noticing that

$$e^{-\alpha(T-t)}U(\mathbf{x}_T, T) = \int_t^T e^{-\alpha(s-t)} \left(-\alpha U + U_x \cdot f(\mathbf{v}_s, \mathbf{x}_s) + U_s\right) ds$$

$$+ U(\mathbf{x}_t, t).$$
(2.14)

By combining (2.14) with (2.6), we get

$$U(x,t) \ge \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\mathbf{v}_{s}, \mathbf{x}_{s}) ds + e^{-\alpha(T-t)} \Psi(\mathbf{x}_{T}).$$
(2.15)

This gives the first part of the Theorem.

For the second part, we notice that (2.13) and (2.14), along with the assumption regarding the terminal condition, yield equality in (2.15). This concludes the proof.

The Pontryagin maximum principle We now present the Pontryagin maximum principle. This result formalizes a set of necessary conditions for the occurrence of a maximum (or a minimum) in the context of an optimal control problem. Here, we consider the problem given by (2.1) and (2.3).

We first introduce the *adjoint variable*. Let \mathbf{v}^* be an optimal control for (2.1)-(2.3) and denote by \mathbf{x}^* the associated trajectory. The adjoint variable, $\mathbf{q} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^d$, is the solution of

$$\frac{d}{ds} \left(e^{-\alpha(s-t)} \dot{\mathbf{q}}_j(s) \right) = -e^{-\alpha(s-t)} \sum_{i=1}^d \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} f_i(\mathbf{v}_s^*, \mathbf{x}_s^*) \mathbf{q}_i(s) \quad (2.16)$$
$$-e^{-\alpha(s-t)} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} u(\mathbf{v}_s^*, \mathbf{x}_s^*),$$

with

$$\mathbf{q}(T) = D\Psi(\mathbf{x}_T^*). \tag{2.17}$$

To proceed, we also need the notion of strongly approximately continuous function; we say that a function $\mathbf{v}_s : [t,T] \to \mathbb{R}^m$ is strongly approximately continuous at $s \in [t,T]$ if

$$g(\mathbf{v}_s) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{\delta} \int_s^{s+\delta} g(\mathbf{v}_r) dr,$$

for all $g \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}^m)$. In what follows we assume the controls, and their respective trajectories, to be strongly approximately continuous a.e. in [t, T].

Theorem 2.1.2 (Pontryagin maximum principle). Let \mathbf{v}^* be an optimal control for the optimal control problem (2.1)-(2.3). Assume that \mathbf{q} is a solution to (2.16) equipped with the terminal condition (2.17). Then,

$$\mathbf{q}(s) \cdot f(\mathbf{v}_s^*, \mathbf{x}_s^*) + u(\mathbf{v}_s^*, \mathbf{x}_s^*) = H(\mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{q}(s)).$$

Proof. Fix $s \in [t, T)$ such that \mathbf{v}^* is strongly approximately continuous in s, and choose $\delta > 0$ such that $s + \delta \in [t, T]$. Define

$$\mathbf{v}_{\delta}(r) = \begin{cases} \nu & r \in [s, s + \delta], \\ \mathbf{v}_{r}^{*} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We denote by \mathbf{x}_{δ} the trajectory associated with \mathbf{v}_{δ} . Because \mathbf{v}^* is optimal, we have $J_{\alpha}(\mathbf{v}^*, \mathbf{x}^*; t) \geq J_{\alpha}(\mathbf{v}_{\delta}, \mathbf{x}_{\delta}; t)$. Hence,

$$0 \leq \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{s}^{s+\delta} e^{-\alpha(r-t)} \left(u(\mathbf{v}^{*}, \mathbf{x}^{*}) - u(\nu, \mathbf{x}_{\delta}) \right) dr \qquad (2.18)$$
$$+ \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{s+\delta}^{T} e^{-\alpha(r-t)} \left(u(\mathbf{v}^{*}, \mathbf{x}^{*}) - u(\mathbf{v}^{*}, \mathbf{x}_{\delta}) \right) dr$$
$$+ \frac{1}{\delta} e^{-\alpha(T-t)} \left(\Psi(\mathbf{x}^{*}(T)) - \Psi(\mathbf{x}_{\delta}(T)) \right).$$

We proceed by taking the limit $\delta \to 0$ in (2.18). Because \mathbf{v}^* is strongly approximately continuous, the first term on the right-hand side of (2.18) becomes

$$e^{-\alpha(s-t)}\left(u(\mathbf{v}^*,\mathbf{x}^*)-u(\nu,\mathbf{x}^*)\right),$$

as $\delta \to 0$. By recurring to the mean-value theorem, the second term becomes

$$\int_{s+\delta}^{T} e^{-\alpha(r-t)} \int_{0}^{1} u_{x}(\mathbf{v}^{*}, \mathbf{x}^{*} + \delta\lambda\xi_{\delta}(r)) \cdot \xi_{\delta}(r) d\lambda dr,$$

where

$$\xi_{\delta}(r) \doteq \frac{\mathbf{x}^* - \mathbf{x}_{\delta}}{\delta}$$

Notice that $\xi_{\delta} \to \xi$ as $\delta \to 0$, where ξ solves the following Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\xi}(r) = f_x(\mathbf{v}^*, \mathbf{x}^*)\xi(r) & r \ge s, \\ \xi(s) = f(\mathbf{v}^*, \mathbf{x}^*) - f(\nu, \mathbf{x}^*). \end{cases}$$
(2.19)

Therefore, by taking the limit $\delta \to 0$, (2.18) yields the inequality:

$$0 \le e^{-\alpha(s-t)} \left(u(\mathbf{v}^*, \mathbf{x}^*) - u(\nu, \mathbf{x}^*) \right) + \int_s^T e^{-\alpha(r-t)} u_x(\mathbf{v}^*, \mathbf{x}^*) \cdot \xi(r) dr$$
(2.20)

$$+ e^{-\alpha(T-t)} D\Psi(\mathbf{x}_T^*) \cdot \xi(T).$$

Consider now

$$\frac{d}{dr}\left[e^{-\alpha(r-t)}q(r)\xi(r)\right] = \frac{d}{dr}\left(e^{-\alpha(r-t)}q(t)\right)\xi(t) + e^{\alpha(r-t)}q(t)\dot{\xi}(t);$$

by combining (2.19) with (2.16), we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dr}\left[e^{-\alpha(r-t)}q(r)\xi(r)\right] = -e^{-\alpha(r-t)}u_x(\mathbf{v}^*,\mathbf{x}^*)\xi(r).$$

This, along with (2.20) and the definition of the Hamiltonian H, concludes the proof.

In the literature, (2.17) is called a *transversality* condition. Other related transversality conditions are typical in optimal control problems. For a more detailed discussion, see [66].

Next, we briefly present the very basics concerning the transport equation and discuss a few facts about its solutions.

2.2 Transport equation

Consider a population (of economic agents, bacteria, molecules, etc.) whose microscopic dynamics, that is, at the single-agent level, is governed by the following ordinary differential equation:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\mathbf{x}}_t = b(\mathbf{x}_t, t) & t > t_0, \\ \mathbf{x}_{t_0} = x, \end{cases}$$
(2.21)

where b is a Lipschitz vector field. The vector field b induces a flow that transports the population's density, pushing it forward or backward in time. The evolution of this density, denoted by ρ , is described by the first-order partial differential equation

$$\rho_t + \operatorname{div}(b(x,t)\rho) = 0.$$
(2.22)

That is called transport equation. Next, we present a few elementary facts about (2.22) that are critical to its physical interpretation.

Proposition 2.2.1. Let ρ be a solution of (2.22) with initial condition $\rho(x, t_0) = \rho_0(x)$, for some probability density $\rho_0 \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then we have:

(Positivity of solutions) $\rho(x,t) \ge 0$ for all $t > t_0$;

(Mass conservation)

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \rho(x,t) dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \rho_0(x) dx = 1,$$

for all $t > t_0$.

Proof. The first claim follows from the maximum principle, since $\rho_0 \geq 0$. To verify the second claim, notice that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\rho(x,t)dx\,=\,0$$

for all $t > t_0$. This, and the fact that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \rho_0(x) dx = 1,$$

concludes the proof.

The vector field b in (2.21) generates a flow in \mathbb{R}^d denoted by Φ_t . This flow maps $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ to the solution of (2.21) at the instant $t > t_0$, with initial condition x.

Let $\theta(x,t)$ be the measure on \mathbb{R}^d given by

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(x)\theta(x,t)dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi\left(\Phi_t(x)\right)\theta_0 dx.$$
 (2.23)

Then, we have the following:

Proposition 2.2.2. Let θ be the measure on \mathbb{R}^d determined by (2.23). Assume that the vector field b is Lipschitz continuous and denote by Φ_t the flow corresponding to (2.21). Then,

$$\begin{cases} \theta_t(x,t) + \operatorname{div}(b(x,t)\theta(x,t)) = 0, & (x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times [t_0,\infty) \\ \theta(x,t_0) = \theta_0(x), & x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \end{cases}$$
(2.24)

in the distributional sense.

Proof. We start by recalling the definition of solution in the distributional sense. A function ρ is said to solve (2.24) in the distributional sense if

$$-\int_{t_0}^{\infty}\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\rho(x,t)\left(\phi_t(x,t)+b(x,t)\phi_x(x,t)\right)dxdt=\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\rho_0(x)\phi(x,t_0)dx,$$

for every $\phi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^{d} \times [t_{0}, \infty))$. Differentiate both sides of (2.23) with respect to t to obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(x)\theta_t(x,t)dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(b(\Phi_t(x),t)\phi_x\left(\Phi_t(x)\right) \right) \theta_0(x)dx.$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(x) \theta_t(x,t) dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(b(x,t) \phi_x(x) \right) \theta(x,t) dx,$$

where, we have used the definition of Φ_t . Integration by parts concludes the proof.

We conclude this section with a result relating (2.21) with the Dirac delta evaluated along $\mathbf{x}(t)$.

Proposition 2.2.3. Assume that (2.21) holds and suppose that b is Lipschitz continuous. Then, $\delta_{\Phi_t(x)}$ solves (2.24), in the distributional sense.

Proof. If $\rho_0(x) \equiv \delta_{x_0}$, the right-hand side of (2.2) becomes

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \delta_{x_0}(x) \phi(x, t_0) dx = \phi(x_0, t_0).$$

Moreover, if $\rho(x,t) = \delta_{\Phi_t}(x)$, we have:

$$-\int_{t_0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \delta_{\Phi_t(x_0)}(x) \left(\phi_t(x,t) + b(x,t)\phi_x(x,t)\right) dx dt$$

= $-\int_{t_0}^{\infty} \phi_t(\Phi_t(x_0),t) + b(\Phi_t(x_0),t)\phi_x(\Phi_t(x_0),t) dt.$

Because of (2.21), we then have

$$\begin{split} -\int_{t_0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \delta_{\Phi_t(x_0)}(x) \left(\phi_t(x,t) + b(x,t)\phi_x(x,t)\right) dx dt \\ &= -\int_{t_0}^{\infty} \frac{d}{dt} \left[\phi\left(\Phi_t(x_0),t\right)\right] \\ &= \phi(x_0,t_0), \end{split}$$

which closes the proof.

Remark 2.2.1. The converse of Proposition 2.2.3 is also valid. To verify it, it suffices to observe that, if $\delta_{\Phi_t(x)}$ is a solution of (2.24) in the distributional sense, the previous proof implies

$$\int_{t_0}^{\infty} \left(b(\Phi_t(x_0), t) - \dot{\Phi}_t(x_0) \right) \phi_x(\Phi_t(x_0), t) dt = 0,$$

for every $\phi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^{d} \times [t_{0}, \infty)).$

2.3 Reduced mean-field games

As mentioned in the Introduction, among the main motivations for the study of mean-field games are the connections with the theory of N-players differential games. A solution of the MFG formalizes for the case $N \to \infty$ the concept of Nash equilibrium of the N-person differential games.

Some reduced mean-field game models can be rigorously derived as the limit of the equations characterizing N-players differential games, when the limit $N \to \infty$ is considered. In the sequel, we present a heuristic derivation of a model mean-field game.

We start by describing the single-agent optimal control problem. Suppose that the state of a certain agent at time t is characterized by the vector $\mathbf{x}_t \in \mathbb{R}^d$. In addition, assume that the state \mathbf{x}_t is governed by the following ordinary differential equation:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\mathbf{x}}_t = \mathbf{v}_t, & t \in (t_0, T] \\ \mathbf{x}_{t_0} = x, \end{cases}$$
(2.25)

where \mathbf{v}_t is a control and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ is a given initial condition. This agent seeks to maximize the functional:

$$J(\mathbf{v}, x; t_0) \doteq \int_{t_0}^T u(\mathbf{v}_s, \mathbf{x}_s) + g[\rho] ds + u_T(\mathbf{x}_T), \qquad (2.26)$$

where u is a Lagrangian, u_T is a terminal condition and $g[\rho]$ is a term to be made precise later. Define

$$H(x,p) \doteq \sup_{v} \left(p \cdot v + u(v,x) \right).$$

We know, from Section 2.1, that, under regularity assumptions, the value function V associated with the optimal control (2.25)-(2.26) solves the Hamilton-Jacobi equation:

$$\begin{cases} V_t(x,t) + H(x, D_x V(x,t)) = g[\rho], & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^d \times [t_0, T) \\ V(x,T) = u_T(x), & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^d. \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, the optimal control \mathbf{v}^* is given in feedback form by

$$\mathbf{v}^* = H_p(\mathbf{x}, D_x V(\mathbf{x}, t)).$$

If this agent is rational, her state evolves according to (2.25), where the velocity **v** is given by the feedback optimal control **v**^{*}.

Next, we consider a population of rational and indistinguishable agents. The statistical distribution of agents in this population is encoded in the density ρ of a probability measure. In this population, each agent faces the same optimal control problem. Therefore, the state of each individual is driven by

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\mathbf{x}}_s = H_p(\mathbf{x}, D_x V(\mathbf{x}, s)), \\ \mathbf{x}_{t_0} = x. \end{cases}$$
(2.25')

By the previous discussion, g in (2.26) encodes the dependence of the agents' cost functional on the density of the entire population. Accordingly, the optimization problem faced by the agents depends on the evolution of ρ . Conversely, ρ evolves according to a vector field determined by V.

From Section 2.2, we know that the density ρ evolves according to:

$$\begin{cases} \rho_t(x,t) + \operatorname{div}(H_p(x, D_x V(x,t))\rho(x,t)) = 0, & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^d \times (t_0, T] \\ \rho(x,t_0) = \rho_0(x), & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^d. \end{cases}$$

The mean-field game system associated with this problem is:

$$\begin{cases} V_t(x,t) + H(x, D_x V) = g[\rho](x,t), & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^d \times [t_0, T) \\ \rho_t(x,t) + \operatorname{div}(H_p(x, D_x V)\rho(x,t)) = 0, & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^d \times (t_0, T], \end{cases}$$
(2.27)

equipped with initial-terminal boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} V(x,T) = u_T(x), & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^d.\\ \rho(x,t_0) = \rho_0(x), & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^d. \end{cases}$$
(2.28)

Roughly speaking, the model problem (2.27)-(2.28) accounts for the mutual dependence of two distinct processes. First, the evolution of a population that behaves optimally; second, an optimization problem population-dependent. It is precisely this interplay that characterizes the optimal control $\mathbf{v}^* = H_p(\mathbf{x}, D_x V(\mathbf{x}, t))$ as a Nash equilibrium.

In this model problem, the dependence of the value function on the density is encoded by the map g. However, distinct settings may arise; for example, this dependence can be encoded in the utility function u, as in the formulation of the congestion problem, see [72], or through equilibrium conditions. This last type of coupling is of paramount importance in economic problems and will be detailed in next chapters.

Bibliographical notes For the material presented in Section 2.1, we refer the reader to [17], [66] and [126]. The definition of strongly approximately continuous function can be found in [60]. A comprehensive account of the theory of viscosity solutions of first-order

Hamilton-Jacobi equations can be found in [17] and [66]. For a more detailed discussion of the Pontryagin maximum principle, see [66].

For an introduction to the transport equation, see [58]. Regarding applications to mathematical biology, see [138]. In [138, Chapter 6], one can find a self-contained account of mathematical methods for the transport equation. These range from elementary properties to the Di Perna-Lions theory and more sophisticated techniques.

Further references on reduced mean-field games can be found in [42], [124] and [87].

3

Some simple economic models

In this chapter, we put forward three models with heterogeneous agents. These describe simplified problems, that, we believe, depict the key techniques we develop here. We begin with a version of the Solow model for capital accumulation. We use this model to illustrate some differences between free market economies and centrally planned ones. Strictly speaking, the free-market version of the Solow model is not a mean-field game as there are no interactions between the agents. The planned economy version turns out to be a mean-field control problem. Next, we consider a deterministic Aiyagari-Bewley-Huggett model that includes both wages and capital accumulation.

3.1 Economic models

3.1.1 Agents and their states

Agents in the economy are divided into two main groups: microeconomic agents and macroeconomic agents.

Microeconomic agents Microeconomic agents are small participants in the economy and, individually, cannot influence the economic

outcomes. Consumers, workers, and firms are examples of microeconomic agents.

Macroeconomic agents In contrast to their microeconomic counterparts, macroeconomic agents are able to impact directly the economy. Instances of macroeconomic agents include central banks, large firms (e.g., monopolistic firms) or governments.

Microeconomic variables Microeconomic agents in the economy are characterized by individual state variables that we call microeconomic variables. These include, for instance, the wealth, capital or wages of each small participant in the economy. A probability measure ρ describes the global distribution of agents along the state space of the economy.

Heterogeneity in the microeconomic variables is the hallmark of heterogeneous agent models. The density ρ synthesizes all the information concerning the agents' distribution.

Macroeconomic variables Unlike microeconomic variables, that are heterogeneous among the economy, a macroeconomic variable is a global quantity of the system. These include exogenous variables such as taxes, external demand for goods, or variables that are determined by equilibrium conditions such as relative prices.

3.1.2 Dynamics and controls

We start by describing the controls of the agents in the economy.

Controls (actions) Agents in the model are allowed to choose the levels of certain quantities. These quantities are called *controls* and, in the framework of mean-field games, will be also referred to as *strategies*.

Controls can be either of micro or macroeconomic nature. The former case regards actions taken by microeconomic agents; these concern consumption levels, investment, etc. On the other hand, macroeconomic controls concern the actions of the macroeconomic agents in the economy.
Constitutive relations The relations between various quantities in the economy are specified by constitutive relations that are modeldependent. An example is the relation between productivity and capital or the capital depreciation function.

Dynamics Controls and the constitutive relations, determine the evolution of the agents' state in the economy. This is formalized by certain prescribed laws, that relate those objects with the state variables. The collection of these laws is known as the *dynamic* of the model.

This dynamic can be deterministic or include stochastic elements such as diffusions or jump processes.

3.1.3 Preferences

The assumption of rationality presumes that agents choose controls in order to optimize some functional. This functional encodes the preferences of the agents with respect to the variables of the model.

For example, it is reasonable to suppose that a microeconomic agent in the model prefers more consumption to less, whereas a central bank aims at controlling price levels while promoting growth and capital accumulation. In the case of microeconomic agents, these ideas are formalized through an instantaneous utility function. Monotonicity and concavity encode many qualitative properties of the model. For instance, with respect to consumption, the utility function is increasing (agents are assumed to prefer more consumption to less) and concave, for the satisfaction, due to increments in consumption, is decreasing. In case of a macroeconomic agent, preferences are represented by an instantaneous welfare function.

Because agents make choices over a particular time span, we introduce the intertemporal counterparts of the utility and the welfare functions.

3.1.4 Equilibrium conditions

The economic models in this book are constrained by conditions relating the various quantities involved in their formulation. These constraints are called *equilibrium conditions* and formalize the intuitive notions behind the economic processes described in the models.

An example of such a condition is the following: in the setting of a closed economy, the total investment must equal the total production of capital goods.

3.2 Solow model with heterogeneous agents

Here, we describe a heterogeneous agent capital accumulation model. This model serves to illustrate two distinct economies - a free market economy where the price level is determined by a market clearing condition, and a centrally planned economy, in which the central planner sets the share of production that is consumed by the agents. We proceed by detailing the basic elements of this model.

Microeconomic agents Agents in the economy are characterized by their levels of capital, $k_t \ge 0$. The distribution of agents in the state space is given by a probability density $\rho = \rho(k, t)$.

Constitutive relations The model has a resource constraint, entailed by a production function, f = f(k). This function encodes the technology of the economy. The production function gives the amount of output f(k) of an agent with capital k.

We assume that f'(k) > 0, for k > 0, and

$$\lim_{k \to 0} f'(k) = +\infty \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{k \to \infty} f'(k) = 0.$$
(3.1)

The limits in (3.1) formalize the notion of marginal productivity of capital.

The production of an agent with capital k_t is divided between an amount c_t of consumption and i_t of investment. This corresponds to the microeconomic resource constraint:

$$f(k_t) = c_t + i_t, (3.2)$$

where $c_t, i_t \ge 0$.

Dynamics: capital accumulation In this economy, the accumulation of capital is governed by the following ordinary differential equation:

$$k_t = i_t - \delta k_t, \tag{3.3}$$

where $0 < \delta < 1$ is the capital depreciation rate of the economy, and i_t is the investment.

Next, we solve this model by making two distinct sets of assumptions. First, we consider a free-market economy; in this setting, agents choose their consumption levels in order to maximize some functional J = J(c, k, t). Later, we present a planned economy, in which the consumption level is chosen by a central planner that maximizes a welfare function of the consumption level of the economy.

3.2.1 Free-market economy

In a free-market economy, agents are free to allocate their production, $f(k_t)$, between consumption and investment in (3.2).

Microeconomic actions (controls) We assume that agents control the amount of consumption, c_t . The agents select the control by maximizing certain preferences, subject to the constraints $c_t \ge 0$, $i_t \ge 0$ and (3.2). From this, we derive that $0 \le c_t \le f(k_t)$.

Agents' preferences Agents in the economy are assumed to be rational, i.e., they maximize preferences over quantities of the model. We assume these preferences are represented by a utility function u = u(c, k). As in (3.1), the instantaneous utility function u presents decreasing marginal increments. That is, the map $(c, k) \mapsto u(c, k)$ is increasing in (c, k) and concave. Given a discount rate $\alpha > 0$, agents maximize the intertemporal counterpart of the instantaneous utility function u:

$$J(c_t, k_t, t) = \int_t^\infty e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s, k_s) ds.$$
(3.4)

In this case, agents choose their consumption level according to the optimal control problem comprising (3.3) and (3.4). That is,

agents are interested in

$$V(k,t) = \sup_{c_t} \int_t^\infty e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s, k_s) ds;$$

If V is regular enough, it solves the following Hamilton-Jacobi equation:

$$V_t - \alpha V + H(k, V_k) = 0,$$

where $H(k, q_k)$ is given by

$$H(k, V_k) = \sup_{0 \le c \le f(k)} \left((f(k) - c - \delta k) V_k + u(c, k) \right).$$
(3.5)

The optimal control c^* , when it exists, is given in feedback form by

$$H_q(k,q) = f(k) - c^* - \delta k,$$
 (3.6)

where the second equality follows from (3.2).

Transport of the agents' density The density of agents in the state space is governed by a transport equation. The assumption of rationality implies that every agent acts according to the optimal control (3.6). Therefore, the evolution of the density ρ is driven by

$$\rho_t(k,t) + (H_q(k,V_k)\rho(k,t))_k = 0.$$

Consequently, the Solow growth model for a free-market economy can be written as the system:

$$\begin{cases} V_t - \alpha V + H(k, V_k) = 0\\ \rho_t(k, t) + (H_q(k, V_k)\rho(k, t))_k = 0, \end{cases}$$

where H is given as in (3.5).

3.2.2 Planned economy

As before, we suppose that agents have a production function f(k) but they are not allowed to allocate freely between consumption and investment.

Constitutive relations In this economy, a planner controls the fraction λ_t of the production that can be used for investment or consumption. Hence, the investment and consumption of a typical agent are

$$i_t = \lambda_t f(k_t), \qquad c_t = (1 - \lambda_t) f(k_t).$$

Macroeconomic controls The central planner controls the rate λ_t with $0 \leq \lambda_t \leq 1$.

Transport of the agents' density The density of agents in the state space is governed by the transport equation:

$$\rho_t(k,t) + ((\lambda_t - \delta)f(k)\rho(k,t))_k = 0.$$
(3.7)

Macroeconomic variables For convenience, we introduce here the aggregate production

$$F_t = \int f(k)\rho(k,t). \tag{3.8}$$

Macroeconomic preferences The central planner aims at maximizing a welfare function that measures the consumption. The planner has an instantaneous welfare function U and a positive discount factor α . The intertemporal consumption functional is

$$\int_{t}^{+\infty} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} U((1-\lambda_s)F_s) ds.$$
(3.9)

Together with the transport equation (3.7), this is a mean-field control problem. We regard ρ as a state variable, with controlled dynamics given by (3.7) and we seek to maximize the objective functional (3.9) that depends on ρ through (3.8).

3.3 The Aiyagari-Bewley-Huggett model: deterministic case

In the sequel, we discuss a deterministic version of the Aiyagari-Bewley-Huggett model. This model describes an economy where agents are heterogeneous in wealth and wage. The interest rate is the single macroeconomic variable, and it is determined by a zero net supply condition.

Microeconomic agents At each instant $t \ge t_0$, agents in the economy are characterized by their income and wealth levels, respectively denoted by z_t and a_t .

For each time t, we assume the agents' statistical properties are encoded in a probability density in \mathbb{R}^2 denoted by $\rho = \rho(a, z, t)$.

Macroeconomic variables There is a single macroeconomic variable, the interest rate of the economy, denoted by r_t . This is simultaneously the rate at which agents can borrow or lend wealth, that is, there are no financial intermediaries.

Constitutive relations To simplify, we assume that the evolution of the wage of each agent follows a mean-reverting deterministic dynamic $\dot{z} = -(z_t - \bar{z})$, where \bar{z} represents a reference wage level. To keep the presentation as simple as possible, we set $\bar{z} \equiv 1$. This is a rather arbitrary choice and many other alternatives are possible.

Microeconomic actions (controls) Agents in the economy are assumed to choose their consumption levels, c_t , for $t_0 \le t \le T$.

Microeconomic dynamic The state variables characterizing the agents in the economy are governed by two ordinary differential equations. These are the following:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{a}_t = z_t - c_t + r_t a_t \\ \dot{z}_t = -(z_t - 1). \end{cases}$$
(3.10)

Microeconomic preferences We assume that agents are rational, i.e., they maximize a certain set of preferences over the variables of the model. In addition, we assume these preferences to be modeled by an instantaneous utility function $u = u(c_t, a_t, z_t, r_t)$. Because we

are interested in modeling the economy for the future times $s \ge t$, we consider the intertemporal counterpart of u, given by

$$J(c, a, z; t) = \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s, a_s, z_s, r_s) ds.$$
 (3.11)

The assumption of rationality yields

$$V(a, z, t) = \sup_{c_t} J(c_t, a_t, z_t; t).$$

When it exists, V is called the value function of the (deterministic) optimal control problem (3.10)-(3.11).

If V is regular enough, it is the solution of the following Hamilton-Jacobi equation:

$$V_t - \alpha V + H(a, z, r, V_a, V_z, t) = 0,$$

where the Hamiltonian H is given by

$$H(a, z, r, V_a, V_z) = \sup_{\alpha} \left(V_a \dot{a} + V_z \dot{z} + u \right).$$

Moreover, the optimal control c_t^* is given in feedback form by:

$$\begin{cases} H_{q_a}(a, z, r, V_a, V_z) = z_t - c_t^* + r_t a_t, \\ H_{q_z}(a, z, r, V_a, V_z) = -(z_t - 1). \end{cases}$$

Equilibrium conditions We assume that agents in the economy can borrow and lend at the current interest rate, r_t . To close the model, one must assume that each dollar that is borrowed by an agent was saved by another one. This condition is formalized by requiring that

$$\int a\rho(a,z,t)dadz = 0; \qquad (3.12)$$

the equality in (3.12) is referred to as zero net supply condition.

It is clear from (3.12) that r_t depends on the density ρ . Therefore, the interest rate encodes the dependence of V on the density of the population.

Transport of the agents' density Given (3.10), the agents' density $\rho(a, z, t)$ evolves according to the transport equation:

$$\rho_t(a, z, t) + (D_{q_a} H \rho)_a + (D_{q_z} H \rho)_z = 0.$$
(3.13)

Meanwhile, agents are assumed to behave rationally, i.e., to choose the optimal consumption level c_t^* . Hence, (3.13) becomes

$$\rho_t(a, z, t) + ((z - c^* + ra)\rho)_a - ((z - 1)\rho)_z = 0.$$

Then, the deterministic Aiyagari-Bewley-Huggett model can be written as the following mean-field game system:

$$\begin{cases} V_t - \alpha V + H(a, z, r, V_a, V_z) = 0\\ \rho_t(a, z, t) + ((z - c^* + ra)\rho)_a - ((z - 1)\rho)_z = 0, \end{cases}$$

together with initial conditions for the density ρ .

Analysis of the equilibrium condition The equilibrium condition (3.12) implies

$$0 = \frac{d}{dt} \int a\rho(a, z, t) dadz = -\int (z - c^*)\rho(a, z, t) dadz.$$

Moreover,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\int (z-1)^2\rho dadz = -2\int (z-1)^2\rho dadz.$$

Therefore, as one would expect,

$$\int z\rho dadz \to 1.$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\int c^* \rho(a, z, t) dadz \to, \qquad (3.14)$$

as $t \to \infty$. The relation in (3.14) formalizes the intuitive notion that the total consumption in the population must equal the total income.

Bibliographical notes For the material in Section 3.2, we refer the reader to the original paper by R. Solow, [149]. A comprehensive introduction to the modern theory of economic growth is the subject of [1]. For a mean-field games approach to the planned economy, we refer the reader to the paper by G. Nuño and B. Moll [135]. The work of R. Lucas and B. Moll [145] on the growth of knowledge also relates to the topic of this chapter.

The reader interested in topics related to the dynamic macroeconomic theory may find the book by M. Wickens useful [156].

For the original contribution of S. Aiyagari, T. Bewley, and M. Huggett, we refer the interested reader to their seminal papers [10], [27], and [107]. Our discussion in Section 3.3 of the Aiyagari-Bewley-Huggett model as a mean-field game is inspired by [7] and [4]. Compared to these references, the model we present here is simplified in various important points since we did not include in our discussion stochastic effects and boundary conditions.

4

Economic growth and MFG - deterministic models

In this chapter, we examine models of economic growth with heterogeneous agents. We begin with the problem of wealth and capital accumulation, with a capital-dependent production function. Then, we investigate the role of a central bank that controls the economy's interest rate. Afterward, we discuss trade imbalances and international trade. Then, we study the issue of price impact in regulated markets. The model in Section 4.1 is a mean-field game where the coupling between the Hamilton-Jacobi equation and the transport equation is determined by an equilibrium condition. By introducing a macroeconomic agent, a central bank, the model in Section 4.2 becomes an optimal control problem of a mean-field game. Next, the analysis of trade imbalances in Section 4.3 becomes an infinite dimensional game between two agents, whose dynamics is given by two mean-field games. Finally, the issue of price impact in regulated markets, through taxation of trade imbalances, is considered in Section 4.4. This is a mean-field game that depends on a price-impact function (e.g. import duties).

4.1 A growth model with heterogeneous agents

Our first growth model is a simple wealth and capital accumulation problem, with capital-dependent production. Here, we present its basic structures and elements according to the outline in Section 1.2.

Microeconomic agents In the present model, a typical individual in the economy has an amount a_t of consumer goods and k_t units of capital, at time t. Consumer goods are used as the numerary of the economy, in the Walrasian sense, which sets its price equal to the unity.

Both the consumer goods a_t and the capital k_t have natural constraints. Borrowing constraints correspond to the inequality $a_t \ge a_0$, for some $a_0 \le 0$. Moreover, it is natural to assume that capital is non-negative $k_t \ge 0$. However, to simplify the discussion, we will implement these constraints as soft constraints through a utility function.

The microeconomic distribution function $\rho(a, k, t)$ determines the distribution of agents in the state space. We suppose that $\rho \ge 0$ is normalized, so that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \rho(a,k,t) dadk = 1,$$

for all $t \ge 0$.

Macroeconomic variables In our model, the only macroeconomic variable is the (relative) price of capital, denoted by p_t . For convenience, we refer to

$$W_t = \int (a_t + p_t k_t) \, d\rho(a, k, t)$$

as the total wealth of the economy.

Constitutive relations We suppose the economy has the following constitutive relations. The first one is a production function F(k, p)

that gives the total value (measured in consumer goods) of consumer goods $\Theta(k, p)$ and capital goods $\Xi(k, p)$, produced by an agent with capital k at a price level p. In particular, we have

$$F(k,p) = \Theta(k,p) + p\Xi(k,p).$$

The functions Θ and Ξ take into account that agents are able to change, at least partially, their production from consumer to capital goods and vice-versa. The precise way in which this choice is made is not relevant in this model.

Finally, the depreciation of the capital stock is governed by a function g, depending on both the capital level k and the price p, i.e., g = g(k, p).

Microeconomic actions (controls) We assume further that, at every instant t, each agent controls her consumption and investment levels, c_t and i_t , respectively.

Microeconomic dynamics In the present model, the evolution of the state variables is governed by two ordinary differential equations. The stock of consumer goods is driven by the following:

$$\dot{a}_t = -c_t - p_t i_t + F(k_t, p_t). \tag{4.1}$$

In addition, the stock of capital varies according to

$$k_t = g(k_t, p_t) + i_t. (4.2)$$

Microeconomic preferences Agents in the economy have preferences about their consumption and investment levels, stocks of consumer goods and capital, and the price level of the economy. These preferences are represented by an instantaneous utility function $u = u(c_t, i_t, a_t, k_t, p_t)$. Agents seek to maximize the intertemporal counterpart of u, i.e.,

$$V(a,k,t) = \sup_{c_t,i_t} \int_t^\infty e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s,i_s,a_s,k_s,p_s) ds.$$
(4.3)

The assumption of rationality is critical in obtaining (4.3).

Optimal control problem Each agent in the economy faces an optimal control problem. The function V(a, k, t), defined in (4.3), is called the *value function* of the problem (4.1)-(4.3). If V has enough regularity, i.e., it is of class C^1 , it solves the following Hamilton-Jacobi equation:

$$V_t(a,k,t) - \alpha V(a,k,t) + H(a,k,p,V_a,V_k) = 0, \qquad (4.4)$$

where the Hamiltonian H is given by

$$H(a, k, p, V_a, V_k) = \sup_{c,i} \left(V_a \dot{a} + V_k \dot{k} + u \right).$$
(4.5)

Moreover, the optimal controls c_t^* and i_t^* are determined in feedback form by the equations

$$\begin{cases} H_{q_a}(a_t, k_t, p_t, V_a, V_k) = -c_t^* - p_t i_t^* + F(k_t, p_t), \\ H_{q_k}(a_t, k_t, p_t, V_a, V_k) = g(k_t, p_t) + i_t^*, \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

where $H = H(a, k, p, q_a, q_k)$ is given by (4.5).

Transport of the agents' population Now, we discuss the evolution of the agents' density. To this end, we introduce the associated transport equation. Because the agents' state variables are governed by (4.1) and (4.2), the equation that describes the evolution in time of the population's density is a transport equation. As before, we denote by $\rho = \rho(a, k, t)$ the density of the agents.

The assumption that agents act to optimize their preferences is central to the optimal control problem discussed in Section 4.1. However, we note that the evolution of the agents' population depends upon the consumption and investment levels, according to (4.7). Because rationality implies that individuals shall consume c^* and invest i^* , the population evolution is driven by the vector field (\dot{a}, \dot{k}) , evaluated at these values. Then, we have the transport equation for ρ :

$$\rho_t + \left(\left(-c^* - p_t i^* + F(k) \right) \rho \right)_a + \left(\left(g(k, p_t) + i^* \right) \rho \right)_k = 0.$$
 (4.7)

Hence, using (4.6), (4.7) becomes

$$\rho_t + (H_{q_a}\rho)_a + (H_{q_k}\rho)_k = 0.$$
(4.8)

Equilibrium conditions The equations (4.4) and (4.8) are coupled by a market-clearing condition. This condition requires the aggregate production of capital goods to match the aggregate investment, and is given by

$$\int i d\rho(a,k,t) = \int \Xi(k,p) d\rho(a,k,t), \qquad (4.9)$$

for every t > 0. This equilibrium condition determines the price level p_t .

A mean field game model The mean-field game formulation of the growth model is given by the coupling of (4.4) and (4.8):

$$\begin{cases} V_t(a,k,t) - \alpha V(a,k,t) + H(a,k,p,V_a,V_k) = 0, \\ \rho_t + (H_{q_a}\rho)_a + (H_{q_k}\rho)_k = 0, \end{cases}$$
(4.10)

together with the equilibrium condition (4.9). In (4.10) we prescribe initial conditions for ρ .

4.2 A growth model with a macroeconomic agent

Building upon the previous section, we introduce a growth model with a central bank acting as a macroeconomic agent. The central bank controls the interest rate of the economy. Its aim is to balance between price stability and economic growth.

Microeconomic agents As before, microeconomic agents are characterized by their levels of consumer goods a_t and stock of capital k_t .

Macroeconomic agent The single macroeconomic agent in this economy is a central bank. Its state is determined by a quantity A_t , that represents its assets, and the distribution of microeconomic agents $\rho(a, k, t)$.

Macroeconomic variables As before, the price level of the economy p_t is a macroeconomic variable. In addition, the economy has an interest rate, r_t . This rate is set by the central bank, and, therefore, it is a control variable for this macroeconomic agent.

Constitutive relations The constitutive relations of the economy, namely, the production and depreciation functions, are the ones prescribed in Section 4.1.

Microeconomic actions (controls) As before, the microeconomic agents in the economy are assumed to control their consumption level c_t and their investment i_t .

Microeconomics dynamics The stock of consumer goods is driven by the following:

$$\dot{a}_t = r_t a_t - c_t - p_t i_t + F(k_t, p_t). \tag{4.11}$$

Notice that (4.11) depends explicitly on the interest rate of the economy, r_t . The stock of capital varies according to

$$k_t = g(k_t, p_t) + i_t. (4.12)$$

We notice that, introducing a central bank in the economy does not influence directly the dynamics of the capital accumulation, for the interest rate is not included in (4.12). Meanwhile, because it affects decisions of consumption and investment, the impact of r_t on the capital accumulation is encoded in the equilibrium condition of the model.

Macroeconomics actions (controls) The central bank intervenes in the economy by setting its interest rate, r_t .

Microeconomic preferences In this setting, we assume the instantaneous utility function of the microeconomic agents to depend also on the interest rate r_t . That is, $u = u(c_t, i_t, a_t, k_t, p_t, r_t)$. It amounts to

$$V(a,k,t) = \sup_{c_t,i_t} \int_t^\infty e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s,i_s,a_s,k_s,p_s,r_s) ds.$$

Equilibrium condition We assume the equilibrium condition to be given as in Section 4.1. In the context of this model, it is a market-clearing condition as well.

Optimal control problem The microeconomic agents' optimal control problem is described by:

$$V_t(a,k,t) - \alpha V(a,k,t) + H(a,k,p,r,V_a,V_k) = 0,$$

where the Hamiltonian H is given by

$$H(a, k, p, r, V_a, V_k) = \sup_{c,i} \left(V_a \dot{a} + V_k \dot{k} + u \right).$$
(4.13)

The optimal controls, given in feedback form, are determined by

$$\begin{cases} H_{q_a}(a_t, k_t, p_t, r_t, V_a, V_k) = r_t^* a_t - c_t^* - p_t i_t^* + F(k_t, p_t), \\ H_{q_k}(a_t, k_t, p_t, r_t, V_a, V_k) = g(k_t, p_t) + i_t^*, \end{cases}$$
(4.14)

where H is given as in (4.13).

We notice the microeconomic controls in (4.14) are distinct from those in (4.6). Moreover, a macroeconomic policy, when it exists, depends on the microeconomic optimal controls and conversely.

Transport of the agents' population As before, the dynamics of the microeconomic agents' and the optimal controls (4.14) yield a transport equation. Under the assumption of rationality, this equation governs the evolutions of the agents' distribution $\rho(a, k, t)$. We have:

$$\rho_t + ((r^*a_t - c^* - p_t i^* + F(k, p_t))\rho)_a + ((g(k, p_t) + i^*)\rho)_k = 0.$$
(4.15)

When coupled with the optimization problem of the agents, (4.15) leads to the following mean-field game system:

$$\begin{cases} V_t(a,k,t) - \alpha V(a,k,t) + H(a,k,p_t,r_t,V_a,V_k) = 0, \\ \rho_t + (H_{q_a}\rho)_a + (H_{q_k}\rho)_k = 0, \end{cases}$$
(4.16)

where H is given by (4.13).

/

Macroeconomics dynamics In the economy, the amount of consumer goods a_t that is neither consumed nor invested earns an interest rate r_t , set by the central bank. Therefore, the position of the central bank A_t is governed by the dynamics:

$$\dot{A}_t = -r_t \int a\rho(a,k,t) dadk.$$
(4.17)

Macroeconomic welfare The macroeconomic agent aims at controlling two quantities of the model. These are the price level of the economy, p_t , and the total wealth of the system, given by

$$W_t = \int a\rho(a,k,t) + p_t \int k\rho(a,k,t) dt$$

The central bank maximizes the welfare function of the economy, given by $U = U(A_t, W_t, p_t)$. The optimization problem faced by the central bank is formulated in terms of the intertemporal counterpart of U

$$\sup_{r_t} \int_t^\infty e^{-\beta(s-t)} U(A_s, W_s, p_s) ds.$$
(4.18)

When it exists, the optimal control r_t^* will be referred to as the macroeconomic policy.

The function U can be taken to be general enough to accommodate various formulations. For example, a central bank may be committed to keep the price level $p_t \equiv \psi$, or in a certain neighborhood of ψ , where $\psi > 0$ is a given constant, as in a typical inflation targeting regime. Alternatively, the goal of the central bank may be to sustain the economic growth.

Macroeconomic policy The macroeconomic policy is determined by the control problem (4.18), where the control r_t affects the macroeconomic state (A, ρ) through the dynamic comprising (4.17) and (4.16). Therefore, the optimization problem of the macroeconomic agent can be regarded as the control problem of an ordinary differential equation (4.17) and a system of partial differential equations (4.16).

4.3 Economic growth in the presence of trade imbalances

In this section, we propose a model of the economy in the presence of trade imbalances. In brief, it means that the market-clearing condition stated in (4.9) fails to hold. Trade imbalances can be introduced into the economy by various forces. Next, we distinguish between trade imbalances in the setting of a closed (single) economy and the case of international trade.

4.3.1 Single economy with a trade imbalance and regulated prices

Trade imbalance in the setting of a single economy can have multiple causes. For example, the price level, p_t , may be subjected to distortions - as in the case of a central planner - or follow a dynamic prescribed a priori. In what follows, we consider the setup of the economy described in Section 4.2, except for the equilibrium condition, which is here modified to take into account that the market fails to clear.

Unlike in the previous formulations, here, we do not assume the price level, p_t , to be determined in equilibrium. Instead, we suppose it is regulated by a central planner, or any other entity external to the economy. Because the price level is not determined by (4.9), we say that a *trade imbalance* appears in the system.

Equilibrium conditions Trade imbalances quantify the difference between the total investment in the economy and the production of capital goods. Given an extrinsic price level p_t , this quantity, denoted E_t , will be given by

$$E_t = \int i d\rho(a,k,t) - \int \Xi(k,p) d\rho(a,k,t).$$

The case $E_t > 0$ represents an excess of demand for capital goods, whereas $E_t < 0$ stands for an excess in supply. Therefore, for $E_t \neq 0$, the market does not clear. Microeconomic state variables In this setting, the stock of consumer goods and the capital accumulation are governed, as before, by (4.11) and (4.12), respectively.

Microeconomic preferences Agents in the economy may have preferences over the trade imbalance E_t . These are encoded by the instantaneous utility function $u = u(c_t, i_t, a_t, k_t, p_t, r_t, E_t)$. Hence, the intertemporal counterpart of u becomes

$$V(a,k,t) = \sup_{c_t,i_t} \int_t^\infty e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s,i_s,a_s,k_s,p_s,r_s,E_s) ds.$$
(4.19)

Optimal control problem The microeconomic agents in the model solve the optimal control problem described by (4.11), (4.12) and (4.19). When the value function V has enough regularity, it solves

$$V_t - \alpha V + H(a, k, p_t, r, E, V_a, V_k) = 0,$$

where the Hamiltonian H is given by

$$H(a, k, p, r, E, V_a, V_k) = \sup_{c,i} \left(V_a \dot{a} + V_k \dot{k} + u \right).$$
(4.20)

The optimal controls associated with these problems are given in feedback form by the system

$$\begin{cases} H_{q_a}(a_t, k_t, p_t, r_t, E_t, V_a, V_k) = r_t a_t - c_t^* - p_t i_t^* + F(k_t, p_t), \\ H_{q_k}(a_t, k_t, p_t, r_t, E_t, V_a, V_k) = g(k_t, p_t) + i_t^*. \end{cases}$$

Transport of the agents' density Under the assumption of rationality, the evolution of the microeconomic agents' density ρ is governed by the following transport equation:

$$\rho_t + (H_{q_a}(a_t, k_t, p_t, r_t, E_t, V_a, V_k)\rho)_a + (H_{q_k}(a_t, k_t, p_t, r_t, E_t, V_a, V_k)\rho)_k = 0.$$

The mean-field game system associated with the single economy in the presence of trade imbalances is

$$\begin{cases} V_t(a,k,t) - \alpha V(a,k,t) + H(a,k,p_t,r,E,V_a,V_k) = 0, \\ \rho_t + (H_{q_a}\rho)_a + (H_{q_k}\rho)_k = 0, \end{cases}$$
(4.21)

where H is given by (4.20).

Macroeconomic preferences The preferences of the central bank are also affected by the trade imbalance. The welfare function becomes $U = U(A_t, W_t, p_t, E_t)$, where W_t is the total wealth

$$W_t = \int a\rho(a,k,t) + p_t \int k\rho(a,k,t).$$

As before, the optimal control problem of the macroeconomic agent is formulated in terms of the intertemporal counterpart of U

$$\max_{r_t} \int_t^\infty e^{-\beta(s-t)} U(A_s, W_s, p_s, E_s) ds.$$
(4.22)

Macroeconomic policies The macroeconomic policy is determined by the control problem (4.22), where the control r_t affects the macroeconomic state (A, ρ) through the dynamic comprising (4.17) and (4.21). Therefore, the optimization problem of the macroeconomic agent can be regarded as the control problem of an ordinary differential equation (4.17) and a system of partial differential equations (4.21).

4.3.2 Two countries economy with a trade imbalance

In this section, trade imbalance is introduced in the economy through an export and import flow. There are two countries in the economy, namely country 1 and country 2. The economy of the country i, with i = 1, 2, is defined as in Section 4.3.1, with the additional restriction

$$E_t^1 + E_t^2 = 0, (4.23)$$

for every $t \geq 0$.

In this setting, given the interest rates of the two countries, the economy is completely characterized by two mean-field game systems, which we describe next.

The price levels in both countries may be identical, in which case it is determined by (4.23). Alternatively, one of the prices may be regulated. In that case, the price levels in countries 1 and 2 may differ, i.e., $p_t^1 \neq p_t^2$. Also, the production functions F^1 and F^2 can be different, reflecting the existence of distinct technologies in those countries. The associated MFG system is given by

$$\begin{cases} V_t^i(a^i, k^i, t) - \alpha V^i(a^i, k^i, t) + H^i(a^i, k^i, p_t^i, E^i, V_a^i, V_k^i) = 0, \\ \rho_t^i + \left(H_{q_a}^i \rho^i\right)_a + \left(H_{q_k}^i \rho^i\right)_k = 0, \end{cases}$$
(4.24)

for i = 1, 2.

,

A game between two macroeconomic agents Each of the central banks controls an interest rate r_t^i and seeks to maximize

$$\sup_{r_t^i} \int_t^\infty e^{-\beta(s-t)} U(A_s^i, W_s^i, p_s^i, E_s^i) ds,$$

where the state of the system is described by the mean-field games together with their assets dynamics

$$\dot{A}^i_t = -r^i_t \int a^i \rho(a^i, k^i, t) dadk.$$
(4.25)

Therefore, this formulation of the growth model in the presence of trade imbalances can be regarded as a non-cooperative game for two macroeconomic agents. Their dynamics are given by (4.25), under the constraints (4.24).

We notice that the MFG systems for both countries are coupled through (4.23).

4.4 Price impact in regulated markets

As in Section 4.3, we assume the price level of the economy to be driven by an extrinsic dynamic, instead of the balance condition in (4.9). This rigidity in the market entails distortions in the system called trade imbalances and encoded in the quantity E_t .

In the setup of Section 4.3, trade imbalances were implicitly taken into account by the agents. In what follows, we assume these distortions to impact explicitly the dynamics of the consumer goods' stock (for instance, as import taxes). **Price impact and the consumer goods' dynamics** We assume that the price level of the economy is regulated extrinsically, which gives rise to trade imbalance, E_t . However, in the present setting, this quantity is monetized at a rate $\lambda(E_t)$. Then, the dynamics governing the stock of consumer goods becomes:

$$\dot{a}_t = c_t - (p_t + \lambda(E_t))i + F(k_t, p_t).$$

The rate $\lambda(E_t)$ can be regarded as a price impact. We assume that $\lambda(0) \equiv 0$; furthermore, $\lambda(q) \leq 0$ when $q \geq 0$ and $\lambda(q) \geq 0$ when $q \leq 0$. These assumptions on λ reflect intuitive notions behind the so-called *tatonnement* process. We assume this function λ is an important part of the model. Here, we do not consider any macroeconomic agent, although λ can be chosen by the government by imposing import taxes, for instance.

Optimal control problem As before, we are interested in

$$V(a,k,t) = \sup_{c,i} \int_t^\infty e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s, p_s, E_s) ds.$$

Provided certain regularity conditions hold, V solves

$$V_t - \alpha V + H(a, k, p_t, E, V_a, V_k) = 0,$$

where

$$H(a, k, p, E, V_a, V_k) = \sup_{c,i} \left(V_a \dot{a} + V_k \dot{k} + u \right).$$
(4.26)

The optimal controls, given in feedback form, for both the macroeconomic and the microeconomic agents are jointly determined by

$$\begin{cases} H_{q_a} = -c_t^* - (p_t + \lambda(E_t))i_t^* + F(k_t, p_t), \\ H_{q_k} = g(k_t, p_t) + i_t^*, \end{cases}$$
(4.27)

where $H = H(a_t, k_t, p_t, E_t, V_a, V_k)$ is given by (4.26).

Next, we discuss the transport of the microeconomic agents' density, under the assumption of rationality. **Transport of the microeconomic agents' population** The evolution of the agents' density ρ is governed by a transport equation of the form:

$$\rho_t(a,k,t) + [(-c - (p_t + \lambda(E))i + F(k,p_t))\rho]_a \qquad (4.28) + [(g(k,p_t) + i)\rho]_k = 0.$$

By assuming rationality of the agents, i.e., the vector fields in (4.28) are evaluated at the optimal controls determined by (4.27), we get the following MFG:

$$\begin{cases} V_t(a, k, t) - \alpha V(a, k, t) + H(a, k, p_t, E, V_a, V_k) = 0, \\ \rho_t + (H_{q_a}\rho)_a + (H_{q_k}\rho)_k = 0, \end{cases}$$

where H is as in (4.26).

Bibliographical notes For a MFG formulation of the price impact model in the context of the Merton problem, see [87].

 $\mathbf{5}$

Mathematical analysis I - deterministic models

In this chapter, we develop the mathematical tools for the analysis of the problems put forth in the previous chapters. For the illustration of the main techniques, we examine the model outlined in Section 4.1, and we consider the finite horizon case. We address several mathematical questions. Firstly, we revisit the Verification Theorem (see Section 2.1) and prove that it holds in the setting of the growth model with heterogeneous agents described in Section 4.1. Next, we study monotonicity and concavity properties of the value function. After that, we prove the Pontryagin maximum principle, and establish the optimality of certain trajectories that solve suitable ODEs. Subsequently, we show the uniqueness of optimal trajectories. Finally, the chapter concludes with a discussion of the N-agent approximation.

5.1 A Verification Theorem

Here, we focus on the optimal control part of the model presented in Section 4.1 and state and prove a Verification Theorem. Since we work in the finite horizon setting, we start by fixing a terminal instant T > 0, and adjust the utility functional (4.3) accordingly. We consider the dynamics described by (4.1)-(4.2) and

$$V(a,k,t) = \sup_{c_t, i_t} \int_t^T e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s, p_s) ds \qquad (4.3') + e^{-\alpha(T-t)} V_T(a_T, k_T),$$

where $V_T : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ is the terminal cost, which is a given data of the model.

Next, we show that a solution $U \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}^2 \times [t_0, T])$ of

$$\begin{cases} U_t - \alpha U + H(a, k, p, U_a, U_k) = 0 & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^3 \times [t_0, T] \\ U(a, k, T) = V_T(a, k) & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^3, \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

with

$$H(a,k,p,U_a,U_k) = \sup_{c,i} \left(U_a \dot{a} + U_k \dot{k} + u \right), \qquad (5.2)$$

is the value function of the aforementioned optimal control problem, provided the instantaneous utility is strictly concave.

Theorem 5.1.1 (Verification Theorem). Let $U \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^2 \times [t_0, T])$ be a solution of (5.1) and assume that the instantaneous utility function u is strictly concave. Then, U is the value function associated with the optimal control problem (4.1)-(4.2) and (4.3').

Proof. As before (c.f. Section 2.1), we have

$$e^{-\alpha(T-t)}U(a_T, k_T, T) - U(a_t, k_t, t)$$

$$= \int_t^T e^{-\alpha(s-t)} \left[U_s - \alpha U + U_a \dot{a} + U_k \dot{k} \right] ds.$$
(5.3)

In addition, (5.2) yields

$$U_s - \alpha U + U_a \dot{a} + U_k \dot{k} \le -u. \tag{5.4}$$

Inequality (5.4) combined with (5.3) yields

$$U(a_t, k_t, t) \ge \int_t^T e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u ds + e^{-\alpha(T-t)} U(a_T, k_T, T),$$

hence

$$U(a,k,t) \ge V(a,k,t).$$

Because u is strictly concave, there exists a unique pair (c^*, i^*) so that

$$c^*, i^* \in \operatorname{argmax}\left(U_a\dot{a} + U_k\dot{k} + u\right).$$

Then, by Theorem 2.1.1, we have

$$U(a,k,t) = V(a,k,t).$$

5.2 Monotonicity and concavity

Here, we discuss two important qualitative properties of the value function, namely, its monotonicity and concavity. Since the value function represents the intertemporal utility of an agent, starting off with higher levels of utility at the initial instant, would allow her to sustain higher utility levels for future times as well. Indeed, an agent can trivially keep the previous investment and consumption levels and be at least not worse off. This explains the importance of the monotonicity.

Regarding concavity, it encodes the decreasing marginal increments of the utility. This is a cornerstone assumption in economic theory. Hence, this property for the intertemporal utility functional is critical in establishing the soundness of the model.

Throughout this section, we assume that p is fixed. We begin with a technical lemma:

Lemma 5.2.1. Suppose the production function F is locally Lipschitz and non-decreasing in k, and the depreciation function g is locally Lipschitz in k. Fix initial states (a^1, k^1) and (a^2, k^2) . Fix a control (c_t^*, i_t^*) . Suppose $a^1 \leq a^2$ and $k^1 \leq k^2$. Let $(a^i(t), k^i(t))$ be a solution of

$$\begin{cases} \dot{a}^{i} = -c_{t}^{*} - p_{t}i_{t}^{*} + F(k_{t}^{i}, p_{t}) \\ \dot{k}^{i} = g(k_{t}^{i}, p_{t}) + i_{t}^{*}, \end{cases}$$

with

$$\begin{cases} a_{t_0}^i = a_0^i, \\ k_{t_0}^i = k_0^i. \end{cases}$$

Then $a_t^1 \leq a_t^2$ and $k_t^1 \leq k_t^2$, for all $t \geq t_0$.

Proof. Because $k_0^1 \leq k_0^2$, the uniqueness of solutions of ordinary differential equations implies that $k_t^1 \leq k_t^2$, for all $t \geq 0$. Then, by the monotonicity of F, we have $F(k_t^1, p_t) \leq F(k_t^2, p_t)$. Therefore, $\dot{a}_t^1 \leq \dot{a}_t^2$ and so $a_t^1 \leq a_t^2$, for all $t \geq t_0$.

The first main result of this section is the monotonicity of the value function in the wealth variables (a, k).

Proposition 5.2.1. Suppose that:

- *i* the instantaneous utility function u is non-decreasing in the wealth variables (a, k);
- ii the production function F(k, p) is non-decreasing in k;
- iii the depreciation function g(k, p) is locally Lipschitz in k.

Then, the value function is non-decreasing in the (a, k) variables.

Proof. To simplify the proof, we suppose the existence of maximizers for (4.3'). This assumption is not essential, since the argument can be modified recurring to ϵ -optimal trajectories.

Fix initial states (a^1, k^1) and (a^2, k^2) such that $a^2 \ge a^1$ and $k^2 \ge k^1$. Let the optimal consumption and investment level for the first state be (c_t^*, i_t^*) . Then, we have

$$V(a_1, k_1, t) = \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s^*, i_s^*, a_s^*, k_s^*) ds.$$

If we choose for the second state the same investment and consumption levels, this choice is clearly suboptimal. Hence, we have

$$V(a_2, k_2, t) \ge \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s^*, i_s^*, a_s, k_s) ds,$$

where (a_s, k_s) is driven by the controls (c_t^*, i_t^*) , with initial state (a_2, k_2) . According to Lemma 5.2.1, $a_t^* \leq a_t$ and $k_t^* \leq k_t$, for all $t \geq t_0$. Hence,

$$V(a_{2}, k_{2}, t) \geq \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_{s}^{*}, i_{s}^{*}, a_{s}, k_{s}) ds$$
$$\geq \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_{s}^{*}, i_{s}^{*}, a_{s}^{*}, k_{s}^{*}) ds$$
$$= V(a_{1}, k_{1}, t).$$

This proves the monotonicity of the value function.

Next, we show that the value function is concave.

Proposition 5.2.2. Suppose that:

- i u is concave in the microeconomic variables (c, i, a, k);
- ii u is non-decreasing in the wealth variables (a, k);
- iii the production function F is non-decreasing and concave in the capital variable k;
- iv the depreciation function g is concave in the capital variable k.

Then V(a, k, t) is concave in (a, k).

Proof. Consider two initial states (a^1, k^1) and (a^2, k^2) . Suppose that the optimal consumption and investment levels for these two states are, respectively, (c_t^1, i_t^1) and (c_t^2, i_t^2) . Consider the state $(a_t^\lambda, k_t^\lambda)$ given by

$$a_t^{\lambda} = (1 - \lambda)a_t^1 + \lambda a_t^2,$$

$$k_t^{\lambda} = (1 - \lambda)k_t^1 + \lambda k_t^2,$$

with $\lambda \in (0, 1)$. Next, we show that

$$V(a_t^{\lambda}, k_t^{\lambda}, t) \ge (1 - \lambda)V(a_t^1, k_t^1, t) + \lambda V(a_t^2, k_t^2, t).$$

Define

$$\begin{split} c_t^\lambda &= (1-\lambda)c_t^1 + \lambda c_t^2,\\ i_t^\lambda &= (1-\lambda)i_t^1 + \lambda i_t^2. \end{split}$$

This strategy yields a sub-optimal trajectory for an agent with initial conditions $((1 - \lambda)a^1 + \lambda a^2, (1 - \lambda)k^1 + \lambda k^2)$. Such trajectory, (\bar{a}_t, \bar{k}_t) is obtained by solving

$$\dot{\bar{a}}_t = -c_t^\lambda - p_t i_t^\lambda + F(\bar{k}_t, p_t),$$
$$\dot{\bar{k}}_t = i_t^\lambda + g(\bar{k}_t, p_t).$$

We claim that

$$\begin{cases} \bar{a}_t \geq a_t^{\lambda}, \\ \bar{k}_t \geq k_t^{\lambda}. \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

Using the concavity of the depreciation function g, we get:

$$\dot{\bar{k}}_t - g(\bar{k}_t, p_t) \ge \dot{k}_t^\lambda - g(k_t^\lambda, p_t).$$

Hence $\bar{k}_t \ge k_t^{\lambda}$ for all $t \ge 0$.

Next, we observe that, because of the concavity of the production function F, we have:

$$\begin{split} \dot{a}_t - F(\bar{k}_t, p_t) &= -(1 - \lambda)c_t^1 - \lambda c_t^2 - p_t((1 - \lambda)i_t^1 + \lambda i_t^2) \\ &= (1 - \lambda)(\dot{a}_t^1 - F(k_t^1, p_t)) + \lambda(\dot{a}_t^2 - F(k_t^2, p_t)) \\ &= \dot{a}_t^\lambda - (1 - \lambda)F(k_t^1, p_t) - \lambda F(k_t^2, p_t) \\ &\geq \dot{a}_t^\lambda - F(k_t^\lambda, p_t) \geq \dot{a}_t^\lambda - F(\bar{k}_t, p_t). \end{split}$$

Then, $\bar{a}_t \geq a_t^{\lambda}$ and (5.5) is proven.

Furthermore, inequality (5.5) and matching initial conditions yield:

$$\begin{split} V(a_t^{\lambda}, k_t^{\lambda}, t) &\geq \int_t^T e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s^{\lambda}, i_s^{\lambda}, \bar{a}_s, \bar{k}_s) ds \\ &\geq \int_t^T e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s^{\lambda}, i_s^{\lambda}, a_s^{\lambda}, k_s^{\lambda}) ds \\ &\geq (1-\lambda) \int_t^T e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s^1, i_s^1, a_s^1, k_s^1) ds \\ &+ \lambda \int_t^T e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s^2, i_s^2, a_s^2, k_s^2) ds \\ &= (1-\lambda) V(a_t^1, k_t^1, t) + \lambda V(a_t^2, k_t^2, t). \end{split}$$

Hence, the proposition is established.

5.3 Existence of optimal trajectories

In this section, we address the existence of the optimal trajectories for (4.3). Since the resources are limited in the economy, we suppose here that the consumption and investment levels of an individual agent are bounded by some natural constraints. That is,

$$|c| \le \overline{C} \quad \text{and} \quad |i| \le \overline{C},$$
 (5.6)

where c and i are, respectively, the consumption and investment levels and $\overline{C} > 0$ is some constant, chosen sufficiently large. As before, to make the presentation lighter, we work in the finite horizon setting.

Theorem 5.3.1. Under the natural constraints (5.6), and given a continuous price dynamics p_s , the problem

$$\sup_{c_t, i_t} \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s, p_s) ds$$
(5.7)

admits an optimal trajectory.

Proof. We break the proof into two steps.

Step 1. We claim that the supremum in (5.7) is finite.

To prove this, we observe that under the natural constraints (5.6) all feasible trajectories, i.e., those satisfying (4.1), (4.2), are universally bounded. Namely, there exists a constant $\overline{M} > 0$ such that

$$|a_s|, \ |k_s| \le \overline{M}.\tag{5.8}$$

Let \bar{k}_s be the solution of the ODE

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\bar{k}}_s = \overline{C} + g(\bar{k}_s, p_s), \\ \bar{k}_0 = k_0. \end{cases}$$

Since $|i_s| \leq \overline{C}$, due to comparison principle for ODEs, we obtain that

$$k_s \leq \bar{k}_s \leq \|\bar{k}\|_{\infty}$$
, for all $s \in [t, T]$.

Similarly, if

$$\begin{cases} \underline{\dot{k}}_s = -\overline{C} + g(\underline{k}_s, p_s), \\ \underline{k}_0 = k_0, \end{cases}$$

we have

$$k_s \ge \underline{k}_s \ge -\|\underline{k}\|_{\infty}, \quad \text{for all} \quad s \in [t, T].$$
 (5.9)

This shows that the capital level has uniform bounds. Next, we address the consumer goods level. For that, let \bar{a}_s be such that

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\bar{a}}_s = \overline{C} + p_s \overline{C} + F(\|\bar{k}\|_{\infty}, p_s), \\ \bar{a}_0 = a_0. \end{cases}$$

Because F is monotone increasing in the capital k and, moreover, $k_s \leq \bar{k}_s, |c_s| \leq \overline{C}, |i_s| \leq \overline{C}$, we obtain $\dot{a}_s \leq \dot{a}_s$. Consequently,

$$a_s \leq \bar{a}_s \leq \|\bar{a}\|_{\infty}, \quad \text{for all} \quad s \in [t, T].$$
 (5.10)

Similarly, for \underline{a}_s such that

$$\begin{cases} \underline{\dot{a}}_s = -\overline{C} - p_s \overline{C} + F(-||\underline{k}||_{\infty}, p_s), \\ \underline{a}_0 = a_0. \end{cases}$$

we have

$$a_s \ge \underline{a}_s \ge -||\underline{a}||_{\infty}, \quad \text{for all} \quad s \in [t, T].$$
 (5.11)

Combining (5.3), (5.9), (5.10) and (5.11), we get (5.8), where

$$\overline{M} = \max\{\|\bar{k}\|_{\infty}, \|\underline{k}\|_{\infty}, \|\bar{a}\|_{\infty}, \|\underline{a}\|_{\infty}\}.$$

Since u is continuous, we obtain

 $\overline{\Lambda} \doteq \sup\{u(c, i, a, k, p) \text{ s.t. } |c|, |i| \leq \overline{C}, |a|, |k| \leq \overline{M}, |p| \leq \|p\|_{\infty}\} < \infty.$

Accordingly, for any control (c, i) such that (5.6) holds, we have:

$$\int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s, p_s) ds \leq \overline{\Lambda} \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} ds < \infty.$$

Therefore, the supremum in (5.7) is finite.

Step 2. An application of the direct method of calculus of variations. Let (c^n, i^n, a^n, k^n) be a maximizing sequence for (5.7), i.e.,

$$\int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s^n, i_s^n, a_s^n, k_s^n, p_s) \longrightarrow \sup_{c,i} \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s, p_s)$$

From (5.6), we have that

$$||c^n||_{\infty}, ||i^n||_{\infty} \le \overline{C}.$$

Consequently, we can extract a weak-* converging subsequence (which, by abuse of notation, we still denote by c^n, i^n). That is, there exist $c, i \in L^{\infty}([t,T])$ so that:

$$\int_{t}^{T} c_s^n \phi(s) + a_s^n \psi(s) ds \longrightarrow \int_{t}^{T} c_s \phi(s) + a_s \psi(s) ds, \qquad (5.12)$$

for all $\phi, \psi \in L^1([t,T])$.

Furthermore, we have that the sequences $\{a_s^n\}$, $\{k_s^n\}_n$ are uniformly bounded, due to (5.8), and equicontinuous, due to (5.6). Hence, by the Arzelà-Ascoli theorem, there is a further subsequence, which

we again denote by a^n, k^n , and continuous functions a and k such that

$$a_s^n \to a_s$$
 and $k_s^n \to k_s$, uniformly in $[t, T]$. (5.13)

We have the identity

$$\begin{aligned} k_s^n &= \int_t^s i_\tau^n d\tau + \int_t^s g(k_\tau^n, p_\tau) d\tau \\ &= \int_t^T \chi_{[t,s]}(\tau) i_\tau^n d\tau + \int_t^s g(k_\tau^n, p_\tau) d\tau. \end{aligned}$$

Now, using the uniform convergence, in (5.13), and the weak-* convergence, in (5.12), and passing to the limit on both sides of the former equality, we get

$$k_s = \int_t^T \chi_{[t,s]}(\tau) i_\tau d\tau + \int_t^s g(k_\tau, p_\tau) d\tau$$
$$= \int_t^s i_\tau d\tau + \int_t^s g(k_\tau, p_\tau) d\tau.$$

Therefore,

$$\dot{k}_s = i_s + g(k_s, p_s).$$

Similarly, we can prove that

$$\dot{a}_s = -c_s - p_s i_s + F(k_s, p_s).$$

Hence, (c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s) satisfy (4.1) and (4.2). This means that the quadruple (c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s) is a candidate for a maximizing trajectory. Note that the weak-* convergence and uniform convergence yield

$$\begin{cases} |c_s|, |i_s| \leq \overline{C} \\ |a_s|, |k_s| \leq \overline{M} \end{cases}$$
(5.14)

Using the concavity of u, we get that

$$\int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_{s}^{n}, i_{s}^{n}, a_{s}^{n}, k_{s}^{n}, p_{s}) \leq \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_{s}, i_{s}, a_{s}, k_{s}, p_{s})$$

$$+ \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} D_{c} u(c_{s}, i_{s}, a_{s}, k_{s}, p_{s}) (c_{s}^{n} - c_{s}) ds$$

$$+ \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} D_{i} u(c_{s}, i_{s}, a_{s}, k_{s}, p_{s}) (i_{s}^{n} - i_{s}) ds$$

$$+ \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} D_{a} u(c_{s}, i_{s}, a_{s}, k_{s}, p_{s}) (a_{s}^{n} - a_{s}) ds$$

$$+ \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} D_{k} u(c_{s}, i_{s}, a_{s}, k_{s}, p_{s}) (k_{s}^{n} - k_{s}) ds.$$

Since \boldsymbol{u} is concave, it is locally Lipschitz. Hence, due to (5.14), we have that

$$\begin{aligned} |D_c u(c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s, p_s)| &\leq \overline{L} \\ |D_i u(c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s, p_s)| &\leq \overline{L} \\ |D_a u(c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s, p_s)| &\leq \overline{L} \\ |D_k u(c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s, p_s)| &\leq \overline{L}, \end{aligned}$$

for some constant $\overline{L} > 0$. This, combined with (5.15), (5.12) and (5.13), yields

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s^n, i_s^n, a_s^n, k_s^n, p_s) ds$$
$$\leq \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s, p_s) ds.$$

Since the sequence (c^n, i^n, a^n, k^n) is maximizing, we conclude that the trajectory (c, i, a, k) is a maximizer.

5.4 Optimal trajectories

As discussed previously, the Pontryagin maximum principle is a set of necessary conditions for optimality. However, under suitable concavity constraints, these necessary conditions are also sufficient for optimality.

Before proceeding, we present an auxiliary result.

Lemma 5.4.1. Suppose the function x solves the backwards ordinary differential equation

$$\begin{cases} -\dot{x}(s) = \alpha(s)x(s) + f(x(s), s), \\ x(T) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.16)

where $f \ge 0$. Then, we have that $x(s) \ge 0$ for $s \in [0, T]$.

Proof. To establish this lemma, we need to use the comparison principle for ODEs. Note that, because $f \ge 0$, the function $x \equiv 0$ is a subsolution for (5.16). Therefore, by the comparison principle, we have that $x(s) \ge 0$ for $s \in [0, T]$.

Proposition 5.4.1. Suppose that:

- i u is jointly concave in the (c, i, a, k) variables;
- ii u is non-decreasing in the wealth variables (a, k);
- iii the production function, F, is non-decreasing and concave in k, for p fixed;
- iv the depreciation function, g, is concave in k.
- Let (a_s^*, k_s^*) and (q_{as}^*, q_{ks}^*) be a solution of the Hamiltonian ODE

$$\begin{cases} \dot{a}_{s} = H_{q_{a}}(a_{s}, k_{s}, p_{s}, q_{as}, q_{ks}), \\ \dot{k}_{s} = H_{q_{k}}(a_{s}, k_{s}, p_{s}, q_{as}, q_{ks}), \\ -\frac{d}{ds}\left(e^{-\alpha(s-t)}q_{as}\right) = e^{-\alpha(s-t)}H_{a}(a_{s}, k_{s}, p_{s}, q_{as}, q_{ks}), \\ -\frac{d}{ds}\left(e^{-\alpha(s-t)}q_{ks}\right) = e^{-\alpha(s-t)}H_{k}(a_{s}, k_{s}, p_{s}, q_{as}, q_{ks}), \end{cases}$$
(5.17)

with initial-terminal conditions

$$\begin{cases} a_0^* = a_0, \\ k_0^* = k_0, \\ q_{aT}^* = 0, \\ q_{kT}^* = 0. \end{cases}$$

Then, q_{as}^* , $q_{ks}^* \ge 0$, for $0 \le s \le T$ and (a_s^*, k_s^*) is an optimal trajectory corresponding to the optimal controls (c_s^*, i_s^*) , that are jointly determined by

$$\begin{cases} H_{q_a}(a_s, k_s, p_s, q_{as}, q_{ks}) = -c_s^* - p_s i_s^* + F(k_s, p_s), \\ H_{q_k}(a_s, k_s, p_s, q_{as}, q_{ks}) = g(k_s, p_s) + i_s^*. \end{cases}$$
(5.18)

Proof. The Hamiltonian H and the utility function u satisfy

$$\begin{split} u(c,i,a,k,p) \leq & H(a,k,p,q_a,q_k) \\ & -q_a(-c-pi+F(k,p))-q_k(i+g(k,p)), \end{split}$$

where equality holds if and only if

$$\begin{cases} H_{q_a}(a, k, p, q_a, q_k) = -c - pi + F(k, p), \\ H_{q_k}(a, k, p, q_a, q_k) = i + g(k, p), \end{cases}$$
(5.19)

or, equivalently,

$$\begin{cases} D_c u(c, i, a, k, p) = q_a, \\ D_i u(c, i, a, k, p) = q_a p - q_k. \end{cases}$$
(5.20)

In addition, the derivatives of H and u satisfy the following relation:

$$\begin{cases} H_a(a,k,p,q_a,q_k) = D_a u(c,i,a,k,p), \\ H_k(a,k,p,q_a,q_k) = D_k u(c,i,a,k,p) + q_a D_k F(k,p) + q_k D_k g(k,p). \end{cases}$$
(5.21)

Let p_s be given, and (a_s, k_s) solve (5.17). In addition, let (c_s, i_s) be defined by (5.18). Since we assume that u is non-decreasing in c, we have that

$$q_{as}^* = D_c u(c_s^*, i_s^*, a_s^*, k_s^*, p_s) \ge 0.$$
Regarding the variable q_{ks}^* , because of (5.17) and (5.21), we have that

$$-\dot{q}_s = (D_k g(k_s^*, p_s) - \alpha) q_s + D_k u(c_s^*, i_s^*, a_s^*, k_s^*, p_s) + q_{as}^* D_k F(k_s^*, p_s).$$

Because $D_k u(c_s^*, i_s^*, a_s^*, k_s^*, p_s)$, $D_k F(k_s^*, p_s)$, and $q_{as}^* \ge 0$, Lemma 5.4.1 yields

$$q_{ks}^* \ge 0$$
, for $s \in [0,T]$.

Furthermore, the concavity of u yields

$$\begin{split} &\int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_{s}, i_{s}, a_{s}, k_{s}, p_{s}) ds - \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_{s}^{*}, i_{s}^{*}, a_{s}^{*}, k_{s}^{*}, p_{s}) ds \\ &\leq \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} (D_{c}u(\ldots^{*})(c_{s} - c_{s}^{*}) + D_{i}u(\ldots^{*})(i_{s} - i_{s}^{*}) \\ &+ D_{a}u(\ldots^{*})(a_{s} - a_{s}^{*}) + D_{k}u(\ldots^{*})(k_{s} - k_{s}^{*})) ds \\ &= \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} (q_{as}^{*}(c_{s} - c_{s}^{*}) + (q_{as}^{*}p_{s} - q_{ks}^{*})(i_{s} - i_{s}^{*}) \\ &+ (H_{k}(\ldots^{*}) - q_{as}^{*}D_{k}F(k_{s}^{*}, p_{s}) - q_{ks}^{*}D_{k}g(k_{s}^{*}, p_{s}))(k_{s} - k_{s}^{*})) ds \\ &= \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} \left(q_{as}^{*}(c_{s} + i_{s}p_{s} - c_{s}^{*} - i_{s}^{*}p_{s} - D_{k}F(k_{s}^{*}, p_{s})(k_{s} - k_{s}^{*})) \right) \\ &- q_{ks}^{*}(i_{s} - i_{s}^{*} - D_{k}g(k_{s}^{*}, p_{s})) \\ &+ H_{a}(\ldots^{*})(a_{s} - a_{s}^{*}) + H_{k}(\ldots^{*})(k_{s} - k_{s}^{*}) \right) ds \end{split}$$

$$= \int_{t}^{\infty} -e^{-\alpha(s-t)} q_{as}^{*}(\dot{a}_{s}-\dot{a}_{s}^{*}) + \frac{d}{ds} \left(e^{-\alpha(s-t)} q_{as}^{*}\right) (a_{s}-a_{s}^{*})$$
$$-e^{-\alpha(s-t)} q_{ks}^{*}(i_{s}-i_{s}^{*}) + \frac{d}{ds} \left(e^{-\alpha(s-t)} q_{ks}^{*}\right) (k_{s}-k_{s}^{*}) ds$$
$$+ \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} q_{as}^{*}(F(k_{s},p_{s})-F(k_{s}^{*},p_{s})-D_{k}F(k_{s}^{*},p_{s})(k_{s}-k_{s}^{*}))$$
$$+ e^{-\alpha(s-t)} q_{ks}^{*}(g(k_{s},p_{s})-g(k_{s}^{*},p_{s})-D_{k}g(k_{s}^{*},p_{s})(k_{s}-k_{s}^{*})) ds$$
$$< 0.$$

The last inequality follows from a few elementary observations. Because of (5.17), and the matching initial and terminal conditions, the first integral vanishes. Moreover, the second integral is non-positive, due to the concavity of the production function F and the depreciation function g, combined with the inequalities q_{as}^* , $q_{ks}^* \ge 0$.

Remark 5.4.1. The variables (q_a, q_k) are called adjoint variables.

5.5 The Hamiltonian system and optimal trajectories

In the previous sections, we have shown that if the utility function u, the mixed production function F, and the depreciation function g are concave in the capital variable k, then the value function is monotone and concave. In addition, the solutions of the Pontryagin's maximum principle (or equivalently the Hamiltonian trajectories) are maximizers. Here, we show that the Hamiltonian system satisfies certain monotonicity conditions.

We consider the finite horizon problem without discount factor, to simplify the presentation.

In this case, the Hamiltonian system (5.17) takes the form

$$\begin{cases} \dot{a}_s = H_{q_a}(a_s, k_s, p_s, q_{as}, q_{ks}), \\ \dot{k}_s = H_{q_k}(a_s, k_s, p_s, q_{as}, q_{ks}), \\ \dot{q}_{as} = -H_a(a_s, k_s, p_s, q_{as}, q_{ks}), \\ \dot{q}_{ks} = -H_k(a_s, k_s, p_s, q_{as}, q_{ks}), \end{cases}$$

with initial conditions $a_0 = a(0)$, $k_0 = k(0)$ and terminal conditions $q_{aT} = q_a(T)$, $q_{kT} = q_k(T)$.

We introduce the operator

$$A \begin{bmatrix} q_a \\ q_k \\ a \\ k \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\dot{a}_s + H_{q_a}(a_s, k_s, p_s, q_{as}, q_{ks}) \\ -\dot{k}_s + H_{q_k}(a_s, k_s, p_s, q_{as}, q_{ks}) \\ -\dot{q}_{as} - H_a(a_s, k_s, p_s, q_{as}, q_{ks}) \\ -\dot{q}_{ks} - H_k(a_s, k_s, p_s, q_{as}, q_{ks}) \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (5.22)

We claim that this operator is monotone; let $\chi_i \doteq (q_{as}^i, q_{ks}^i, a_s^i, k_s^i)$, for i = 1, 2. An operator $A: H \to H$ is said to be monotone if:

$$\langle A\chi_1 - A\chi_2, \ \chi_1 - \chi_2 \rangle_H \ge 0,$$

for all trajectories $(q_{as}^1, q_{ks}^1, a_s^1, k_s^1)$ and $(q_{as}^2, q_{ks}^2, a_s^2, k_s^2)$ that satisfy the appropriate initial and terminal conditions and $q_{as}^1, q_{ks}^1, q_{as}^2, q_{ks}^2 \ge$ 0, where *H* is a Hilbert space and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_H$ is the inner product in *H*. For ease of notation, we drop the subscript *H* in what follows.

Proposition 5.5.1. Suppose that

i the utility function *u* is concave;

ii the production function F is concave and increasing in k;

iii the depreciation function g is concave in k.

Then, A given by (5.22) is a monotone operator.

Proof. Firstly, from Proposition 5.4.1 we have that $q_{as}^{1,2}$, $q_{ks}^{1,2} \ge 0$.

Furthermore,

$$\begin{split} \langle A\chi_{1} - A\chi_{2}, \ \chi_{1} - \chi_{2} \rangle & (5.23) \\ = \int_{0}^{T} (-\dot{a}_{s}^{1} + \dot{a}_{s}^{2})(q_{as}^{1} - q_{as}^{2}) + (-\dot{k}_{s}^{1} + \dot{k}_{s}^{1})(q_{ks}^{1} - q_{ks}^{2}) \\ &+ (-\dot{q}_{as}^{1} + \dot{q}_{as}^{2})(a_{s}^{1} - a_{s}^{2}) + (-\dot{q}_{ks}^{1} + \dot{q}_{ks}^{2})(k_{s}^{1} - k_{s}^{2})ds \\ &+ \int_{0}^{T} \left(H_{q_{a}}(a_{s}^{1}, k_{s}^{1}, p_{s}, q_{as}^{1}, q_{ks}^{2}) - H_{q_{a}}(a_{s}^{2}, k_{s}^{2}, p_{s}, q_{as}^{2}, q_{ks}^{2}) \right) (q_{as}^{1} - q_{as}^{2}) \\ &+ \left(H_{q_{k}}(a_{s}^{1}, k_{s}^{1}, p_{s}, q_{as}^{1}, q_{ks}^{2}) - H_{q_{k}}(a_{s}^{2}, k_{s}^{2}, p_{s}, q_{as}^{2}, q_{ks}^{2}) \right) (q_{ks}^{1} - q_{as}^{2}) \\ &+ \left(-D_{a}H(a_{s}^{1}, k_{s}^{1}, p_{s}, q_{as}^{1}, q_{ks}^{2}) + D_{a}H(a_{s}^{2}, k_{s}^{2}, p_{s}, q_{as}^{2}, q_{ks}^{2}) \right) (a_{s}^{1} - a_{s}^{2}) \\ &+ \left(-D_{k}H(a_{s}^{1}, k_{s}^{1}, p_{s}, q_{as}^{1}, q_{ks}^{2}) + D_{k}H(a_{s}^{2}, k_{s}^{2}, p_{s}, q_{as}^{2}, q_{ks}^{2}) \right) (k_{s}^{1} - k_{s}^{2})ds. \end{split}$$

For the first integral, note that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{T} (-\dot{a}_{s}^{1} + \dot{a}_{s}^{2})(q_{as}^{1} - q_{as}^{2}) + (-\dot{k}_{s}^{1} + \dot{k}_{s}^{1})(q_{ks}^{1} - q_{ks}^{2}) \\ &+ (-\dot{q}_{as}^{1} + \dot{q}_{as}^{2})(a_{s}^{1} - a_{s}^{2}) + (-\dot{q}_{ks}^{1} + \dot{q}_{ks}^{2})(k_{s}^{1} - k_{s}^{2})ds \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \frac{d}{ds} \left((-a_{s}^{1} + a_{s}^{2})(q_{as}^{1} - q_{as}^{2}) + (-k_{s}^{1} + k_{s}^{2})(q_{ks}^{1} - q_{ks}^{2}) \right) \\ &= 0, \end{split}$$

due to the initial and terminal conditions.

Next, we write the $\left(a,k,q_{a},q_{k}\right)$ variables in terms of the $\left(c,i,a,k\right)$

variables. For that, we use (5.19) and (5.21) in (5.23) and get that

$$\begin{split} \langle A\chi_1 - A\chi_2, \ \chi_1 - \chi_2 \rangle \\ &= \int_0^T \left(-c_s^1 - p_s i_s^1 + F(k_s^1, p_s) + c_s^2 + p_s i_s^2 - F(k_s^2, p_s) \right) (q_{as}^1 - q_{as}^2) \\ &+ \left(i_s^1 + g(k_s^1, p_s) - i_s^2 - g(k_s^2, p_s) \right) (q_{ks}^1 - q_{ks}^2) \\ &+ \left(-u_a(c_s^1, i_s^1, a_s^1, k_s^1, p_s) + u_a(c_s^2, i_s^2, a_s^2, k_s^2, p_s) \right) (a_s^1 - a_s^2) \\ &+ \left(-u_k(c_s^1, i_s^1, a_s^1, k_s^1, p_s) + u_k(c_s^2, i_s^2, a_s^2, k_s^2, p_s) \right) (k_s^1 - k_s^2) \\ &- \left(q_{as}^1 F_k(k_s^1, p_s) + q_{ks}^1 g_k(k_s^1, p_s) \right) (k_s^1 - k_s^2) \\ &+ \left(q_{as}^2 F_k(k_s^2, p_s) + q_{ks}^2 g_k(k_s^2, p_s) \right) (k_s^1 - k_s^2) ds. \end{split}$$

After rearranging the terms, and using the concavity of the functions F and g together with the positivity of $q_{as}^{1,2}$ and $q_{ks}^{1,2}$, we obtain the following inequality:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{T} -q_{as}^{1} \left(F(k_{s}^{2},p_{s})-F(k_{s}^{1},p_{s})-D_{k}F(k_{s}^{1},p_{s})(k_{s}^{2}-k_{s}^{1})\right) \\ &-q_{as}^{2} \left(F(k_{s}^{2},p_{s})-F(k_{s}^{2},p_{s})-D_{k}F(k_{s}^{2},p_{s})(k_{s}^{1}-k_{s}^{2})\right) \\ &-q_{ks}^{1} \left(g(k_{s}^{2},p_{s})-g(k_{s}^{1},p_{s})-D_{k}g(k_{s}^{1},p_{s})(k_{s}^{2}-k_{s}^{1})\right) \\ &-q_{ks}^{2} \left(g(k_{s}^{1},p_{s})-g(k_{s}^{2},p_{s})-D_{k}g(k_{s}^{2},p_{s})(k_{s}^{1}-k_{s}^{2})\right) \\ &-(q_{as}^{1}-q_{as}^{2})(c_{s}^{1}-c_{s}^{2})-(p_{s}q_{as}^{1}-q_{ks}^{1}-p_{s}q_{as}^{2}+q_{ks}^{2})(i_{s}^{1}-i_{s}^{2}) \\ &-(D_{a}u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1},p_{s})-D_{a}u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2},p_{s})) \left(a_{s}^{1}-a_{s}^{2}\right) \\ &-(D_{k}u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1},p_{s})-D_{k}u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2},p_{s})) \left(k_{s}^{1}-k_{s}^{2}\right) ds \\ \geq \int_{0}^{T} -(q_{as}^{1}-q_{as}^{2})(c_{s}^{1}-c_{s}^{2})-(p_{s}q_{as}^{1}-q_{ks}^{1}-p_{s}q_{as}^{2}+q_{ks}^{2})(i_{s}^{1}-i_{s}^{2}) \\ &-(D_{a}u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1},p_{s})-D_{a}u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2},p_{s})) \left(a_{s}^{1}-a_{s}^{2}\right) \\ &-(D_{a}u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1},p_{s})-D_{a}u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2},p_{s})) \left(a_{s}^{1}-a_{s}^{2}\right) \\ &-(D_{k}u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1},p_{s})-D_{k}u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2},p_{s})) \left(a_{s}^{1}-a_{s}^{2}\right) \\ &-(D_{k}u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1},p_{s})-D_{a}u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2},p_{s})) \left(a_{s}^{1}-a_{s}^{2}\right) \\ &-(D_{k}u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1},p_{s})-D_{k}u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2},p_{s})\right) \left(a_{s}^{1}-a_{s}^{2}\right) \\ &-(D_{k}u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1},p_{s})-D_{k}u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2},p_{s})\right) \left(a_{s}^{1}-k_{s}^{2}\right) ds. \end{split}$$

By (5.20), the previous expression yields

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{T} - \left(D_{c}u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1},p_{s}) - D_{c}u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2},p_{s}) \right) (c_{s}^{1} - c_{s}^{2}) - \\ &- \left(D_{i}u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1},p_{s}) - D_{i}u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2},p_{s}) \right) (i_{s}^{1} - i_{s}^{2}) \\ &- \left(D_{a}u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1},p_{s}) - D_{a}u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2},p_{s}) \right) (a_{s}^{1} - a_{s}^{2}) \\ &- \left(D_{k}u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1},p_{s}) - D_{k}u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2},p_{s}) \right) (a_{s}^{1} - a_{s}^{2}) \\ &- \left(D_{k}u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1},p_{s}) - D_{k}u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2},p_{s}) \right) (k_{s}^{1} - k_{s}^{2}) ds \\ &\geq 0, \end{split}$$

due to the concavity of u. Thus, we have

$$\langle A\chi_1 - A\chi_2, \ \chi_1 - \chi_2 \rangle \ge 0,$$

which finishes the proof.

Remark 5.5.1. Furthermore, let u be uniformly concave, i.e., the inequality

$$\begin{split} & u(c^1, i^1, a^1, k^1, p) - u(c^2, i^2, a^2, k^2, p) \\ & - Du(c^2, i^2, a^2, k_2, p) \cdot (c^1 - c^2, i^1 - i^2, a^1 - a^2, k^1 - k^2) \\ & \leq -C \| (c^1 - c^2, i^1 - i^2, a_1 - a^2, k^1 - k^2) \|^2, \end{split}$$

holds for all $c^{1,2}$, $i^{1,2}$, $a^{1,2}$, $k^{1,2}$, where C > 0 is some constant. Then, we obtain a stronger inequality:

$$\langle A\chi_1 - A\chi_2, \, \chi_1 - \chi_2 \rangle$$

$$\geq C \int_0^T (c_s^1 - c_s^2)^2 + (i_s^1 - i_s^2)^2 + (a_s^1 - a_s^2)^2 + (k_s^1 - k_s^2)^2 ds.$$
(5.24)

If u is strictly concave, (5.24) yields

$$\langle A\chi_1 - A\chi_2, \, \chi_1 - \chi_2 \rangle > 0,$$

if $\chi_1 \neq \chi_2$.

As we show in the next corollary, this inequality allows us to prove the uniqueness of the optimal trajectories.

Corollary 5.5.1. Suppose that

i the utility function *u* is strictly concave;

- ii the production function F is concave and increasing in k;
- iii the depreciation function g is concave in k.

Then, there exists at most one optimal trajectory

$$\chi_s = (q_{as}, q_{ks}, a_s, k_s).$$

Proof. Suppose there are two optimal trajectories:

$$\chi_1 = (q_{as}^1, q_{ks}^1, a_s^1, k_s^1)$$

and

$$\chi_2 = (q_{as}^2, q_{ks}^2, a_s^2, k_s^2)$$

with the same initial-terminal conditions but $\chi_1 \neq \chi_2$. Then,

$$A\chi_1 = A\chi_2 = 0.$$

Hence,

$$\langle A\chi_1 - A\chi_2, \ \chi_1 - \chi_2 \rangle = 0$$

which is a contradiction, so the optimal trajectory is unique.

Theorem 5.5.1. For arbitrary initial consumption and capital level, there exists a unique investment and consumption plan that maximizes the objective functional in (4.3).

Consequently, from the classical optimal control theory, the value function is differentiable. Therefore, it solves the Hamilton-Jacobi equation in the classical sense.

Theorem 5.5.2. The value function V defined by (4.3) is of class C^1 and solves the Hamilton-Jacobi equation (4.4) in the classical sense.

Proof. Since the optimal trajectories are unique for every initial consumption and capital level, we obtain that the value function is differentiable at all points. Hence, it satisfies the Hamilton-Jacobi equation in the classical sense rather than in the viscosity sense. Furthermore, since V is concave in (a, k) variables, it is continuously differentiable in (a, k) and the Hamilton-Jacobi equation yields that it is also continuously differentiable in the time variable t.

5.6 N-agent approximation

Here, we examine the case of an economy with N-players. Then, the initial distribution of the agents has the form

$$\rho_0 = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{l=1}^{N} \delta_{(a^l, k^l)}, \qquad (5.25)$$

where (a^l, k^l) are the initial consumer and capital goods levels for each of the agents, $l = 1, 2, \dots, N$. According to our earlier analysis, if the price p_s is given, then under suitable conditions on the utility function u, production function F and depreciation function g, there exists a unique evolution ρ_s that satisfies the mean-field game equation (4.10).

If the initial distribution ρ_0 of is an average of N point masses, it is not clear whether or not ρ_s preserves this configuration for the future times, $s > t_0$. Heuristically, this means that the agents "do not split". This is natural because an agent cannot use two different strategies at the same time.

Our aim, in this section, is to suggest a way to construct such a solution. Fix a price evolution p_s . For every agent $l \in \{1, 2, \dots, N\}$, consider the Hamiltonian system

$$\begin{cases}
\dot{a}_{s}^{l} = H_{q_{a}}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, p_{s}, q_{as}^{l}, q_{ks}^{l}), \\
\dot{k}_{s}^{l} = H_{q_{k}}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, p_{s}, q_{as}^{l}, q_{ks}^{l}), \\
-\frac{d}{ds}\left(e^{-\alpha(s-t)}q_{as}^{l}\right) = e^{-\alpha(s-t)}H_{a}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, p_{s}, q_{as}^{l}, q_{ks}^{l}), \\
-\frac{d}{ds}\left(e^{-\alpha(s-t)}q_{ks}^{l}\right) = e^{-\alpha(s-t)}H_{k}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, p_{s}, q_{as}^{l}, q_{ks}^{l}),
\end{cases}$$
(5.26)

together with initial-terminal conditions

$$\begin{cases} a_t^l = a^l, \\ k_t^l = k^l, \\ q_{aT}^l = 0, \\ q_{aT}^l = 0. \end{cases}$$

As we have shown earlier, this system possesses a unique solution. Moreover, we have the following identities:

$$q_{as}^{l} = V_{a}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, s), \quad q_{ks}^{l} = V_{k}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, s).$$

Next, we construct a solution to (4.10).

Proposition 5.6.1. Let $(a^l, k^l) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, $l = 1, 2, \dots, N$, be any initial consumption and capital goods levels and assume that ρ_0 is defined as in (5.25). Furthermore, suppose that (a^l_s, k^l_s) is the unique solution of the system (5.26). Define ρ_s as

$$\rho_s = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{l=1}^N \delta_{(a_s^l, k_s^l)}.$$

Then, the couple (V, ρ) solves (4.10).

Proof. The second equation in (4.10) is a transport equation with velocity field $(V_a(a, k, s), V_k(a, k, s))$. Since the transport equation is linear in the measure ρ , to prove that ρ_s , defined by (5.26), solves the transport equation, we just need to verify that ρ_s^l , given by

$$\rho_s^l = \delta_{(a_s^l, k_s^l)},$$

solves the transport equation for all $l \in \{1, 2, \dots, N\}$. The trajectory (a_s^l, k_s^l) satisfies the ODE

$$\begin{cases} \dot{a}_{s}^{l} = H_{q_{a}}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, p_{s}, V_{a}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, s), V_{a}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, s)) \\ \dot{k}_{s}^{l} = H_{q_{k}}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, p_{s}, V_{a}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, s), V_{a}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, s)) \end{cases}$$

Hence, ρ_s^l satisfies the transport equation (see Section 2.2) and the proof is complete.

All our previous analysis was based on the assumption that the price evolution p_s is given. To find the price p_s , we proceed as follows. We fix an arbitrary *smooth* evolution p_s of the price. Let the trajectories (a_s^l, k_s^l) be defined as in Proposition 5.6.1. Suppose \tilde{p}_s is such that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{N} i_{s}^{l} = \sum_{l=1}^{N} \Xi(k_{s}^{l}, \tilde{p}_{s}), \qquad (5.27)$$

where the control i_s^l is defined in the feedback form (4.6).

If $p_s = \tilde{p}_s$, then we have an existence result for the mean-field system (4.10), where we also prove the existence of the equilibrium price. Hence, the problem reduces to find a fixed point for the mapping

$$p_s \longrightarrow \tilde{p}_s.$$

Let us find a different form of the equation (5.27) to demonstrate the dependence of p_s of the left-hand side. We have

$$\sum_{l=1}^N i_s^l = \sum_{l=1}^N \Xi(k_s^l, \tilde{p}_s).$$

Note that

$$i_{s}^{l} = \dot{k}_{s}^{l} - g(k_{s}^{l}, p_{s})$$

= $H_{q_{k}}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, V_{a}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, s), V_{k}(a_{s}^{l}, k_{s}^{l}, s), p_{s}) - g(k_{s}^{l}, p_{s}).$

Hence,

$$\sum_{l=1}^{N} \left(H_{q_k}(a_s^l, k_s^l, V_a(a_s^l, k_s^l, s), V_k(a_s^l, k_s^l, s), p_s) - g(k_s^l, p_s) \right) = \sum_{l=1}^{N} \Xi(k_s^l, \tilde{p}_s).$$

Bibliographical notes For an account of the optimal control theory, we refer the reader to [126]. An introduction to the optimal control theory, targeting an undergraduate audience, can be found in the notes [57], by L. C. Evans.

The connection between deterministic optimal control and the theory of viscosity solutions of first-order Hamilton-Jacobi equations can be found in [17], [66] and [69].

Part II Stochastic models

6

Second order MFG

6.1 Hamilton-Jacobi and Fokker-Plank equations

Before we proceed to the study of second order mean-field games, we put forward some preliminary material. In this section, we generalize several notions from the setting of deterministic optimal control to the stochastic setting. We start by addressing the Hamilton-Jacobi equation.

6.1.1 Hamilton-Jacobi equation

Consider a single agent whose state is determined by a point $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. This agent can change its state by applying a control $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$. However, the agents are subject to independent random forces that are modeled by a white noise. To make matters precise, fix T > 0 and a filtered probability space, $\mathcal{P} = (\Omega, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{0 \le t \le T}, P)$, supporting a d-dimensional Brownian motion W_t . We also refer to \mathcal{P} as a stochastic basis. Let $\sigma > 0$. In this simplified model, the trajectory of the agent is given by the stochastic differential equation (SDE)

$$\begin{cases} d\mathbf{x}_t = \mathbf{v}_t dt + \sigma dW_t, \\ \mathbf{x}_{t_0} = \mathbf{x}, \end{cases}$$
(6.1)

where **v** is a progressively measurable control with respect to the filtration \mathcal{F}_t , or simply \mathcal{F}_t -progressively measurable. That is, for each $0 \leq s \leq t$, the map $(s, \omega) \mapsto \mathbf{v}(s, \omega)$ is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{B}([t_0, t]) \times \mathcal{F}_t$.

Consider a Lagrangian $L : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$. By selecting the control v in a progressively measurable way, the agent seeks to maximize a functional cost given by

$$J(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}; t) = \mathbb{E}^{\mathbf{x}} \left[\int_{t}^{T} L(\mathbf{x}_{s}, \mathbf{v}_{s}; m) ds + \Psi(\mathbf{x}_{T}) \right], \qquad (6.2)$$

where *m* represents a quantity to be made precise later. In (6.2), \mathbb{E}^x denotes the expectation operator, given that $\mathbf{x}_t = \mathbf{x}$. Furthermore, $\Psi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is the terminal cost of the system.

The Legendre transform of L is

$$H(x,p;m) = \sup_{v \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left(p \cdot v + L(x,v;m) \right).$$
(6.3)

We are interested in the value function of this problem, u, which is determined by

$$u(x,t) = \sup_{\mathbf{v}} J(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}; t).$$

The function $u : \mathbb{R}^d \times [t_0, T] \to \mathbb{R}$ is called the value function associated with the (stochastic) optimal control problem (6.1)-(6.2). It is well known that if the value function u is regular enough (i.e., twice differentiable with respect to x and differentiable with respect to t), it is a solution of

$$u_t(x,t) + H(x, Du(x,t);m) + \frac{\operatorname{Tr} \sigma^T \sigma D^2 u(x,t)}{2} = 0, \qquad (6.4)$$

equipped with the terminal condition

$$u(x,T) = \Psi(x). \tag{6.5}$$

In fact, the regularity requirement can be substantially relaxed: it is known that a viscosity solution of (6.4)-(6.5) is indeed the value function of the control problem described by (6.1)-(6.2). See [66].

In addition, the optimal control \mathbf{v}^* is given in feedback form by

$$\mathbf{v}^* = H_p(x, Du(x, t); m).$$

The previous discussion can be made rigorous by means of a Verification Theorem. Before we proceed, we define the infinitesimal generator and state the Dynikin's formula.

Definition 6.1.1 (Infinitesimal generator). Let X_t be a Markov process, adapted to a fixed stochastic basis. The infinitesimal generator of the stochastic process X_t is the operator A, defined by

$$Af(x_0, t_0) \doteq \lim_{t \downarrow t_0} \frac{\mathbb{E}^{x(t_0) = x_0} \left(f(X_t, t) \right) - f(x_0, t_0)}{t - t_0}.$$
 (6.6)

The set of functions f, for which the limit in (6.6) exists and is finite for all x, is called the domain of A and is denoted by $\mathcal{D}(A)$.

Example 6.1.1 (Diffusion process). Consider the following SDE:

$$d\mathbf{x}_s = h(\mathbf{x}_s, \mathbf{v}_s, s)ds + \sigma(\mathbf{x}_s, \mathbf{v}_s, s)dW_s, \tag{6.7}$$

where h and σ are given functions satisfying some growth and regularity conditions. Assume that \mathbf{v}_s is a Markovian control. Then, (6.7) is called a Markov diffusion. In this case, $A^{\mathbf{v}}$ is given by

$$A^{\mathbf{v}}f(x,t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}f(x,t) + h \cdot f_x(x,t) + \frac{\operatorname{Tr} \sigma^T \sigma D^2 f(x,t)}{2}$$

Before we state and prove a Verification Theorem, we present the Dynkin's formula.

Proposition 6.1.1 (Dynkin's formula). Let \mathbf{x}_s be a Markov diffusion with infinitesimal generator A. Assume that $\mathbf{x}_{t_0} = \mathbf{x}$. If $f \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, then,

$$\mathbb{E}^{(x,t_0)}(f(x_t,t)) - f(x,t_0) = \mathbb{E}^{(x,t_0)}\left(\int_{t_0}^t Af(x_s,s)ds\right),$$

for every $t \geq t_0$.

For a proof of Proposition 6.1.1, we refer the reader to [66]. Now, we proceed to the Verification Theorem.

EQUATIONS

Theorem 6.1.1 (Verification Theorem). Let w be a solution of (6.4) with the terminal condition (6.5). Assume that w is differentiable with respect to the time variable and twice differentiable with respect to the space variable. Then, $w \ge u$. In addition, if the there exists \mathbf{v}^* such that

$$\mathbf{v}^* \in \operatorname{argmax}\left[A^{\mathbf{v}}w(\mathbf{x}_s^*, s) + L(\mathbf{x}_s^*, \mathbf{v}_s; m)\right],$$

we have w = u.

Proof. By applying the Dynkin's formula to w, we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}^{(x,t)}\left(w(x_T,T)\right) - w(x,t) = \mathbb{E}^{(x,t)}\left(\int_t^T A^v x(x_s,s)ds\right)$$

Therefore:

$$-w(x,t) = \mathbb{E}^{(x,t)} \left(\int_{t}^{T} w_{t} + \mathbf{v} \cdot D_{x}w + \frac{\operatorname{Tr} \sigma^{T} \sigma D_{x}^{2}w}{2} ds + u(x_{T},T) \right)$$

$$\leq \mathbb{E}^{(x,t)} \left(\int_{t}^{T} w_{t} + H + \frac{\operatorname{Tr} \sigma^{T} \sigma D_{x}^{2}w}{2} - Lds + u(x_{T},T) \right),$$
(6.8)

where the inequality follows from the definition of H, in (6.3). Because w solves (6.4), (6.8) implies $w \ge u$.

Moreover, if there exists

$$\mathbf{v}^* \in \operatorname{argmax}\left[A^{\mathbf{v}}w(\mathbf{x}^*_s,s) + L(\mathbf{x}^*_s,\mathbf{v}_s;m)\right],$$

the inequality in (6.8) becomes an equality, that yields w = u.

6.1.2 Fokker-Planck equation

In this section, we examine the Fokker-Planck equation. Consider a population of agents whose state is $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Assume further that the state of each agent in the population is governed by the stochastic differential equation in (6.1). Under the assumption of uncorrelated noise, the evolution of the population's density is determined by a

Fokker-Planck equation. To discuss the derivation of this equation, we depend once more on the notion of infinitesimal generator of a (Markov) process.

Let A be the generator of a Markov process \mathbf{x}_t . The formal adjoint of A, denoted by A^* , acts on functions in a suitable regularity class and is determined by the identity

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(x) Af(x) dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(x) A^* \phi(x) dx,$$

for every $\phi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$.

Example 6.1.2 (Markov diffusions). The infinitesimal generator of a Markov diffusion is given in Example 6.1.1. It is:

$$A^{\mathbf{v}}[f](x,t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}f(x,t) + h \cdot f_x(x,t) + \frac{\operatorname{Tr} \sigma^T \sigma D_x^2 f}{2}$$

Therefore, A^* is given by

$$(A^{\mathbf{v}})^*[m] = -\frac{\partial}{\partial t}m - \operatorname{div}(hm) + \frac{\left(\left(\sigma^T \sigma\right)_{i,j} m\right)_{x_i x_j}}{2}$$

A fundamental result (see, for example, [13]) states that the evolution of the population's density, given an initial configuration m_0 , is described by the equation:

$$\begin{cases} A^*[m](x,t) = 0, \\ m(x,t_0) = m_0(x). \end{cases}$$
(6.9)

Example 6.1.2 builds upon (6.9) to yield the Fokker-Planck equation

$$m_t(x,t) + \operatorname{div}(hm(x,t)) = \frac{\left(\left(\sigma^T \sigma\right)_{i,j} m(x,t)\right)_{x_i x_j}}{2}.$$
 (6.10)

6.2 Second-order mean-field games

Here, we combine several elements from Section 6.1 to derive a model second-order mean-field game system.

Consider a large population of agents whose state $\mathbf{x}_t \in \mathbb{R}^d$ is governed by (6.1). Assume further that each agent in this population faces the same optimization problem, given by (6.2). The Verification Theorem 6.1.1 shows that the solution of the Hamilton-Jacobi equation (6.4) is the value function. Moreover, the optimal control \mathbf{v}^* is given in feedback form by

$$\mathbf{v}_t^* = H_p(\mathbf{x}, Du(\mathbf{x}, t); m).$$

On the other hand, the agents' population evolves according to (6.10). By setting $h \equiv \mathbf{v}$, we obtain

$$m_t(x,t) + \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}m(x,t)) = \frac{\left(\left(\sigma^T\sigma\right)_{i,j}m(x,t)\right)_{x_ix_j}}{2}.$$

Under the assumption of rationality of the agents, the population is driven by the optimal control \mathbf{v}^* ; hence, it evolves according to

$$m_t(x,t) + \operatorname{div}(H_p(x,Du;m)m(x,t)) = \frac{\left(\left(\sigma^T \sigma\right)_{i,j} m(x,t)\right)_{x_i x_j}}{2}.$$

Therefore, the MFG system associated with (6.1)-(6.2) is:

$$\begin{cases} u_t + H(x, Du; m) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \sigma^T \sigma D^2 u = 0, & (x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times [t_0, T) \\ m_t + \operatorname{div}(H_p(x, Du; m)m) = \frac{\left(\left(\sigma^T \sigma \right)_{i,j} m \right)_{x_i x_j}}{2}, & (x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times (t_0, T], \end{cases}$$

equipped with the initial-terminal conditions

$$\begin{cases} u(x,T) = u_T(x), \\ m(x,t_0) = m_0(x) \end{cases}$$

6.3 The non-linear adjoint method

Consider a (non-linear) differential operator $\mathcal{G}:Y\to Y$ and the corresponding homogeneous equation

$$\mathcal{G}[u](x) = 0. \tag{6.11}$$

It is possible to associate with (6.11) a linear equation that encodes important information about the solutions of (6.11). We start by considering then the linearized operator G of \mathcal{G} , determined by

$$\lim_{\|h\|_{Y}\to 0} \frac{\|\mathcal{G}(f+h) - \mathcal{G}(f) - G(f)h\|_{Y}}{\|h\|_{Y}} = 0,$$

and take its formal adjoint, in the L^2 sense:

$$\int \phi(x) G[v](x) dx = \int v(v) G^*[\phi](x).$$

The equation

$$G^*[m](x) = 0$$

is called the *adjoint* equation to (6.11), and m is called the adjoint variable. In what follows, we consider specific operators \mathcal{G} and produce a few elementary results that illustrate the adjoint methods.

Set

$$\mathcal{G}[u](x,t) \doteq u_t + H(x,Du) + \Delta u$$

where H = H(x, p); i.e., \mathcal{G} is the operator associated with the Hamilton-Jacobi equation (6.4). The adjoint equation is

$$m_t + \operatorname{div}(H_p(x, Du)m) = \Delta m. \tag{6.12}$$

Observe that the adjoint equation has maximum principle and preserves mass.

In the sequel, we equip (6.12) with appropriate initial conditions. This choice is arbitrary and motivated by the amount of information we can extract. We start by fixing an initial time $\tau \in [t_0, T)$ and a point x_0 in \mathbb{R}^d . Then, set

$$m(x,\tau) = \delta_{x_0}(x), \tag{6.13}$$

where $\delta_{x_0}(x)$ is the Dirac delta centered at x_0 . The aforementioned choice leads to the next lemma.

Lemma 6.3.1 (Representation formula for u). Let u be a solution of (6.4)-(6.5). Assume that m solves the adjoint equation (6.12) with

initial condition (6.13). Then

$$u(x,t) = \int_{\tau}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(H(x, Du) - H_{p}(x, Du) \cdot Du \right) m dx$$
$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} u_{T}(x) m(x, T) dx.$$

Proof. Multiply (6.4) by -m, (6.12) by u, sum them and integrate by parts to obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} um dx = \int_{\tau}^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(H(x, Du) - H_p(x, Du) \cdot Du \right) m dx.$$

By integrating with respect to t, we get:

$$u(x_0,\tau) = \int_{\tau}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(H(x,Du) - H_p(x,Du) \cdot Du \right) m dx$$
$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u_T(x) m(x,T) dx.$$

Since x_0 and τ are chosen arbitrary, the former computation finishes the proof.

Similar ideas yield a representation formula for the directional derivatives of the value function u.

Lemma 6.3.2 (Representation formula for u_{ξ}). Let u be a solution of (6.4)-(6.5). Assume that m solves the adjoint equation (6.12) with initial condition (6.13). Fix a direction ξ in \mathbb{R}^d . Then

$$u_{\xi}(x,t) = \int_{\tau}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_{\xi}(x,Du) dx dt + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (u_T)_{\xi}(x) m(x,T) dx$$

Proof. Differentiate (6.4) in the ξ direction and multiply it by m. Then, multiply (6.12) by u_{ξ} , sum them and integrate by parts to get:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}u_{\xi}(x,t)m(x,t)dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d}H_{\xi}(x,Du)m(x,t)dx.$$

Integrating the former equality with respect to t and noticing that x_0 and t are arbitrary, we obtain the result.

Lemmas 6.3.1 and 6.3.2 give information about the values of u and u_{ξ} in a given point of the domain. These are determined by two quantities; the contribution of the energy H and an average of the terminal condition that depends, through m(x,T), on the points of interest.

Next, we show that, under general assumptions on H, we can get uniform upper bounds for the solutions of (6.4).

Corollary 6.3.1 (Upper bounds for u). Let u be a solution of (6.4)-(6.5). Assume that m solves the adjoint equation (6.12) with initial condition (6.13). Assume further that there exists C > 0 so that

$$H - H_p \cdot p \le -C - CH. \tag{6.14}$$

Hence,

$$u(x,t) \le \|u_T\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \times [t_0,T])}$$

for every $(x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times [t_0,T]$.

Proof. It follows from Lemma 6.3.1, by using (6.14) and taking the supremum in the right-hand side of the representation formula.

We conclude this section with a corollary about the Lipschitz regularity of the value function u. To simplify the presentation, we assume that H_x is uniformly bounded, i.e., there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|H_x(x,p)| \le C.$$

Corollary 6.3.2 (Lipschitz regularity for u). Let u be a solution of (6.4)-(6.5). Assume that m solves the adjoint equation (6.12) with initial condition (6.13). Assume further that there exists C > 0 so that

$$|H_x(x,p)| \le C. \tag{6.15}$$

Hence,

$$Du \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \times [t_0, T]).$$

Proof. Lemma 6.3.2 yields:

$$u_{\xi}(x,t) = \int_{\tau}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_x(x,Du) dx dt + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (u_T)_{\xi}(x) m(x,T) dx;$$

take absolute values on both sides of the previous equality and use (6.15) to conclude the proof.

6.3.1 The adjoint structure of the MFG systems

A large collection of mean-field games enjoy an adjoint structure. That is, the Fokker-Planck equation is the adjoint of the linearized Hamilton-Jacobi equation. The system (6.2) is an important example where this holds. This fact has numerous consequences concerning the regularity of the solutions. However, the models in Chapter 4 and in the next chapter do not have this adjoint structure. In this particular case, however, by assuming a death rate for the population to be equal to the discount rate, the adjoint structure can be recovered.

The adjoint structure can also be regarded as a reflexion on the model of the rational expectations hypothesis as it means that the evolution of the distribution of the players is determined by the optimal feedback of the control problem each player faces.

Bibliographical notes Second-order mean-field games first appeared in the works of J.-M. Lasry and P.-L. Lions [119, 120]. Substantial material concerning these models can be found in the video-lectures by P.-L. Lions, [124, 125]. The notes by P. Cardaliaguet, [42] contain several results, explained in detail. For instance, the proof of existence of solutions based on Schauder's fixed point Theorem.

Smooth solutions for time-dependent, second-order MFG are studied in [45], for purely quadratic Hamiltonians. See also [46]. The quadratic case can be studied through a generalized Hopf-Cole transformation. However, general Hamiltonians require distinct techniques and are considered in [82, 81]. Systems with logarithmic nonlinearities are investigated in [78]. Additional results on regularity of solutions are reported in [79, 80]. The stationary case is first investigated in [118, 120], where weak solutions are discussed. Classical solutions for stationary second-order mean-field games are established in [77] and [85]. Recent developments are reported in [140]. Related problems are considered in [83] and [71]. The regularity theory for multi-population MFG is developed in [54].

For the adjoint method, we refer the reader to the original paper by L. C. Evans [59] as well as [151]. Further applications can be found in [37], [61], [38], [39], [36]. For applications of the adjoint methods to the MFG theory, see, for instance, [85], [77], [81] and [78].

7

Economic growth and MFG - stochastic setting

In the previous part of this book, we considered models where the states of the agents are deterministic. More realistic models of economic growth must include stochastic effects. These can be independent white noises, affecting each of the individual agents, or systemic effects. Here, we address the case of independent noise and revisit the models introduced in Chapter 4.

To make presentation simpler, we fix a filtered probability space $(\Omega, \{\mathcal{F}_s\}_{s \geq t_0}, P)$ throughout this chapter. We assume that all random quantities are adapted to $\{\mathcal{F}_s\}_{s \geq t_0}$. In addition, when a particular control process is said to be progressively measurable, we mean that it is progressively measurable with respect to $\{\mathcal{F}_s\}_{s \geq t_0}$.

7.1 A stochastic growth model with heterogeneous agents

We begin by revisiting the growth problem introduced in Section 4.1. We recall this model addresses the wealth and capital accumulation problems with a capital-dependent production. Here, the microeconomic states, macroeconomic variables, and the constitutive relations of the economy remain unchanged. The difference, in this section, is that each agent is affected by a white noise that is independent from the ones of the other agents.

Microeconomic agents At each instant t, a microeconomic agent is characterized by her level of consumer goods, a_t , and stock of capital, k_t .

Microeconomic actions (controls) We assume that each of the agents, at every instant t, controls her consumption and investment levels, c_t and i_t , respectively; these controls are progressively measurable processes.

Microeconomic dynamics In the present model, the evolution of the state variables of a typical agent is governed by two stochastic differential equations. The stock of consumer goods and the stock of capital are driven by

$$da_{t} = (-c_{t} - p_{t}i_{t} + F(k_{t}, p_{t}))dt + \sigma_{a}dB_{t}^{a},$$
(7.1)

and

$$dk_t = (g(k_t, p_t) + i_t) dt + \sigma_k dB_t^k,$$
(7.2)

where B^a and B^k are adapted Brownian motions. We assume that distinct agents are affected by independent Brownian motions.

Macroeconomic variables The only macroeconomic variable of the model is the price level, p_t . This is a deterministic quantity in the model.

Constitutive relations The economy is provided with two constitutive relations, as discussed in Section 4.1. The first one is given by the production function, F(k, p). The second one is determined by the depreciation function, g = g(k, p).

Microeconomic preferences As before, agents in the economy face choices about their consumption and investment levels, and have preferences over their stocks of consumer goods and capital, and the price level of the economy. We assume that those preferences are represented by an instantaneous utility function $u = u(c_t, i_t, a_t, k_t, p_t)$. In this case, agents seek to maximize the expectation of the intertemporal utility functional

$$V(a,k,t) = \sup_{c_t,i_t} \mathbb{E}^{(a,k,t)} \int_t^\infty e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s, p_s) ds, \quad (7.3)$$

where $\mathbb{E}^{(a,k,t)}$ is the conditional expectation operator on $a_t = a$, $k_t = k$, the parameter $\alpha > 0$ is a discount rate, and we maximize with respect to all bounded progressively measurable controls (c_t, i_t) .

Optimal control problem Each agent in the economy has an optimal control problem. The function V(a, k, t), defined in (7.3), is called the value function.

If V has enough regularity, i.e., it is of class C^2 in the space variable and of class C^1 in the time variable, it solves the following Hamilton-Jacobi equation:

$$V_t - \alpha V + H(a, k, p, V_a, V_k) + \frac{\sigma_a^2}{2} \Delta_a V + \frac{\sigma_k^2}{2} \Delta_k V = 0, \qquad (7.4)$$

where the Hamiltonian H is defined by:

$$H(a,k,p,V_a,V_k) = \sup_{c,i} \left((-c - pi + F)V_a + (g+i)V_k + u \right).$$
(7.5)

Moreover, the optimal controls c_t^* and i_t^* can be determined in feedback form $c_t^* = c^*(a_t, k_t, t)$, $i_t^* = i^*(a, k, t)$ from the equations

$$\begin{cases} H_{q_a}(a,k,p_t,V_a(a,k,t),V_k(a,k,t)) \\ = -c^*(a,k,t) - p_t i^*(a,k,t) + F(k,p_t), \\ H_{q_k}(a,k,p_t,V_a(a,k,t),V_k(a,k,t)) = g(k,p_t) + i^*(a,k,t), \end{cases}$$
(7.6)

where $H = H(a, k, p, q_a, q_k)$ is given by (7.5).

Evolution of the agents' population As in the first-order case, we proceed by investigating the evolution of the agents' distribution in the space-state. In the stochastic setting, the agents' density is governed by a Fokker-Planck equation.

We assume that in (7.1)-(7.2) the controls are Markovian. This is the case for the optimal controls (c_t^*, i_t^*) . In what follows, we present the infinitesimal generator associated with the stochastic process (7.1)-(7.2). The infinitesimal generator is a linear operator acting on regular enough functions. In some cases, it is important to emphasize the dependence of the infinitesimal generator A on the controls; when this is the case, we write A^{c_t,i_t} .

To avoid unnecessary complications regarding the domain of A, we define it on the space of smooth functions with compact support. Let $f \in C_c^{\infty}$ and assume that c_t and i_t are Markovian controls, that is,

$$c_t = c(a_t, k_t)$$

and

$$i_t = i(a_t, k_t).$$

The infinitesimal generator A^{c_t,i_t} of the stochastic process (7.1)-(7.2) is:

$$A^{c,i}f(a,k) = (-c - pi + F)\frac{\partial f}{\partial a}(a,k) + (g+i)\frac{\partial f}{\partial k}(a,k) + \frac{\sigma_a^2}{2}\Delta_a f(a,k) + \frac{\sigma_k^2}{2}\Delta_k f(a,k).$$

The Fokker-Planck equation describing the evolution of the density ρ is given by

$$\rho_t(a,k,t) - (A^{c_t,i_t})^* \rho(a,k,t) = 0,$$

where A^* is the formal adjoint of A in the L^2 sense; i.e.,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left(A^* \rho(a,k,t) \right) \phi(a,k,t) dadk = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \rho(a,k,t) \left(A \phi(a,k,t) \right) dadk,$$

for every $\phi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^{2})$. Therefore,

$$\rho_t + ((-c - pi + F)\rho)_a + ((g + i)\rho)_k = \frac{\sigma_a^2}{2}\Delta_a\rho + \frac{\sigma_k^2}{2}\Delta_k\rho.$$
 (7.7)

Meanwhile, under the assumption of rationality, the agents act optimally, choosing the consumption and investment levels given by c_t^* and i_t^* , respectively. Therefore, (7.7) becomes

$$\rho_t + (H_{q_a}\rho)_a + (H_{q_k}\rho)_k = \frac{\sigma_a^2}{2}\Delta_a\rho + \frac{\sigma_k^2}{2}\Delta_k\rho.$$
 (7.8)

Equilibrium conditions The model is equipped with an equilibrium condition that ensures a balance between aggregate investment and the production of capital goods. This condition couples the optimization problem, (7.4), with the transport of the agents' density, (7.8).

The equilibrium condition is:

$$\int i^*(a,k,t)d\rho(a,k,t) = \int \Xi(k,p)d\rho(a,k,t),$$
(7.9)

for every t > 0, where $i^*(a, k, t)$ is determined by (7.6).

As in the deterministic case, (7.9) determines the price level of the economy, p_t . Finally, we notice that (7.9) is also a market-clearing condition for the economy.

Observe here that (7.9) is consistent with the assumption that p_t is deterministic, for it does not depend on any random quantities.

A mean field game model The coupling of (7.4) and (7.8) leads to the system:

$$\begin{cases} V_t - \alpha V + H(a,k,p,V_a,V_k) + \frac{\sigma_a^2}{2} \Delta_a V + \frac{\sigma_k^2}{2} \Delta_k V = 0, \\ \rho_t + (H_{q_a}\rho)_a + (H_{q_k}\rho)_k = \frac{\sigma_a^2}{2} \Delta_a \rho + \frac{\sigma_k^2}{2} \Delta_k \rho, \end{cases}$$

together with the equilibrium condition (7.9), where $\rho(x, t_0) = \rho_0(x)$ is a given initial condition for the agents' distribution.

7.2 A stochastic growth model with a macroeconomic agent

Here, we introduce a macroeconomic agent into the previous setup, namely, a central bank. This agent controls the interest rate of the economy, the single macroeconomic variable of the model. **Microeconomic agents** Microeconomic agents in the economy are characterized by their state variables: consumer goods a_t and capital k_t .

Macroeconomic agent There is one macroeconomic agent in the economy: the central bank. The state of the macroeconomic agent is determined by the amount A of its assets.

Macroeconomic variables As in the preceding model, the price level p_t is the single macroeconomic variable of the economy. Here, in addition to p_t , the economy has an interest rate, r_t . While the price level of the economy is determined by an equilibrium condition, the interest rate is set by the central bank.

Constitutive relations The economy has two constitutive relations, namely, the production and depreciation functions, F and g, respectively. These are prescribed as in Section 7.1.

Microeconomic actions (controls) Microeconomic agents in the economy control two quantities of the model, the consumption c_t and the investment level i_t .

Microeconomics dynamics In this model, the stock of consumer goods is governed by the stochastic differential equation:

$$da_t = (r_t a_t - c_t - p_t i_t + F(k_t, p_t)) dt + \sigma_a dB_t^a,$$

where B_t^a is a scalar Brownian motion. The interest rate r_t impacts the accumulation of consumer goods.

The capital accumulation in the economy is governed by

$$dk_t = (g(k_t, p_t) + i_t) dt + \sigma_k dB_t^k,$$

where B_t^k is a one-dimensional Brownian motion, also adapted to a suitable stochastic basis.

As in Section 7.1, we assume independence of B_t^a and B_t^k among the population, i.e., there is no common noise in the model.

Macroeconomics dynamics The state of the central bank is determined by its total assets A_t and the distribution of agents $\rho(\cdot, t)$. The evolution of ρ is determined by (7.2). As suggested by the dynamics of consumer goods accumulation, the amount of consumer goods a_t that is not consumed neither turned into investment, earns the interest rate, r_t . Therefore, the assets of the central bank, A_t , evolve according to the following deterministic dynamics:

$$\dot{A}_t = -r_t \int a\rho(a,k,t) dadk.$$
(7.10)

Macroeconomics actions (controls) The central bank controls the interest rate of the economy, r_t .

Microeconomic preferences In the presence of a central bank, we suppose the instantaneous utility of the microeconomic agents to depend also on the interest rate r_t . I.e., $u = u(c_t, i_t, a_t, k_t, p_t, r_t)$. The intertemporal counterpart of u, denoted by V, is:

$$V(a,k,t) = \sup_{c,i} \int_t^\infty e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s, p_s, r_s) ds.$$

Equilibrium conditions We assume the equilibrium condition of the economy to be as in Section 7.1. Notice that it still represents a market-clearing condition.

Optimal control problem The optimal control problem faced by the microeconomic agents, in the present setting, is characterized by the Hamilton-Jacobi equation

$$V_t - \alpha V + H(a,k,p,r,V_a,V_k) + \frac{\sigma_a^2}{2}\Delta_a V + \frac{\sigma_k^2}{2}\Delta_k V = 0,$$

where the Hamiltonian H is:

$$H(a, k, p, r, V_a, V_k) = \sup_{c, i} \left((ra - c - pi + F)V_a + (g + i)V_k + u \right).$$
(7.11)

The optimal controls $c_t^* = c^*(a_t, k_t, t)$ and $i_t^* = i^*(a_t, k_t, t)$, associated with this problem, are given in feedback form by

$$\begin{cases} H_{q_a}(a, k_t, p_t, r_t, V_a(a, k, t), V_k(a, k, t) = r_t a - c^* - p_t i^* + F(k, p_t), \\ H_{q_k}(a, k, p_t, r_t, V_a(a, k, t), V_k(a, k, t)) = g(k, p_t) + i^*, \end{cases}$$
(7.12)

where H is defined as in (7.11).

Transport of the agents' population The state of the system evolves in this model according to two distinct equations. First, there is the Fokker-Planck equation, that describes the microeconomic agents' evolution. Further, the state of the central bank is characterized by (7.10).

The Fokker-Planck equation governing the evolution of the microeconomic agents' density is:

$$\rho_t + ((r_t a - c^* - pi^* + F)\rho)_a + ((g + i^*)\rho)_k = \frac{\sigma_a^2}{2}\Delta_a\rho + \frac{\sigma_k^2}{2}\Delta_k\rho.$$
(7.13)

As before, the assumption of rationality plays a major role here. It implies that the actual values of c_t , i_t and r_t are the optimal ones given in (7.12). Hence, (7.13) becomes

$$\rho_t + \left(H_{q_a}\rho\right)_a + \left(H_{q_k}\rho\right)_k = \frac{\sigma_a^2}{2}\Delta_a\rho + \frac{\sigma_k^2}{2}\Delta_k\rho.$$

A mean-field model of the economy Here, we formulate the growth model with a macroeconomic agent as a mean-field game system:

$$\begin{cases} V_t - \alpha V + H(a,k,p_t,r_t,V_a,V_k) + \frac{\sigma_a^2}{2}\Delta_a V + \frac{\sigma_k^2}{2}\Delta_k V = 0, \\ \rho_t + (H_{q_a}\rho)_a + (H_{q_k}\rho)_k = \frac{\sigma_a^2}{2}\Delta_a\rho + \frac{\sigma_k^2}{2}\Delta_k\rho, \end{cases}$$

where p_t is chosen so that (7.9) holds.

Macroeconomic welfare The macroeconomic agent has preferences over two quantities of the model. Typically, the central bank

/

aims at controlling the price levels p_t while sustaining or increasing the wealth levels W_t in the economy. For example, the central bank may adopt an inflation target regime and operates through the interest rate to enforce the price to be within a particular range. Conversely, the priority of the macroeconomic agent may regard economic growth. The interest rate regulation seeks to ensure adequate levels of capital accumulation.

The objectives of the central bank are encoded in the welfare function of the economy, $U = U(A_t, W_t, p_t)$. As before, we formulate the optimization problem faced by the central bank in terms of the intertemporal counterpart of U:

$$\sup_{r} \int_{t}^{\infty} e^{-\beta(s-t)} U(A_s, W_s, p_s) ds.$$
(7.14)

Therefore, the central bank faces an infinite dimensional control problem, with payoff (7.14) and dynamics determined by (7.2), together with the equilibrium condition (7.9) and (7.10).

In the case an optimal control r_t^* exists, it is called a macroeconomic policy.

Bibliographical notes Economic models with second order effects were considered in [7] and [4]. The price formation models examined in [120, 30, 29, 35, 34, 25] fall outside the scope of this chapter but represent an important alternative approach. Stochastic MFG models also arise in power grid management, see for instance [15, 127].

Mathematical analysis II - stochastic models

In this chapter, we develop methods to study the stochastic models detailed in Chapter 7. We start with a Verification Theorem and proceed by investigating properties of concavity and monotonicity of solutions.

It is worth noticing that some of the material presented in Chapter 5 do not extend, at least in a straightforward manner, to the stochastic setting. This is the case of the N-agent approximation. Convergence of the N-agent approximation in the case of stationary second-order MFG, with ergodic costs, has been investigated in [118], [120] and [62]. See also [21].

For ease of presentation, this chapter focuses on the model of Section 7.1. In addition, we consider the finite horizon case, with a fixed terminal instant T > 0.

8.1 Verification Theorem

Here, we study the connection between solutions of

$$\begin{cases} W_t - \alpha W + H(a, k, p, W_a, W_k) + \frac{\sigma_a^2}{2} \Delta_a W + \frac{\sigma_k^2}{2} \Delta_k W = 0, \\ W(x, T) = u_T(x). \end{cases}$$
(8.1)

and the value function

$$V(a,k,t) = \sup_{c_t,i_t} \mathbb{E}^{(a,k,t)} \left[\int_t^T e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u ds + e^{-\alpha(T-t)} u_T(x_T) \right].$$
(8.2)

The Hamiltonian H in (8.1) is given by

$$H(a,k,p,W_a,W_k) = \sup_{c,i} \left(A^{(c,i)}W + u \right),$$

where $A^{(c,i)}$ is the infinitesimal generator of the Markov process (a_t, k_t) .

Theorem 8.1.1 (Verification Theorem). Let W be a classical solution of (8.1) and assume that u is strictly concave. Then, W is the value function associated with the optimal control problem (7.1)-(7.2) and (8.2).

Proof. We start by verifying that, if W is a classical solution of (8.1), then

$$W(a,k,t) \ge V(a,k,t).$$

Assume that c and i are Markovian control processes. Using Dynkin's formula (Proposition 6.1.1), we obtain

$$e^{-\alpha(T-t)} \mathbb{E}^{(a,k,t)} W(a_T, k_T, T) - W(a,k,t)$$

$$= \mathbb{E}^{(a,k,t)} \int_t^T e^{-\alpha(s-t)} \left[A^{c,i} W(a_s,k_s,s) - \alpha W(a_s,k_s,s) \right] ds,$$
(8.3)

where A is the infinitesimal generator of the Markov process (a_t, k_t) . Because W solves (8.1), we have that

$$A^{c,i}W(a_s,k_s,t) - \alpha W(a_s,k_s,s) + u \le 0.$$

Therefore,

$$-W(a,k,t) \leq -\mathbb{E}^{(a,k,t)} \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_{s},i_{s},a_{s},k_{s},p_{s}) ds \qquad (8.4)$$
$$- e^{-\alpha(T-t)} \mathbb{E}^{(a,k,t)} W(a_{T},k_{T},T).$$

To complete the proof, we notice that, because u is strictly concave, there exists a unique pair (c_t^*, i_t^*) , such that

$$A^{c_t^*, i_t^*} W(a, k, t) + u(c_t^*, i_t^*, a_t, k_t, p_t) = 0.$$
(8.5)

By using (8.5) in (8.3), one gets equality in (8.4). This establishes the Theorem.

8.2 Monotonicity and convexity

Here, we investigate the monotonicity and concavity of the value function associated with the model considered in Section 7.1. Two reasons motivate our interest in those properties. First, they encode basic principles of the consumer's theory. Second, the instantaneous utility function u is assumed to be strictly concave and monotone. Therefore, it is important to understand whether or not its intertemporal counterpart inherits those properties. In the affirmative case, this ensures that preferences that can be represented by a suitable instantaneous utility function, can still be represented by an intertemporal functional.

We suppose throughout this section that the price, p_t , is given, deterministic and regular.

Monotonicity of the value function We begin with an auxiliary lemma that states that the dynamics (7.1)-(7.2) is order preserving, for each realization of the noise process.

Lemma 8.2.1. Let F(k, p) and g(k, p) be continuous functions, locally Lipschitz in k, with F non-decreasing in the variable k. Fix two initial conditions, (a^1, k^1) and (a^2, k^2) , with $a^1 \leq a^2$ and $k^1 \leq k^2$. Denote by (a^i, k^i) the solution of

$$\begin{cases} da_t^i = (-c_t - p_t i_t + F(k_t^i, p_t))dt + \sigma_a dB_t^a, \\ dk_t^i = \left(g(k_t^i, p_t) + i_t\right)dt + \sigma_k dB_t^k, \end{cases}$$

equipped with initial conditions

$$\begin{cases} a_{t_0}^i = a^i, \\ k_{t_0}^i = k^i. \end{cases}$$

Then, $a_t^1 \leq a_t^2$ and $k_t^1 \leq k_t^2$, for all $t \geq t_0$.

Proof. We fix a realization of B_t^a and B_t^k . Thus, since g is locally Lipschitz in k,

$$dk_t^i = \left(g(k_t^i, p_t) + i_t\right)dt + \sigma_k dB_t^k$$

has a unique pathwise solution k^i with probability 1. The difference $k_t^1 - k_t^2$ solves

$$d(k_t^1 - k_t^2) = \left(g(k_t^1, p_t) - g(k_t^2, p_t)\right) dt$$

Therefore, by an application of Gronwall's Lemma, we obtain $k_t^1 \leq k_t^2$ for all $t \geq t_0$, since $k^1 \leq k^2$. Now, because F is locally Lipschitz in k, the SDE

$$da_t^i = (-c_t - p_t i_t + F(k_t^i, p_t))dt + \sigma_a dB_t^a$$

also has a unique pathwise solution a_t^i with probability 1. From the non-decreasing property of F in k, we infer that

$$F(k_t^1, p_t) \le F(k_t^2, p_t).$$

Consequently, for each path of B_t^a , we have

$$da_t^1 \leq da_t^2.$$

This concludes the proof.

In the sequel, we present the proof of the monotonicity of the value function V.

Proposition 8.2.1 (Monotonicity of the value function). Let F(k, p)and g(k, p) be continuous functions, locally Lipschitz in k, with F(k, p)non-decreasing in k. Assume that the instantaneous utility function u is non-decreasing in the wealth variables a and k. Then, the value function V is non-decreasing in a and k.

99

Proof. We proceed by assuming the existence of maximizing trajectories, avoiding a more cumbersome argument, based on ϵ -optimality. As before, fix two initial conditions: (a^1, k^1) and (a^2, k^2) , with $a^1 \leq a^2$ and $k^1 \leq k^2$. Denote by (c^j, i^j) the optimal control associated with the initial data (a^j, k^j) . From the definition of the value function, it follows that

$$V(a^{1},k^{1},t) = \mathbb{E}^{(a^{1},k^{1},t)} \left[\int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(a^{1,1}_{s},k^{1,1}_{s},c^{1}_{s},i^{1}_{s}) ds \right],$$

where $(a_s^{i,j}, k_s^{i,j})$ is the trajectory associated with the initial condition (a^i, k^i) , driven by the control (c^j, i^j) . Because the controls c^1 and i^1 are optimal for (a^1, k^1) , they are suboptimal for (a^2, k^2) . Therefore,

$$V(a^{2},k^{2},t) \geq \mathbb{E}^{(a^{2},k^{2},t)} \left[\int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(a^{2,1}_{s},k^{2,1}_{s},c^{1}_{s},i^{1}_{s}) ds \right]$$

From Lemma 8.2.1, it follows that $a_s^{1,1} \leq a_s^{2,1}$ and $k_s^{1,1} \leq k_s^{2,1}$, for all $s \geq t_0$. This, combined with the fact that u is non-decreasing, yields:

$$V(a^{1}, k^{1}, t) = \mathbb{E}^{(a^{1}, k^{1}, t)} \left[\int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(a^{1,1}_{s}, k^{1,1}_{s}, c^{1}_{s}, i^{1}_{s}) ds \right]$$

$$\leq \mathbb{E}^{(a^{2}, k^{2}, t)} \left[\int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(a^{2,1}_{s}, k^{2,1}_{s}, c^{1}_{s}, i^{1}_{s}) ds \right] \leq V(a^{2}, k^{2}, t).$$

The previous proposition ensures that the intertemporal utility function of the agents inherits the monotonicity of the instantaneous utility function. Next, we investigate the concavity of the value function.

Concavity of the value function The next proposition establishes the concavity of the value function, V.

Proposition 8.2.2 (Concavity of the value function). Let F(k, p) and g(k, p) be concave in k, and assume that F(k, p) is a non-decreasing
function, with respect to the variable k. Assume further that the instantaneous utility function u is non-decreasing in the wealth variables a and k and concave. Then, the value function V is concave in a and k.

Proof. As before, we assume the existence of optimal trajectories and consider two distinct initial conditions: (a^1, k^1) and (a^2, k^2) . For $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, set

$$\begin{cases} a_s^{\lambda} \doteq (1-\lambda)a_s^1 + \lambda a_s^2, \\ k_s^{\lambda} \doteq (1-\lambda)k_s^1 + \lambda k_s^2. \end{cases}$$

Now, let (c_s^i, i_s^i) be the optimal controls associated with the initial conditions (a^i, k^i) . Consider the convex combination

$$\begin{cases} c_s^{\lambda} \doteq (1-\lambda)c_s^1 + \lambda c_s^2, \\ i_s^{\lambda} \doteq (1-\lambda)i_s^1 + \lambda i_s^2. \end{cases}$$

Next, denote by (\bar{a}_s, \bar{k}_s) the trajectory associated with $(c_s^{\lambda}, i_s^{\lambda})$ and equipped with initial conditions $(a_s^{\lambda}, k_s^{\lambda})$. It is clear that (\bar{a}_s, \bar{k}_s) is suboptimal.

In addition, we have:

$$\begin{cases} d\bar{k}_t = \left(g(\bar{k}_t, p_t) + i^\lambda\right) dt + \sigma_k dB_t^k, \\ \bar{k}_0 = (1-\lambda)k^1 + \lambda k^2, \end{cases}$$

and, using the the concavity of g in k, we obtain

$$\begin{cases} dk_t^{\lambda} \leq \left(g(k_t^{\lambda}, p_t) + i^{\lambda}\right) dt + \sigma_k dB_t^k, \\ k_0^{\lambda} = (1 - \lambda)k^1 + \lambda k^2. \end{cases}$$

Accordingly, by fixing a realization of the Brownian motion B_t^k , we have that $\bar{k}_t \geq k_t^{\lambda}$, for every $t \geq t_0$.

Moreover,

$$\begin{cases} d\bar{a}_t = \left(-c^{\lambda} - p_t i_t^{\lambda} + F(\bar{k}_t, p_t)\right) dt + \sigma_a dB_t^a, \\ \bar{a}_0 = (1-\lambda)a^1 + \lambda a^2. \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, using the concavity and the monotonicity of F, along with the fact that $\bar{k}_t \geq k_t^{\lambda}$, for every $t \geq t_0$, we conclude that

$$\begin{cases} da_t^{\lambda} \leq \left(-c^{\lambda} - p_t i_t^{\lambda} + F(\bar{k}_t, p_t)\right) dt + \sigma_a dB_t^a, \\ a_0^{\lambda} = (1 - \lambda)a^1 + \lambda a^2. \end{cases}$$

Therefore, $\bar{a}_t \geq a_t^{\lambda}$, for every $t \geq t_0$. By combining this with the assumptions of monotonicity and convexity of u, we get

$$\begin{split} V(a^{\lambda},k^{\lambda},t) &\geq \mathbb{E}^{(\bar{a},\bar{k},t)} \left[\int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_{s}^{\lambda},i_{s}^{\lambda},\bar{a}_{s},\bar{k}_{s}) ds \right] \\ &\geq \mathbb{E}^{(a^{\lambda},k^{\lambda},t)} \left[\int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_{s}^{\lambda},i_{s}^{\lambda},a_{s}^{\lambda},k_{s}^{\lambda}) ds \right] \\ &\geq (1-\lambda) \mathbb{E}^{(a^{1},k^{1},t)} \left[\int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_{s}^{1},i_{s}^{1},a_{s}^{1},k_{s}^{1}) ds \right] \\ &\quad + \lambda \mathbb{E}^{(a^{2},k^{2},t)} \left[\int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_{s}^{2},i_{s}^{2},a_{s}^{2},k_{s}^{2}) ds \right] \\ &= (1-\lambda) V(a^{1},k^{1},t) + \lambda V(a^{2},k^{2},t). \end{split}$$

Hence, the proof is complete.

Propositions 8.2.1 and 8.2.2 have an important implication regarding the intertemporal representation of the preference structure. These results ensure that the monotonicity and concavity of the instantaneous utility function are preserved under the intertemporal optimization problem of the agents.

8.3 A comparison result under regulated prices

We end this chapter by comparing the deterministic growth model, presented in Section 4.1, to its stochastic analog, introduced in Section 7.1. We assume that the price is regulated and given by the same deterministic price function p_t^* , both in the deterministic and the stochastic settings.

Denote by V^d the value function of the first-order MFG associated with the deterministic model. In the same fashion, let V^s denote the value function of the second-order MFG, associated with the stochastic model. We show that, for the given price level p_t^* , these functions are comparable, due to the concavity property of V^s .

Proposition 8.3.1 (Comparison). Let F(k, p) and g(k, p) be concave in k, and assume that F(k, p) is a non-decreasing function, with respect to the variable k. Let the price level of the economy, p_t^* , be given. Assume further that the instantaneous utility function, u, is non-decreasing in the wealth variables a and k, and concave. Then,

$$V^s \leq V^d$$

Proof. We notice that V_d and V_s solve the following Hamilton-Jacobi equations:

$$V_t^d(a,k,t) - \alpha V^d(a,k,t) + H(a,k,p_t^*,V_a^d,V_k^d) = 0,$$
(8.6)

and

$$V_t^s(a,k,t) - \alpha V^s(a,k,t) + H(a,k,p_t^*,V_a^s,V_k^s)$$

$$= -\frac{\sigma_a^2}{2} \Delta_a V^s - \frac{\sigma_k^2}{2} \Delta_k V^s$$

$$\geq 0,$$
(8.7)

where the inequality in (8.7) is implied by the concavity of V^s (c.f. Proposition 8.2.2). Notice that, because of (8.7), V^s is a subsolution of (8.6). A straightforward application of the comparison principle yields the desired result.

When the price level of the economy is regulated, Proposition 8.3.1 states that, in the stochastic setting, an individual is at most as good as in the deterministic case. In other words, it shows that, for a given price level p_t^* , the welfare of an economy subject to noise is always below the welfare of a deterministic, more stable economic system.

Bibliographical notes The reader interested in the theory of secondorder viscosity solutions is referred to [66] and [55]. Additional mathematical tools for economically motivated MFG are addressed in [4] and [7]. Mathematical methods for second-order MFG are discussed in detail in the surveys [42], [87], and [21].

9

Mean-field games with correlations

In the models presented in Chapter 7, we have assumed the independence of the Brownian motions affecting different agents. A further layer of complexity can be added, by allowing for correlated noise and systemic shocks. In the sequel, we examine a few preliminary notions of mean-field games in the presence of correlated noise. Then, we revisit the growth model from Section 4.1 taking into account the presence of systemic shocks.

For ease of presentation, we fix two distinct probability spaces throughout this chapter. Let $\tilde{\mathcal{P}} = (\tilde{\Omega}, \{\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_s\}_{s \geq t_0}, \tilde{P})$ be the stochastic basis associated with the driving noise. In addition, fix $\mathcal{P} = (\Omega, \{\mathcal{F}_s\}_{s \geq t_0}, P)$, the agents' space. Each $\omega \in \Omega$ represents an individual agent.

9.1 Mean-field games with correlated noise

9.1.1 General setup

As before, we consider a population of agents whose microscopic dynamics is governed by the stochastic differential equation:

$$\begin{cases} d\mathbf{x}_s = \mathbf{v}_s ds + \sqrt{2} dB_s, \\ \mathbf{x}(t) = \mathbf{x}, \end{cases}$$
(9.1)

where \mathbf{v}_s is a $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_s$ -progressively measurable control and B_s is a *d*-dimensional Brownian motion, adapted to the filtration $\{\mathcal{F}_s\}_{s\geq t_0}$.

Fix q > 1 and let $\mathbf{X} \in L^q(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ be a random variable that assigns to each agent $\omega \in \Omega$ its position at time t, $\mathbf{X}_t(\omega)$. The probability distribution associated with the players' population is $\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{X})$, the law of \mathbf{X}_s . It is defined by

$$\mathbb{E}\phi(\mathbf{X}) \,=\, \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi d\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{X}),$$

for any $\phi \in \mathcal{C}_c(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Let $b: \mathbb{R}^d \times L^q(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \times [t_0, T] \to \mathbb{R}^d$, be a Lipschitz vector field. We assume that b depends on the second coordinate only through the law of the random variable. That is, if $X, Y \in L^q(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ have the same law, we have b(x, X, t) = b(x, Y, t). Next, let $\omega \in \Omega$ denote an arbitrary agent in the population. We suppose that at each instant $s > t_0$, the position of the agent ω in the state space is given by the random variable $\mathbf{X}_s(\omega)$, where \mathbf{X} satisfies

$$\begin{cases} d\mathbf{X}_s(\omega) = b(\mathbf{X}_s(\omega), \mathbf{X}_s, s)ds + \sqrt{2}d\tilde{B}_s, \\ \mathbf{X}_{t_0} = X_0, \end{cases}$$
(9.2)

where \tilde{B}_s is a *d*-dimensional Brownian motion adapted to $\{\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_s\}_{s \geq t_0}$, and $X_0 \in L^q(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ represents the initial states of the agents at time t_0 . The random variable **X** contains all relevant information on the state of the agents.

Individuals in the population have preferences over their states, their controls, and the distributions of the remaining agents. As before, these are represented by a utility $u : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times L^q(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$. We assume u(v, x, X) depends on the third coordinate only through the law of the random variable X. A typical agent in the population seeks to maximize

$$J_{\alpha}(\mathbf{v}, x, X; t) = \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{x} \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(\mathbf{v}_{s}, \mathbf{x}_{s}, \mathbf{X}_{s}) ds \qquad (9.3)$$
$$+ u_{T}(\mathbf{x}(T), \mathbf{X}(T)),$$

where u_T is a terminal cost, $\alpha > 0$ is a discount rate and T > 0is a fixed terminal instant. The value function associated with the optimal control problem comprising of (9.1), (9.2) and (9.3) is

$$V(x, X, t) = \sup_{\mathbf{v}} J_{\alpha}(\mathbf{v}, x, X; t).$$

We aim at characterizing V as the solution of a partial differential equation. This is examined in the next section.

9.1.2 The master equation

We begin our discussion by introducing adequate notation for certain directional derivatives of functions of random variables. The notation $b \cdot D_X V(x, X, t)$ denotes the directional derivative of V in the direction b

$$b \cdot D_X V(x, X, t) = \left. \frac{d}{d\epsilon} V(x, X + \delta b(x, X, t), t) \right|_{\delta = 0}$$

Fix a standard unit vector e^i in \mathbb{R}^d . The directional first derivative operator in the direction e^i , denoted δ_i , is defined by

$$\delta_i V(x, X, t) \doteq \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{V(x, X + \epsilon e^i, t) - V(x, X, t)}{\epsilon}$$

The directional second derivative operator in the direction e^i , δ_i^2 , is given by

$$\delta_i^2 V(x, X, t) \doteq \left. \frac{d^2}{d\epsilon^2} V(x, X + \epsilon e^i, t) \right|_{\epsilon=0}$$

We consider the elliptic operator

$$\mathfrak{L}V(x,X,t) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \delta_i^2 V(x,X,t) + 2 \sum_{i=1}^{d} \delta_i D_{x_i} V(x,X,t) \qquad (9.4) + \Delta_x V(x,X,t).$$

Next, we define the Hamiltonian $H:\mathbb{R}^d\times L^q(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^d)\times\mathbb{R}^d\to\mathbb{R}$ by

$$H(x, X, p) = \sup_{v} \left(p \cdot v + u(v, x, X) \right).$$

Arguing as in Section 6.1, we see that, if b is such that (9.2) admits a unique solution X and V is a two-times Frechet differentiable function, solving the Hamilton-Jacobi equation

$$V_t - \alpha V + D_X V \cdot b + H(x, X, D_x V) + \mathfrak{L}V = 0, \qquad (9.5)$$

where \mathfrak{L} is the linear operator in (9.4), then V is the value function. Furthermore, the optimal vector field b^* is given by

$$b^*(x, \mathbf{X}, s) = D_p H(x, \mathbf{X}, D_x V(x, \mathbf{X}, s)).$$
(9.6)

Under the assumption of rationality, each agent in the population chooses the optimal vector field in (9.6). Therefore, by combining (9.5) with (9.6), we are lead to the mean-field equation in master form

$$V_{t}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{X}, t) - \alpha V(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{X}, t)$$

$$+ D_{X}V(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{X}, t) \cdot D_{p}H(\mathbf{X}(\omega), \mathbf{X}, D_{x}V(\mathbf{X}(\omega), \mathbf{X}, t))$$

$$+ H(\mathbf{X}(\omega), \mathbf{X}, D_{x}V(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{X}, t)) + \mathfrak{L}V(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{X}, t)$$

$$= 0,$$

$$(9.7)$$

together with the terminal condition

$$V(x, X, T) = u_T(x, X).$$

This is called the *master equation*. Notice that (9.7) encodes the information regarding the optimization problem faced by the agents and the evolution of the population's states.

9.2 A growth model with systemic shocks

Here, we put forward a growth model in the presence of systemic shocks.

Microeconomic agents A typical individual in the economy is characterized by her amounts a_t of consumer goods and k_t of capital goods.

At time $s \in [t_0, T]$, the position of the agent ω in the state space is given by the random variable $X_s(\omega) = (A_s(\omega), K_s(\omega))$.

Macroeconomic variables The only macroeconomic variable in the model is the (relative) price, p_t . This quantity is set in equilibrium. Here, p_t is no longer assumed to be deterministic, rather we suppose it is given in feedback form as a function of the state $X \in L^q(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d)$ of the players, that is $p_t = p(X_t)$, for some function $p: L^q(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$.

Constitutive relations There is a production function F(k, p), that describes the technology of the economy. Moreover, a depreciation function g(k, p) governs the depreciation of the capital stock, k_t .

Microeconomic actions (controls) In this model, the microeconomic agents control their levels of consumption and investment: c_t and i_t , respectively.

Microeconomic dynamics The state of the agents in the model is governed by two stochastic differential equations:

$$da_t = -c_t - p_t i_t + F(k_t, p_t) + \sigma^a dB_t^a,$$

and

$$dk_t = g(k_t, p_t) + i_t + \sigma^k dB_t^k$$

where B_t^a and B_t^k are adapted Brownian motions.

In contrast with Chapter 7, here, we drop the assumption of independence of the Brownian motions impacting distinct agents. Therefore, the model is affected by systemic shocks, and the derivation of the associated MFG system, as in Chapter 7, is no longer valid.

We also prescribe the evolution of the random variable \mathbf{X}_s :

$$\begin{cases} d\mathbf{X}_s = b(a_s, k_s, \mathbf{X}_s, s)ds + \sqrt{2}d\tilde{B}_s, \\ \mathbf{X}_{t_0} = X, \end{cases}$$

where \tilde{B}_s is an adapted Brownian motion and $b : \mathbb{R}^2 \times L^q(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^2) \times [t_0, T] \to \mathbb{R}^2$ is a Lipschitz vector field. As before, we denote by $\mathcal{L}(X)$ the law of the random variable X.

Microeconomic preferences Agents have preferences represented by an instantaneous utility function $u = u(c_t, i_t, a_t, k_t, X_t, p_t)$. The function u depends on the random variable X through its law. This dependence represents the preferences of the agents over the state of the population.

Its intertemporal counterpart is given by

$$V(a_t, k_t, X_t, t) = \sup_{c_t, i_t} \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{(a,k,t)} \int_t^\infty e^{-\alpha(s-t)} u(c_s, i_s, a_s, k_s, X_s, p_s) ds.$$

Equilibrium condition The equilibrium condition of this model is

$$\int id\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{X}_t)(a,k,t) = p_t \int \Xi d\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{X}_t)(a,k,t).$$
(9.8)

Master equation In contrast with Chapters 4 and 7, this model is characterized by the associated master equation. This is derived in the sequel.

First, notice that V(a, k, X, t) solves

$$V_{t}(a, k, X, t) - \alpha V(a, k, X, t) + D_{X}V(a, k, X, t) \cdot b$$

$$+ H(a, k, X, V_{a}, V_{k}, p(X, t))$$

$$+ \Delta_{(a,k)}V(a, k, X, t)$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{2} \delta_{i}^{2}V(a, k, X, t) + 2\delta_{1}D_{a}V(a, k, X, t)$$

$$+ 2\delta_{2}D_{k}V(a, k, X, t) = 0,$$
(9.9)

where the Hamiltonian H is determined by:

$$H(a, k, X, V_a, V_k, p) = \max_{c_t, i_t} \left[A^{(c_t, i_t)} V + u \right],$$

where $A^{(c_t,i_t)}$ is the infinitesimal generator of the controlled Markov process (a_t, k_t) , given the controls (c_t, i_t) .

Because agents are rational, they act optimally, i.e., the vector field driving the evolution of the random variable \mathbf{X}_s is

$$b(\mathbf{X}_s(\omega), \mathbf{X}_s, s) = D_p H(\mathbf{X}_s(\omega), \mathbf{X}_s, V_a, V_k, p(\mathbf{X}_s)).$$

Hence, (9.9) becomes

$$V_t - \alpha V + D_X V \cdot D_p H(\mathbf{X}_t(\omega), \mathbf{X}_t, V_a, V_k, p(\mathbf{X}_t))$$

$$+ H(a, k, \mathbf{X}_t, V_a, V_k, p(\mathbf{X}_t))$$

$$= \Delta_{(a,k)} V + \sum_{i=1}^2 \delta_i^2 V + 2\delta_1 D_a V + 2\delta_2 D_k V.$$
(9.10)

Finally, the equilibrium condition (9.8) determines p(X) implicitly as

$$p(\mathbf{X}_t) = \frac{\int \left(H_{q_k}(a, k, \mathbf{X}_t, V_a, V_k, p(\mathbf{X}_t)) - g(k, p(\mathbf{X}_t))\right) d\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{X}_t)(a, k, t)}{\int \Xi d\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{X}_t)(a, k, t)}$$
(9.11)

where $(V_a, V_k) = (V_a(a, k, X, t), V_k(a, k, X, t)).$

Equations (9.10) and (9.11) contain all the relevant information on the model. First, it solves the optimization problem faced by the agents. Furthermore, it accounts for the evolution of this population, under the assumption of rationality, and takes into consideration the equilibrium condition (9.8).

Bibliographical notes For the master equation, we refer the reader to the video lectures by P.-L. Lions [124]. The paper by A. Bensoussan, J. Frehse and P. Yam [22] focuses on the master equation in the context of mean-field games and mean-field control. See also the monograph by the same authors [21]. A recent survey paper on the subject is [87]. Existence results can be found in [91, 68]. Recent developments regarding the existence of classical solutions for the master equation have been reported in [53]. In that paper, the authors consider the master equation without common noise.

For the probabilistic approach to mean-field game systems, we refer the reader to the work of R. Carmona and F. Delarue [49, 48] and R. Carmona, F. Delarue and D. Lacker [51] and R. Carmona and D. Lacker [52]. Finally, a recent approach to systemic risk is [143].

Bibliography

- D. Acemoglu. Introduction to modern economic growth. Princeton University Press, 2008.
- [2] D. Acemoglu and M. K. Jensen. Aggregate comparative statics. Games Econom. Behav., 81:27–49, 2013.
- [3] Y. Achdou. Finite difference methods for mean field games. In Hamilton-Jacobi Equations: Approximations, Numerical Analysis and Applications, pages 1–47. Springer, 2013.
- [4] Y. Achdou, F. J. Buera, J.-M. Lasry, P.-L. Lions, and B. Moll. Partial differential equation models in macroeconomics. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.*, 372(2028):20130397, 19, 2014.
- [5] Y. Achdou, F. Camilli, and I. Capuzzo-Dolcetta. Mean field games: numerical methods for the planning problem. SIAM J. Control Optim., 50(1):77–109, 2012.
- [6] Y. Achdou and I. Capuzzo-Dolcetta. Mean field games: numerical methods. SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 48(3):1136–1162, 2010.
- [7] Y. Achdou, J. Han, J.-M. Lasry, P.-L. Lions, and B. Moll. Heterogeneous agent models in continuous time. *Preprint*.
- [8] Y. Achdou and V. Perez. Iterative strategies for solving linearized discrete mean field games systems. *Netw. Heterog. Media*, 7(2):197–217, 2012.

- [9] Y. Achdou and A. Porretta. Convergence of a finite difference scheme to weak solutions of the system of partial differential equation arising in mean field games. *Preprint*, 2015.
- [10] S. Aiyagari. Uninsured idiosyncratic risk and aggregate saving. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, pages 659–684, 1994.
- [11] N. Al-Mulla, R. Ferreira, and D. Gomes. Monotone numerical methods for mean-field games. *Preprint*.
- [12] G.-M. Angeletos, C. Hellwig, and A. Pavan. Dynamic global games of regime change: learning, multiplicity, and the timing of attacks. *Econometrica*, 75(3):711–756, 2007.
- [13] D. Applebaum. Lévy processes and stochastic calculus, volume 116 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 2009.
- [14] R. Aumann. Markets with a continuum of traders. *Economet*rica, 32:39–50, 1964.
- [15] F. Bagagiolo and D. Bauso. Mean-field games and dynamic demand management in power grids. Dyn. Games Appl., 4(2):155–176, 2014.
- [16] M. Bardi. Explicit solutions of some linear-quadratic mean field games. Netw. Heterog. Media, 7(2):243–261, 2012.
- [17] M. Bardi and I. Capuzzo-Dolcetta. Optimal control and viscosity solutions of Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman equations. Birkhäuser Boston Inc., Boston, MA, 1997. With appendices by Maurizio Falcone and Pierpaolo Soravia.
- [18] M. Bardi and E. Feleqi. Nonlinear elliptic systems and mean field games. *Preprint*.
- [19] M. Bardi and F. S. Priuli. Linear-quadratic N-person and mean-field games with ergodic cost. SIAM J. Control Optim., 52(5):3022–3052, 2014.
- [20] J. Benamou and G. Carlier. Augmented lagrangian methods for transport optimization, mean-field games and degenerate pdes. *Preprint 2015*.

- [21] A. Bensoussan, J. Frehse, and P. Yam. Mean field games and mean field type control theory. Springer Briefs in Mathematics. Springer, New York, 2013.
- [22] A. Bensoussan, J. Frehse, and S. Yam. The master equation in mean field theory. *Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées*, 2014.
- [23] A. Bensoussan, K. Sung, S. Yam, and S. Yung. Linear-quadratic mean field games. *preprint*, 2013.
- [24] A. Bensoussan, K. C. J. Sung, and S. C. P. Yam. Linearquadratic time-inconsistent mean field games. *Dyn. Games Appl.*, 3(4):537–552, 2013.
- [25] D. Bertram, P. A. Markowich, J.-F. Pietschmann, and M.-T. Wolfram. Boltzmann and Fokker-Planck equations modelling opinion formation in the presence of strong leaders. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.*, 465(2112):3687–3708, 2009.
- [26] D Besancenot and H. Dogguy. Paradigm shift: a mean-field game approach. Bull. Econ. Res., 138, 2014.
- [27] T. Bewley. Stationary monetary equilibrium with a continuum of independently fluctuating consumers. Contributions to mathematical economics in honor of Gérard Debreu, 79, 1986.
- [28] M. Blaug. Economic theory in retrospect. Cambridge university press, 1997.
- [29] M. Burger, L. Caffarelli, P. A. Markowich, and M.-T. Wolfram. On the asymptotic behavior of a Boltzmann-type price formation model. *Commun. Math. Sci.*, 12(7):1353–1361, 2014.
- [30] M. Burger, L. Caffarelli, P. A. Markowich, and Marie-Therese Wolfram. On a Boltzmann-type price formation model. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.*, 469(2157):20130126, 20, 2013.

- [31] M. Burger, M. Di Francesco, P. A. Markowich, and M.-T. Wolfram. On a mean field game optimal control approach modeling fast exit scenarios in human crowds. *Preprint*, 2013.
- [32] M. Burger, M. Di Francesco, P. A. Markowich, and M.-T Wolfram. Mean field games with nonlinear mobilities in pedestrian dynamics. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B*, 19(5):1311–1333, 2014.
- [33] M. Burger, P. A. Markowich, and J.-F. Pietschmann. Continuous limit of a crowd motion and herding model: analysis and numerical simulations. *Kinet. Relat. Models*, 4(4):1025–1047, 2011.
- [34] L. A. Caffarelli, P. A. Markowich, and J.-F. Pietschmann. On a price formation free boundary model by Lasry and Lions. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 349(11-12):621–624, 2011.
- [35] L. A. Caffarelli, P. A. Markowich, and M.-T. Wolfram. On a price formation free boundary model by Lasry and Lions: the Neumann problem. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 349(15-16):841–844, 2011.
- [36] F. Cagnetti, D. Gomes, H. Mitake, and H. V. Tran. A new method for large time behavior of degenerate viscous Hamilton-Jacobi equations with convex Hamiltonians. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, 32(1):183–200, 2015.
- [37] F. Cagnetti, D. Gomes, and H. V. Tran. Aubry-Mather measures in the nonconvex setting. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 43(6):2601–2629, 2011.
- [38] F. Cagnetti, D. Gomes, and H. V. Tran. Adjoint methods for obstacle problems and weakly coupled systems of PDE. ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var., 19(3):754–779, 2013.
- [39] F. Cagnetti, D. Gomes, and H. V. Tran. Convergence of a semi-discretization scheme for the Hamilton-Jacobi equation: a new approach with the adjoint method. *Appl. Numer. Math.*, 73:2–15, 2013.

- [40] F. Camilli, E. Carlini, and C Marchi. A model problem for mean field games on networks. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst.*, 35(9):4173–4192, 2015.
- [41] F. Camilli and F. Silva. A semi-discrete approximation for a first order mean field game problem. *Netw. Heterog. Media*, 7(2):263–277, 2012.
- [42] P. Cardaliaguet. Notes on mean-field games. 2011.
- [43] P. Cardaliaguet. Weak solutions for first order mean-field games with local coupling. *Preprint*, 2013.
- [44] P. Cardaliaguet, P. Garber, A. Porretta, and D. Tonon. Second order mean field games with degenerate diffusion and local coupling. *Preprint*, 2014.
- [45] P. Cardaliaguet, J.-M. Lasry, P.-L. Lions, and A. Porretta. Long time average of mean field games. *Netw. Heterog. Media*, 7(2):279–301, 2012.
- [46] P. Cardaliaguet, J-M. Lasry, P-L. Lions, and A. Porretta. Long time average of mean field games with a nonlocal coupling. *SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization*, 51(5):3558–3591, 2013.
- [47] E. Carlini and F. J. Silva. A fully discrete semi-Lagrangian scheme for a first order mean field game problem. SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 52(1):45–67, 2014.
- [48] R. Carmona and F. Delarue. Mean field forward-backward stochastic differential equations. *Electron. Commun. Probab.*, 18:no. 68, 15, 2013.
- [49] R. Carmona and F. Delarue. Probabilistic analysis of meanfield games. SIAM J. Control Optim., 51(4):2705–2734, 2013.
- [50] R. Carmona, F. Delarue, and A. Lachapelle. Control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics versus mean field games. *Math. Financ. Econ.*, 7(2):131–166, 2013.

- [51] R. Carmona, F. Delarue, and D. Lacker. Mean field games with common noise. *Preprint*, 2013.
- [52] R. Carmona and D. Lacker. A probabilistic weak formulation of mean field games and applications. arXiv preprint arXiv:1307.1152, 2013.
- [53] J.-F. Chassagneux, D. Crisan, and F. Delarue. Classical solutions to the master equation for large population equilibria. arXiv preprint arXiv:1411.3009, 2014.
- [54] M. Cirant. Multi-population Mean Field Games systems with Neumann boundary conditions. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 103(5):1294–1315, 2015.
- [55] M. Crandall, H. Ishii, and P.-L. Lions. User's guide to viscosity solutions of second order partial differential equations. *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.* (N.S.), 27(1):1–67, 1992.
- [56] M. Di Francesco, P. A. Markowich, J.-F. Pietschmann, and M.-T. Wolfram. On the Hughes' model for pedestrian flow: the one-dimensional case. J. Differential Equations, 250(3):1334– 1362, 2011.
- [57] L. C. Evans. An introduction to mathematical optimal control theory, version 0.2. Preprint.
- [58] L. C. Evans. Partial Differential Equations. Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, 1998.
- [59] L. C. Evans. Adjoint and compensated compactness methods for Hamilton-Jacobi PDE. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 197(3):1053–1088, 2010.
- [60] L. C. Evans and R. F. Gariepy. Measure theory and fine properties of functions. Studies in Advanced Mathematics. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1992.
- [61] L. C. Evans and C. K. Smart. Adjoint methods for the infinity Laplacian partial differential equation. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 201(1):87–113, 2011.

- [62] E. Feleqi. The derivation of ergodic mean field game equations for several populations of players. Dyn. Games Appl., 3(4):523– 536, 2013.
- [63] R. Ferreira and D. Gomes. Existence of weak solutions for stationary mean-field games through weak solutions. *Preprint.*
- [64] R. Ferreira and D. Gomes. On the convergence of finite state mean-field games through Γ-convergence. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 418(1):211–230, 2014.
- [65] M. Fischer. On the connection between symmetric n-player games and mean field games. *Preprint 2015*.
- [66] W. H. Fleming and H. M. Soner. Controlled Markov processes and viscosity solutions, volume 25 of Stochastic Modelling and Applied Probability. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2006.
- [67] M. Friedman. Leon Walras and his economic system. The American Economic Review, pages 900–909, 1955.
- [68] W. Gangbo and A. Swięch. Existence of a solution to an equation arising from the theory of mean field games. *preprint*, 2015.
- [69] D. Gomes. Viscosity solutions of Hamilton-Jacobi equations. Publicações Matemáticas do IMPA. [IMPA Mathematical Publications]. Instituto Nacional de Matemática Pura e Aplicada (IMPA), Rio de Janeiro, 2009. 270 Colóquio Brasileiro de Matemática. [27th Brazilian Mathematics Colloquium].
- [70] D. Gomes. Continuous time finite state space mean field games a variational approach. 2011 49th Annual Allerton Conference on Communication, Control, and Computing, Allerton 2011, pages 998–1001, 2011.
- [71] D. Gomes, R. Iturriaga, H. Sánchez-Morgado, and Y. Yu. Mather measures selected by an approximation scheme. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 138(10):3591–3601, 2010.
- [72] D. Gomes and H. Mitake. Stationary mean-field games with congestion and quadratic hamiltonians. *Preprint*, 2014.

- [73] D. Gomes, J. Mohr, and R. R. Souza. Discrete time, finite state space mean field games. *Journal de Mathématiques Pures* et Appliquées, 93(2):308–328, 2010.
- [74] D. Gomes, J. Mohr, and R. R. Souza. Continuous time finite state mean-field games. Appl. Math. and Opt., 68(1):99–143, 2013.
- [75] D. Gomes and S. Patrizi. Weakly coupled mean-field game systems. *Preprint*.
- [76] D. Gomes and S. Patrizi. Obstacle mean-field game problem. To appear in Interfaces and Free Boundaries, 2015.
- [77] D. Gomes, S. Patrizi, and V. Voskanyan. On the existence of classical solutions for stationary extended mean field games. *Nonlinear Anal.*, 99:49–79, 2014.
- [78] D. Gomes and E. Pimentel. Time dependent mean-field games with logarithmic nonlinearities. *Preprint*, 2014.
- [79] D. Gomes and E. Pimentel. Local regularity for mean-field games in the whole space. To appear in Minimax Theory and its Applications, 2015.
- [80] D. Gomes and E. Pimentel. Regularity for mean-field games with initial-initial boundary conditions. In J. P. Bourguignon, R. Jeltsch, A. Pinto, and M. Viana, editors, *Dynamics, Games* and Science III, CIM-MS. Springer, 2015.
- [81] D. Gomes, E. Pimentel, and H. Sánchez-Morgado. Time dependent mean-field games in the superquadratic case. *To appear in ESAIM: Control, Optimisation and Calculus of Variations.*
- [82] D. Gomes, E. Pimentel, and H. Sánchez-Morgado. Timedependent mean-field games in the subquadratic case. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 40(1):40–76, 2015.
- [83] D. Gomes, G. E. Pires, and H. Sánchez-Morgado. A-priori estimates for stationary mean-field games. *Netw. Heterog. Media*, 7(2):303–314, 2012.

- [84] D. Gomes and R. Ribeiro. Mean field games with logistic population dynamics. 52nd IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (Florence, December 2013), 2013.
- [85] D. Gomes and H. Sánchez Morgado. A stochastic Evans-Aronsson problem. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 366(2):903–929, 2014.
- [86] D. Gomes and J. Saude. Monotone numerical methods for finite state mean-field games. *Preprint*.
- [87] D. Gomes and J. Saúde. Mean field games models—a brief survey. Dyn. Games Appl., 4(2):110–154, 2014.
- [88] D. Gomes, R. M. Velho, and M.-T. Wolfram. Dual two-state mean-field games. *Proceedings CDC 2014*, 2014.
- [89] D. Gomes, R. M. Velho, and M.-T. Wolfram. Socio-economic applications of finite state mean field games. 03 2014.
- [90] D. Gomes and V. Voskanyan. Short-time existence of solutions for mean-field games with congestion. *Preprint*.
- [91] D. Gomes and V. Voskanyan. Extended deterministic meanfield games. *Preprint*, 2013.
- [92] J. Graber. Weak solutions for mean field games with congestion. Preprint.
- [93] O. Guéant. Mean Field Games and Applications to Economics. PhD Thesis. Université Paris Dauphine, Paris, 2009.
- [94] O. Guéant. An existence and uniqueness result for mean field games with congestion effect on graphs. *Preprint*, 2011.
- [95] O. Guéant. From infinity to one: The reduction of some mean field games to a global control problem. *Preprint*, 2011.
- [96] O. Guéant. Mean field games equations with quadratic Hamiltonian: a specific approach. Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci., 22(9):1250022, 37, 2012.

- [97] O. Guéant. Mean field games with a quadratic Hamiltonian: a constructive scheme. In Advances in dynamic games, volume 12 of Ann. Internat. Soc. Dynam. Games, pages 229–241. Birkhäuser/Springer, New York, 2012.
- [98] O. Guéant. New numerical methods for mean field games with quadratic costs. *Netw. Heterog. Media*, 7(2):315–336, 2012.
- [99] P. Heidhues and N. Melissas. Equilibria in a dynamic global game: the role of cohort effects. *Econom. Theory*, 28(3):531– 557, 2006.
- [100] R. Heilbroner. The worldly philosophers: The lives, times and ideas of the great economic thinkers. Simon and Schuster, 2011.
- [101] M. Huang. Large-population LQG games involving a major player: the Nash certainty equivalence principle. SIAM J. Control Optim., 48(5):3318–3353, 2009/10.
- [102] M. Huang. Mean field stochastic games with discrete states and mixed players. Proc. GameNets, Vancouver, 2012.
- [103] M. Huang, P. E. Caines, and R. P. Malhamé. Largepopulation cost-coupled LQG problems with nonuniform agents: individual-mass behavior and decentralized ε-Nash equilibria. *IEEE Trans. Automat. Control*, 52(9):1560–1571, 2007.
- [104] M. Huang, P. E. Caines, and R. P. Malhamé. Largepopulation cost-coupled LQG problems with nonuniform agents: individual-mass behavior and decentralized ε-Nash equilibria. *IEEE Trans. Automat. Control*, 52(9):1560–1571, 2007.
- [105] M. Huang, P. E. Caines, and R. P. Malhamé. The NCE (mean field) principle with locality dependent cost interactions. *IEEE Trans. Automat. Control*, 55(12):2799–2805, 2010.
- [106] M. Huang, R. P. Malhamé, and P. E. Caines. Large population stochastic dynamic games: closed-loop McKean-Vlasov systems and the Nash certainty equivalence principle. *Commun. Inf. Syst.*, 6(3):221–251, 2006.

- [107] M. Huggett. The risk-free rate in heterogeneous-agent incomplete-insurance economies. *Journal of economic Dynam*ics and Control, 17(5):953–969, 1993.
- [108] B. Jovanovic. Selection and the evolution of industry. *Econo*metrica, 50(3):649–670, 1982.
- [109] B. Jovanovic and R. Rosenthal. Anonymous sequential games. J. Math. Econom., 17(1):77–87, 1988.
- [110] E. Kauder. A history of marginal utility theory. Princeton University Press, 1965.
- [111] K. Kolokoltsov and W. Yang. Sensitivity analysis for HJB equations with an application to a coupled backward-forward system. *Preprint*.
- [112] K. Kolokoltsov and W. Yang. Existence of solutions to pathdependent kinetic equations and related forward-backward systems. Open Journal of Optimization, 2:39–44, 2013.
- [113] V. N. Kolokoltsov. Nonlinear Markov processes and kinetic equations, volume 182 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2010.
- [114] V. N. Kolokoltsov, J. Li, and W. Yang. Mean field games and nonlinear markov processes. *Preprint*, 2011.
- [115] P. Krusell and A. Smith, Jr. Income and wealth heterogeneity in the macroeconomy. *Journal of Political Economy*, 106(5):867– 896, 1998.
- [116] A. Lachapelle, J. Salomon, and G. Turinici. Computation of mean field equilibria in economics. *Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences*, 20(04):567–588, 2010.
- [117] D. Lacker. A general characterization of the mean field limit for stochastic differential games.
- [118] J.-M. Lasry and P.-L. Lions. Jeux à champ moyen. I. Le cas stationnaire. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 343(9):619–625, 2006.

- [119] J.-M. Lasry and P.-L. Lions. Jeux à champ moyen. II. Horizon fini et contrôle optimal. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 343(10):679–684, 2006.
- [120] J.-M. Lasry and P.-L. Lions. Mean field games. Jpn. J. Math., 2(1):229–260, 2007.
- [121] J.-M. Lasry, P.-L. Lions, and O. Guéant. Application of mean field games to growth theory. *Preprint*, 2010.
- [122] J.-M. Lasry, P.-L. Lions, and O. Guéant. Mean field games and applications. *Paris-Princeton lectures on Mathematical Finance*, 2010.
- [123] T. Li and J.-F. Zhang. Asymptotically optimal decentralized control for large population stochastic multiagent systems. *IEEE Trans. Automat. Control*, 53(7):1643–1660, 2008.
- [124] P.-L. Lions. College de france course on mean-field games. 2007-2011.
- [125] P.-L. Lions. IMA, University of Minessota. Course on mean-field games. Video. http://www.ima.umn.edu/2012-2013/sw11.12-13.12/. 2012.
- [126] J. Macki and A. Strauss. Introduction to optimal control theory. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1982. Undergraduate Texts in Mathematics.
- [127] F. Mériaux, S. Lasaulce, and H. Tembine. Stochastic differential games and energy-efficient power control. Dyn. Games Appl., 3(1):3–23, 2013.
- [128] A. R. Mészáros and F. J. Silva. A variational approach to second order mean field games with density constraints: the stationary case. arXiv preprint arXiv:1502.06026, 2015.
- [129] S. Morris and H. S. Shin. Global games: Theory and applications, advances in economic theory and econometrics: Proceedings of the eighth world congress of the econometric society (m. dewatripont, l. hansen, and s. turnovsky, eds.), 2002.

- [130] J. Nash, Jr. The bargaining problem. Econometrica, 18:155– 162, 1950.
- [131] J. Nash, Jr. Equilibrium points in *n*-person games. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 36:48–49, 1950.
- [132] S. L. Nguyen and M. Huang. Linear-quadratic-Gaussian mixed games with continuum-parametrized minor players. SIAM J. Control Optim., 50(5):2907–2937, 2012.
- [133] M. Nourian and P. E. Caines. ε-Nash mean field game theory for nonlinear stochastic dynamical systems with major and minor agents. SIAM J. Control Optim., 51(4):3302–3331, 2013.
- [134] M. Nourian, P. E. Caines, R. P. Malhamé, and M. Huang. Nash, social and centralized solutions to consensus problems via mean field control theory. *IEEE Trans. Automat. Control*, 58(3):639– 653, 2013.
- [135] G. Nuño and B. Moll. Optimal control with heterogeneous agents in continuous time. *Preprint*.
- [136] S. Pequito, A. P. Aguiar, B. Sinopoli, and D. Gomes. Nonlinear estimation using mean field games. *International Conference on NETwork Games, COntrol and Optimization, Netgcoop 2011, October 12-14, 2011, Paris, France.*
- [137] S. Pequito, A. P. Aguiar, B. Sinopoli, and D. Gomes. Unsupervised learning of finite mixture using mean field games. 9th Allerton Conference on Communication, Control and Computing, September 27-30, 2011, Illinois, US.
- [138] B. Perthame. Transport equations in biology. Frontiers in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2007.
- [139] E. Pimentel. Time dependent mean-field games. PhD thesis, Universidade de Lisboa, IST-UL, Lisbon, 2013.
- [140] E. Pimentel and V. Voskanyan. Regularity for second-order stationaty mean-field games. *Preprint*.

- [141] A. Porretta. On the planning problem for the mean-field games system. Dyn. Games Appl., 2013.
- [142] A. Porretta. Weak solutions to Fokker-Planck equations and mean field games. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 216(1):1–62, 2015.
- [143] J.-P. Fouque R. Carmona and L.-H. Sun. Mean field games and systemic risk. *Communications in Mathematical Sciences*, Vol. 13(4), 2015.
- [144] Jr. R. Lucas. Expectations and the neutrality of money. Journal of economic theory, 4(2):103–124, 1972.
- [145] Jr. R. Lucas and B. Moll. Knowledge growth and the allocation of time. *Journal of Political Economy*, 122(1), 2014.
- [146] R. Roy. Cournot et l'école mathématique. *Econometrica*, pages 13–22, 1933.
- [147] F. Santambrogio. A modest proposal for MFG with density constraints. *Netw. Heterog. Media*, 7(2):337–347, 2012.
- [148] M. Shen and G. Turinici. Liquidity generated by heterogeneous beliefs and costly estimations. *Netw. Heterog. Media*, 7(2):349– 361, 2012.
- [149] R. Solow. A contribution to the theory of economic growth. The quarterly journal of economics, pages 65–94, 1956.
- [150] A.-S. Sznitman. Topics in propagation of chaos. In École d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XIX—1989, volume 1464 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 165–251. Springer, Berlin, 1991.
- [151] H. V. Tran. Adjoint methods for static Hamilton-Jacobi equations. Calculus of Variations and PDE, 41:301–319, 2011.
- [152] H. Uhlig. A law of large numbers for large economies. *Econom. Theory*, 8(1):41–50, 1996.
- [153] J. von Neumann. Zur Theorie der Gesellschaftsspiele. Math. Ann., 100(1):295–320, 1928.

- [154] J. von Neumann and O. Morgenstern. Theory of games and economic behavior. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, anniversary edition, 2007. With an introduction by Harold W. Kuhn and an afterword by Ariel Rubinstein.
- [155] V. K. Voskanyan. Some estimates for stationary extended mean field games. Dokl. Nats. Akad. Nauk Armen., 113(1):30–36, 2013.
- [156] M. Wickens. Macroeconomic Theory: A dynamic general equilibrium approach. Princeton University Press, 2012.
- [157] M.-T. Wolfram. Opinion formation in a heterogenous society. In *Econophysics of order-driven markets*, New Econ. Windows, pages 277–288. Springer, Milan, 2011.